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Sino Resources Group Limited (carrying on business in Hong Kong
as Sino Gp Limited) (stock code: 223) is principally engaged in investing and
developing unconventional gas business, coal and metals trading business
and provision of agency services and trading of commodities.

The Group has been managing the following businesses:

UNCONVENTIONAL GAS BUSINESS

During the year, The Heilongjiang Development and Reform Commission
(“HDRC”) has already approved the project for the cooperation between
Multi Century Energy Technology (Beijing) Limited (“MCT (BJ)”) and Coalfield
Geology Reconnaissance Design and Research Institute of Heilongjiang
Province (“HCI”) to set up a project to demonstrate the technology of the
two sets of imported equipment (“Equipment”) for the CBM stimulation work
in the cities of Hegang (£5f=), Jixi (ZF8) and Yilan (fk#) (the “Project”). The
Project allow MCT (BJ) to get tax exemption on import duties, however, the
import VAT only can be used to set off the output VAT on sales in future. The
Equipment will ship to Heilongjiang for demonstration and testing in the third
quarter of 2014.
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COAL AND METALS TRADING BUSINESS

The Group has been conducting coal and metals trading business in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the coal inventory of power plants,
cement plants and ports in China has maintained relatively high level. The
price of coal in China dropped slightly and demand for coal remained weak.
Thus management continued to take a more cautious and conservative
approach towards sales orders of coal trading.

Heilongjiang Derong Coal Industrial Co., Ltd (“Derong”) an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company has been involved in two civil claims since
March 2013 and Derong’s bank account has been frozen due to court orders.
Since the civil claims against Derong remain unresolved and shall continue
incurring financials and legal costs. The trading business for Derong has
been affected and the profit guarantee cannot be achieved for year ended
31 December 2013. The Company disposed Wealthy Wing Limited including
its subsidiaries, Western Spark Limited and Derong on 31 March 2014 (the
“Disposal”). The Disposal can reduce the financial burden and the number of
litigations concerning the Group. After the Disposal, the Group only focuses
coal trading business on Zhan Sheng Investments Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Zhan Sheng Group”). The Disposal shall enable the Group to reallocate
and concentrate its internal resources to one single coal trading platform,
which shall enhance the Group’s overall cost effectiveness and management
efficiency. Please refer to Note 40 for details of the Disposal.

On 11 December 2013, the Company and the vendor, Advanced Elation
Holdings Limited (the “Vendor”), Mr. Fung Denny Kin Tak, Ms. Wang Hui and
Mr. Lai Kin Kong have entered into the fifth supplemental agreement (the
“Fifth Supplemental Agreement”) to amend certain terms and conditions of the
sale and purchase agreement on 31 August 2012 in respect of the acquisition
of Zhan Sheng Group. Under the Fifth Supplemental Agreement, there are
amendments on consideration, payment method and extension of the profit
guarantee period. The EGM has been passed all related resolutions on 14
February 2014 and the Fifth Supplemental Agreement was become effective
on 21 February 2014. Please refer to Note 22 for the details of the terms under
the Fifth Supplemental Agreement.

The Board is of the view that the new terms under the Fifth Supplemental
Agreement shall provide more incentives to the Vendor to contribute to Zhan
Sheng Group’s business developments in order to be released of the total
escrow shares, on the bases that: (i) the new issue price of HK$0.139 for the
total escrow shares is more comparable to the recent share price performance
of the Company than the previous issue price of HK$0.30, the cost per
share is thus more reasonable from the Vendor’s point of view; (ii) the new
consideration adjustments are more realistic and achievable; and (iii) the new
business model involving diversification of the Zhan Sheng Group’s business
scope and geographical coverage shall provide large room for business
referral by the Vendor.

3 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014
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Financial Highlights
BBERE

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
—E-NE C—ZT-=f CZE--f CZZT-——F CZZE-ZTF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

BT BET T BT BT BET T

Operating Performance KERE

Continuing operations BEEEEE

Turnover =X 42,540 37,084 67,168 82,368 87,374
Loss for the year FEFRE (59,355) (87,246) (48,164) (35,184) (40,607)
Discontinued operations ERILEEERE

Profit/(Loss) for the year AEERBERLERLE

from discontinued operations ¥R zmA (BR) 5,104 3,670 9,788 - (797,129)
Loss for the year attributable BATREBEAEBEREE

to owners of the Company KB (46,044) (83,269) (34,145) (34,458) (837,736)
Financial Position B 75 iR 5

Total assets EERE 237,729 232,442 242,803 120,951 194,633
Cash reserves RefFE 26,075 21,914 15,816 90,379 5,514
Total bank borrowings RITEEHSE - 17,282 18,414 = =
Net cash reserves ReFEFHE 26,075 4,632 (2,598) 90,379 5,514
Shareholders’ funds BEES (139,088) (229,136) (219,926) (261,214) (308,620)
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Chairman’s Statement

3 ==
FERSE
Dear Valued Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am delighted to report the Group’s audited annual
results for the financial year ended 31 March 2014.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group has achieved a breakthrough in its
unconventional gas business development by cooperating with American
Professional Company, the world’s largest oilfield services company. On 6
March 2014, the Group’s subsidiary and American Professional Company
entered into a letter of intent in relation to a strategic cooperation in coalbed
methane (“CBM”) exploration and developments. Since 2014, the American
Professional Company has already conducted several meetings and visits
to the Group’s CBM operations and provided professional technological
supports to the management team. In addition, the management team also
conducted site visits to certain PRC CBM projects operated by PetroChina
and Sany Heavy Industry to order to enhance the team’s practical knowledge
in operating CBM projects.

For the coal and metals trading business, as disclosed in the Company’s
circular dated 28 January 2014, the Group (through its trading arm, Zhan
Sheng Investments Limited and its subsidiaries) has adopted a new business
model which will extend its limited coal trading business to a diversified
and cross-border resources trading business. On 31 March 2014, the Group
completed the disposal of another trading arm, Wealthy Wing Limited and
its subsidiaries, having considered the underperformance and litigations
associated with the disposed companies. Through these transactions, the
Group has successfully streamlined its coal trading business, redirected its
resources to trading businesses with higher growth potentials and diversified
the business horizon of its trading segment.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of 30%
equity interest in Global Mining Engineer Inc., through which the Group has
set foot in the new business segment concerning mine management system
and natural resources related global sources direct services. The Group
has achieved diversification of business and revenue source following the
completion of this transaction.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

For the continuous development of its unconventional gas business, the
Group has planned to perform geological research and construction work on
the site located in Hegang, which shall include confirmation of well locations,
formulation of well drilling plans and other preparation work for exploration
in the next stage. The Board expects that the Group’s unconventional
gas business shall achieve steady growth and shall be able to make more
contributions to the Group’s success in the foreseeable future.

The Group’s other existing businesses, including coal and metals trading and
mine management system, is expected to continue generating steady income
and serving as a stable platform for further business growth of the Group.
The Board shall capture any profitable business opportunities to maintain the
sustainable growth of the Group’s existing businesses.

5  Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014
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Apart from internal business growth, the management team of the Group has
endeavored to explore suitable acquisition targets in the market and there
are several on-going transactions which are under active negotiation. The
possible acquisition of hydropower business located in Qinghai Province has
proceeded to the due diligence phase, the prospective due diligence results
shall provide a solid basis to intensify negotiation between the parties.

On the other hand, the proposed acquisition of coal mining business in
Mongolia as announced on 28 March 2014 is approaching to completion,
which is currently expected to take place by the end of July 2014 pending
finalization of due diligence review. As disclosed previously, the target
company has entered into separate memorandums of understanding with
the Group’s two major subsidiaries for cooperation in coal trading and mine
management. The Board believes that the proposed acquisition shall realize
the vertical integration of the Group’s business into upstream mining segment
and create synergies among the Group’s existing businesses.

The Company has also entered into a memorandum of understanding on
10 April 2014 for the possible acquisition of iron ore refining business
located in Qinhuangdao City of Hebei Province, and has maintained close
liaison with the vendor in order to materialize the terms and conditions of
the sale and purchase agreement. The Board believes that if the possible
acquisition is materialized, the introduction of iron ore refining business to the
Group’s portfolio shall diversify the revenue sources and enhance the overall
profitability of the Group.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, in view of the challenging business environment, the Group
will continue diversifying its business by pursuing inorganic growth strategy
and seeking attractive investment opportunities with growth potentials, whilst
it will also focus on cultivating its existing businesses at the same time. The
Board will continue their efforts in developing the Group’s business and
maximizing the shareholders’ return in the forthcoming year.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express our
most sincere gratitude for the continuous supports from our shareholders,
business partners as well as our dedicated management team and staff.

Geng Ying

Chairman

27 June 2014, Hong Kong

Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

BRTRABEBRER  FAEE2EBEBBHEDS L
RESENUEBER BT EERBERZETH
R o REWBUREBE 2 KEXERCEASHE
EREE AEMENEREFEARSE/RCET ZEHN
EERMZENER -

S—HH #N-FE-EF=A-tTNBHRIMH -
BEST2ERERELI-K (BAEASERES
ERE RTE-—DOFLAREAMTR) © FI0 AT
B BELACHEARERMBEIRMBART LB
ZHRBETE  UEFETREREERBLEE - &
EEHE ERUBSESERFAEEXBERRES
ALBRRER  ITRAEEREER ZBELENR
MIE -

RRABTFR-ZE—NFEFRNATHIATLRBERESE A
REETRUBUMNTLERES T 2HBBARRE
BoURESRSEBEINHE  LUEEEEHR 2R
Rkt -EBSHEE MURKBESEREUEE &
AEBCZREASSIEHBARRRER B S TAE
BWAREREAFEENEERBFIGED -

R

RERF  ERELERBAMMRE > AEBESHEE
TAEEER  FERBRIMEXNEREKRSRAR
RENNARSIAWRERS  BERK - HTKE
REINZERAXEL EFERRFHEES HE
RASEEY  UHAREMRESKREREE -

2t
AANERRESERURETOBHZBBR - %5
BAURBENEEENRE THALE 2 BEL -

%.
EY:
B =

“E-—NEXRAZTLH BE

Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014 6



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Sino Resources Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) will continue to focus its business on the resources and energy
related sector.

1. COAL AND METALS TRADING BUSINESS

In 2013, China’s GDP growth rate went down, growth in coal
consumption slowdown, downstream inventory continued to remain
high, while coal price in the market was at low level, and there was
an oversupply in the overall domestic coal market. Facing a declining
coal trading market, management has taken a more cautious and
conservative approach towards sales orders of coal trading.

2. DISPOSAL OF WEALTHY WING GROUP

The Company acquired the entire issued share capital of Wealthy Wing
Limited and its subsidiaries including Western Spark Investments Limited
and Derong in November 2011 (the “Wealthy Wing Group”).

Derong has been involved in two civil claims since March 2013 and
Derong’s bank account has been frozen due to PRC court orders. The
three years profit guarantee was not able to achieve due to downturn of
the coal trading business in China and the litigation affects the cashflow
of Derong. Based on arm’s length negotiation on normal commercial
terms between the Company and Mr. Zheng Xue Feng (“Mr. Zheng”),
director of Wealthy Wing Group, the Company completed the disposal of
the Wealthy Wing Group to Mr. Zheng on 31 March 2014. The disposal
will reduce the financial burden and the number of litigations concerning
the Group and shall not impose any material impact on the Group’s
overall operational and financial performances whilst it shall benefit
the Group with the above-mentioned merits. Despite the disposal, the
Company will continue developing its coal trading business through its
other subsidiaries.

7 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROFIT GUARANTEE UNDER ZHAN SHENG ACQUISITION

With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 31 March
2012, for the acquisition of the Zhan Sheng Investments Limited and
its subsidiaries (“Zhan Sheng Acquisition”), the vendor undertakes
and guarantees to the Company that (i) the audited distributed profit
(the “First Year Distributable Profit”) after tax of Hubei Tiegang for the
period commencing from the Completion date (i.e 31 August 2012) up
to 31 December 2012 (the “First Year”) prepared in accordance with
IFRS will not be less than RMB9 million (the “First Year Consideration
Adjustment”); (ii) the audited distributable profits (the “Second
Year Distributable Profit”) after tax of Hubei Tiegang for the period
commencing from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013 (the “Second
Year”) prepared in accordance with the IFRS will not be less than
RMB16 million (the “Second Year Consideration Adjustment”); and (iii)
the audited distributable profits (the “Third Year Distributable Profit”)
after tax of Hubei Tiegang for the period commencing from 1 January
2014 to 31 December 2014 (the “Third Year”) prepared in accordance
with the IFRS will not be less than RMB23 million (the “Third Year
Consideration Adjustment”). The distribution of consideration shares
issued under the Zhan Sheng Acquisition is subject to a consideration
adjustment (“Tiegang’s Consideration Adjustment”) mechanism based
on Hubei Tiegang’s results throughout the three years ending 2014.
Based on the audited accounts of Hubei Tiegang, the Second Year profit
was RMB124,000 which was far below the Second Year guaranteed by
vendor. Accordingly, no consideration shares will be delivered to the
vendor for the Second Year.

On 11 December 2013, the Company and the vendor entered into the
Fifth Supplemental Agreement. Pursuant to the Fifth Supplemental
Agreement, the vendor undertakes and guarantee to the Company
that the net gross profit of the Zhang Sheng Group recorded in the
management accounts in accordance with IFRS for the period 1
January 2014 to 31 December 2014 (“Year 2014”) will not be less than
HK$10,000,000 and for the period 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015
(“Year 2015”) will not be less than HK$10,000,000 respectively. Details
please refer to circular dated on 28 January 2014 and the Note 22.

UNCONVENTIONAL GAS BUSINESS

During the year, MCT(BJ) cooperate with HCI to set up a project for the
HEBRASHREFIRENEREAR" (the “Project”) has been approved by
HDRC. According to the Project, MCT (BJ) also received the approval
from HDRC to enjoy the tax benefit on tax exemption on Customs
duties and the import VAT can be used to set off the sales input VAT in
future. MCT(BJ) also signed a memorandum with American Professional
Company for the cooperation on the development of unconventional gas
exploration in China. The American Professional Company can provide
solution for MCT(BJ) on the CBM drilling and exploration. MCT(BJ)
will deliver the equipment to Shanxi for testing the whole set of the
equipment (“Equipment“) on the stimulation work in July 2014. The
Company believes that the Equipment could be in full operation in the
second half of the 2014.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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5. LITIGATION OF THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY IN
HONG KONG

Detail of the litigation of the Group and the Company as at 31 March
2014 were set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group recorded turnover
of approximately HK$42,540,000 from continuing operations (2013:
approximately HK$37,084,000), representing a increase of 14.7% over last
year. The turnover were contributed by the coal and metals trading and
agency fee and trading of commodities segment. Increase of the turnover was
mainly due to the coal trading sales from Zhan Sheng Group was contributed
full year to the Group whereas it was only covered seven months for the year
ended 31 March 2013.

For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group recorded a loss attributable
to shareholders of approximately HK$46,044,000 (2013: approximately
HK$83,269,000); basic loss per share for continuing operations was
approximately HK$1.9 cents (2013: HK$4.7 cents). This has included some
non-cash items: (i) imputed interest expense of approximately HK$903,000
(2013: approximately HK$18,657,000) on convertible notes under finance
costs; (ii) net fair value loss on derivative financial assets of approximately
HK$6,968,000 (2013: net fair value gain of approximately HK$4,925,000) and
fair value loss on derivate financial liabilities of approximately HK$1,806,000
(2013: net fair value gain of approximately HK$4,722,000); (iii) fair value on
share-based payment of HK$Nil (2013: approximately HK$3,088,000); (iv)
impairment loss of goodwill of HK$Nil (2013: approximately HK$46,485,000);
and (v) impairment loss of other receivables of approximately HK$5,679,000
(2013: HK$Nil). During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group also
recognised loss on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$12,752,000
(2013: HK$Nil).

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

Despite the slowdown in the PRC economy in 2013 and uncertainties of
global economic recovery, which affected the level of demand for coal and
minimized the opportunity of the coal trading business in the PRC, the
Directors are cautiously optimistic on the future of the coal trading business in
the PRC, as positive signs of recovery shown in the domestic economy in the
PRC together with the recovery of the downstream industry shall driven the
demand for coal.

For the unconventional gas business, the testing and installation of the
Equipment will be commenced in the third quarter of 2014. The success of
the Projects with HCI will bring a good opportunity for the Group to develop
the business with other state-owned enterprises on the stimulation work in
the PRC. The Group expects the unconventional business will commence to
generate revenue in the next financial year.

The Group will continue to explore investment opportunities in the resources

and energy related sector to achieve inorganic growth, on top of its existing
unconventional gas and coal and metals trading business platform.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 21 June 2013, the Company placed of 412,470,000 shares at the
placing price of HK$0.08 per share and the net proceeds of approximately
HK$32,655,000 has been received. The proceeds were used for general
working capital of the Group and to finance the possible acquisition.

On 27 November 2013, the Company has successfully placed 286,000,000
shares at the placing place of HK$0.115 each per share and raised net
proceeds of approximately HK$32,880,000, The proceeds were used for
general working capital purposes and/or financing any potential investment
opportunity arises in the future.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group derived its working capital mainly from internal cash flow from
operating activities and shares placement.

As at 31 March 2014, deficit on shareholders’ funds of the Group aggregately
amounted to approximately HK$139,088,000 (2013: approximately
HK$229,136,000). As at 31 March 2014, the Group’s assets-liabilities
ratio (total liabilities to total assets) was approximately 1.59 times (2013:
approximately 1.99 times). Net current liabilities of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$242,086,000 (2013: approximately HK$351,172,000).
Current assets of the Group was approximately HK$123,120,000 (2013:
approximately HK$101,329,000), of which fixed deposits, cash and bank
balances amounted to approximately HK$26,075,000 (2013: approximately
HK$21,914,000). The following items with an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$349,218,000 (2013: approximately HK$348,338,000), which
are included in current liabilities, are related to the legal proceedings with Mr.
Hung in the High Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”): (i) HK$158,600,000
(2013: HK$158,600,000) was consideration payable for the acquisition of
Wealth Gain Global Investment Limited and its subsidiary; (ii) approximately
HK$17,118,000 (2013: approximately HK$16,238,000) was the shareholder’s
loan plus interest from Mr. Hung; and (iii) convertible notes of HK$173,500,000
(2013: HK$173,500,000). The Board considers that the liquidity of the Group
is good enough for the year ended 31 March 2014 and the Group would
be turned to net assets position to approximately HK$210,130,000 (2013:
approximately HK$119,202,000) if removal of (i) to (iii). Details refer to Notes
28, 29 and 33 of the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2014, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts to total equity)
was 145.4% (2013: 99.5%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DN

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
ANY RELATED HEDGES

The Group’s sales and purchase are mainly transacted in Hong Kong dollar
and Renminbi and the books are recorded in Hong Kong dollar. Therefore,
it may be exposed to foreign exchange risk. However in view of the stable
currency policies adopted by the PRC government, the directors consider that
the foreign exchange risk is insignificant.

The Group currently has no foreign exchange rate hedging policy in respect
of commercial transactions denominated in foreign currencies. However, the
directors monitor exchange rate exposure regularly and will consider hedging
significant exchange rate exposure when necessary.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP
No pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2014.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2014 were set out in Note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company does not recommend any payment of final
dividend to shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: Nil).

OTHER EVENTS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2014, the Group had a total of 28 employees (2013: 30) in
Hong Kong and the PRC. All employees are remunerated according to their
performance, experience and the prevailing industry practices.

The Group also participates in retirement benefit schemes for its staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC. It adopted a new share option scheme on 8 October 2010,
with options to be granted to employees at the discretion of the Board. As at
31 March 2014, 127,796,000 share options are remained outstanding.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
The Group did not have material acquisition for the year ended 31 March
2014.

On 31 March 2014, the Company duly completed the disposal of the
entire issued share capital of the Wealthy Wing Group at a consideration
of HK$9,000,000. Please refer to Note 40 of the consolidated financial
statements for details.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group as at 31 March 2014
were set out in Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT
The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended 31
March 2014.
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. GENG Ying, aged 74, was appointed as the chairman and an executive
director of the Company on 1 August 2009. She has 12 years experience
in mining industry and over 23 years experience in commercial business in
the PRC and overseas. After her graduation from i:ZEzHE (Geological
Institute of Vocational Studies) in the PRC in 1961, Ms. Geng joined Beijing
Geological Team. Equipped with extensive knowledge in geology, Ms. Geng
had been exploring mines for ten years and gained extensive experience in
mining and resources industries. Subsequently, she was transferred to work at
b =HZE R (Beijing Institute of Pharmaceutical) and 1t TEEEFE (Beijing
Tumor Hospital). Ms. Geng was educated in 3t R EEBR (School of Chinese
Medicine of Beijing) and became a healthcare doctor after attaining medical
postgraduate qualification. Ms. Geng started her businesses in the PRC in
late 1984, and she went to the United States of America (“USA”) in 1986 for
further development. She was the chairman of Hely Development Corporation
in California, USA. Ms. Geng successfully acquired two manufacturing plants
in Malaysia during the years from 1992 to 2001. Ms. Geng has gained over
20 years experience in commercial business in the PRC and overseas. Ms.
Geng has all round talents and is a painter. Ms. Geng is also the chairman
and the secretary general of the China Cultural Heritage Foundation, and she
held public offices in the United Nations. Ms. Geng’s father was one of the
veterans of the Communist Party of the PRC, who was a principal leader in
military, diplomatic and political fields of the PRC. Ms. Geng and her family
have extensive and profound networks in political and economic fields in the
PRC and overseas.

Mr. GAO Feng, aged 44, was appointed as the vice chairman and an
executive director of the Company on 15 June 2009. He has extensive
management experience in particular for PRC businesses for over 13 years,
and has served various important roles in a couple of listed companies and
sizable financial institutions. Mr. Gao was the former president of North
America for I.N.C. Financial Organization Ltd. and the former president of
Asia-Pacific for Morgan Funding Organization. Mr. Gao holds a master’s
degree in business administration from Keuka College in New York.

Mr. CHIU Sui Keung, aged 47, was appointed as the chief executive officer
and an executive director of the Company on 20 April 2009. Mr. Chiu has over
19 years’ experience in the financial industry and accounting field. He has
possessed extensive experience in corporate finance including initial public
offerings, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions, fund raising and corporate
advisory. Mr. Chiu graduated with a Bachelor’'s Degree in Commerce from
the University of Melbourne, Australia and has obtained a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University in Sydney, Australia. He has also
obtained a Diploma in Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations Affecting
Foreign Businesses jointly organized by Southwest University of Political
Science and Law, the PRC and the Hong Kong Management Association.
At present Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of King Stone
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 0663).
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles

EEREREEER[MN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. WANG Xihua, aged 47, has over 18 years of commercial experience
in business development and enterprise management in PRC and 5 years
of teaching experience in the chemical engineering profession. Mr. Wang
has previously held positions in the senior management of a state-owned
enterprise and certain large corporations in the PRC. Mr. Wang graduated
from the Faculty of Chemical Engineering at H;Z##2Fx (Wuhan Institute of
Iron and Steel, currently called Wuhan University of Science and Technology)
in 1989. In addition, Mr. Wang completed a graduate program in business
administration from the Guanghua School of Management of Peking University
in 2003.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Williamson, aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 1 January 2011. Mr. Lam is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the CPA (Australia). He holds a Bachelor of Business Degree from
Monash University, Australia and a Master of Professional Accounting Degree
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam had held directorships
and senior finance positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. CHENG Wing Keung, Raymond, aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 25 August 2007.
Mr. Cheng is a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong and has over 23 years
of experience in corporate, company secretarial and listing affairs. He
is an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute of Company
Secretaries in Hong Kong. He holds a degree in laws in the University of
London and a Master Degree in Business Administration in the University of
Strathclyde, Scotland. At present, he is an independent non-executive director
in one listed company in Hong Kong: Skyfame Realty (Holdings) Limited (stock
code: 0059).

Mr. WONG Hoi Kuen, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 9 May 2011. Mr. Wong is a practising
certified public accountant in Hong Kong and a chartered accountant in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Wong has been an independent
non-executive director, chairman of audit committee and a member of
remuneration committee of China Gamma Group Limited (stock code: 164)
since 13 February 2006.
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHOW Chi Fai, aged 43, who was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 29 December 2008 and possess over 19 years of
experience in accounting and finance field. Mr. Chow holds a bachelor’s
degree in Accountancy from the University of South Australia and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chow has
been an independent non-executive director, chairman of audit committee,
remuneration committee and member of nomination committee of Wealth
Glory Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8269) since 11 September 2013.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HO Tak Yuen, Peter

Joined the Group in February 2011 and was appointed as an executive
director of Multi-Century Technology Development Limited. Mr. Ho is
principally responsible for the overall technical activities within Multi-Century
Technology Limited. Mr. Ho has more than thirty (30) years experience
in the petroleum industry. He is acknowledged to be a reservoir and
production engineering geological expert in coal bed methane development
and enhanced oil recovery in North America and the PRC. Mr. Ho also has
expertise in carbon dioxide capture and sequestration and the related various
applications.

During the past 17 years, Mr. Ho has been actively participating in the PRC
and international oil and gas industries and acting as the chief technology
transfer officer for various companies from North America. He also has
lectured various oil and gas development technology seminars including
thermal recovery, miscible flood, chemical flood, reservoir simulation, coalbed
methane exploration and development and many others in the PRC and
overseas.

Mr. Ho is the first person to initiate carbon dioxide capture and sequestration
in enhancing coalbed methane production in the PRC and bridge the
two governments, of the PRC and Canada in the ever first international
cooperation on this type of project in the PRC. The experimental project
has been conducted for more than 6 years (2001-2007) and successfully
implemented its first phase pilot with exceptional results. Mr. Ho is the chief
liaison officer for Canada and technical simulation expert in this project and
works closely with the executor China United Coalbed Methane Corporation of
the PRC and Alberta Research Council consortium.

Mr. Ho graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering
from the University of Ottawa in 1979.

Mr. Ho is a member of the Association of Professional Engineer, Geologist
& Geophysicist of Alberta, Canada; and a member of Society of Petroleum
Engineer in the US.
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles

EEREREEER[MN

Mr. Ken SINCLAIR

Joined the Group in February 2011 and was appointed as non executive
director of Multi Century Technology Development Limited on 9 February
2011. Mr. Sinclair is principally responsible for providing strategic planning
and technical advice to the group in overall CBM/Shale Gas development
directive. Mr. Sinclair has over 33 years of oil and gas experience in
over twenty countries and has advised numerous companies in areas of
research, exploration and development of unconventional and conventional
resources throughout the world. Mr. Sinclair is currently the President of a
newly formed private company KENGAS INC. which focuses on Western
Canada’s conventional and unconventional gas opportunities. Previously,
Mr. Sinclair founded Canadian Spirit Resources Inc., a public company who
raised Canadian Dollar 48 million for unconventional gas exploration and
development.

In Canada, Mr. Sinclair led the way in unconventional gas industry in the late
eighties and nineties and he developed and chaired the Canadian Coalbed
Methane Forum, a consortium that started with 13 companies and continues
today with over 150 members under the Canadian Society of Unconventional
Gas banner. The consortium’s main goal was to transfer technologies
within the group that would have companies having an advantage over
others outside of the group. This was accomplished by the biggest yearly
conferences in 2004, 2005, and 2006 in North America.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The principles of corporate governance adopted by the
Company enhance board practices, internal controls, transparency and
accountability to the Company’s shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Company had applied and
complied with all code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in the Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The board of directors (the “Board”) has updated
or established various policies and procedures and the committees have
updated their terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The Board has taken up the corporate governance function stipulated in the
CG Code and has included such function in its terms of reference. The Board
has reviewed the compliance status of the Company with the CG Code.

The Board will review the CG Code from time to time and shall make
necessary arrangements when the Board considers appropriate.

We have summarised the CG Code adopted by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2014 as below:

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (THE “BOARD?”)

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of seven directors,
including three executive directors, one non-executive director and three
INEDs. Two of the INEDs have the relevant accounting and related financial
management expertise as required by the Listing Rules. The names of the
directors by category are as follows:

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive director
Mr. Wang Xihua (Re-designated from executive director to non-executive
director on 1 February 2014)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

Biographical details of each director are set out under the Directors and
Senior Management Profiles section on pages 12 to 15 of this annual report.
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Each of the executive directors has respectively entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years but is subject to
retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-election.

All of the independent non-executive directors and non-executive director
have no fixed term of appointment, but are subject to retirement by rotation
and is eligible for re- election.

None of the directors has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is
of the view that all INEDs meet the independence rules and continues to
consider each of them to be independent.

The Board, as led by the Chairman and the Vice Chairman, is collectively
responsible for the set up of the Group’s overall strategies, operating and
financial policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation
of the performance of the Company’s business, and oversight of the
management team. The management team is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group under the supervision of the Managing Director.

CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

The directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
would provide a comprehensive induction package covering the summary
of the responsibilities and legal obligations of a director of a Hong Kong
listed company, the Company’s constitutional documents and the Guides on
Directors’ Duties issued by the Companies Registry to each newly appointed
director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The company secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other
regulatory regime to the directors with written materials, and the legal advisers
of the Company prepare and provide the directors with detailed interpretations
and analysis on the revised contents for them to understand the latest
developments in a timely and accurate manner and to perform their duties in
accordance with relevant laws and regulatory requirements.

During the year, all directors were provided with regular updates on the
Group’s business and operations. The Company has arranged for the
directors to update the Directors on the amendments on the Listing Rules and
guidelines on disclosure of insider information and connected transactions.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its directors and officers.

CHAIRMAN, VICE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the Chairman, Vice Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by separate individuals with a view to maintaining an effective
segregation of duties regarding the management of the Board and the day-to-
day management of the Group’s businesses.

The Chairman and the Vice Chairman lead the Board and oversees the
functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders, and Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the approval
of the agenda prepared by the Company Secretary for each Board meeting,
and taking into account, where appropriate, matters proposed by members
of the Board and including them in the agenda. With the support of the
Vice Chairman, other executive directors and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive sufficient and reliable information
in a timely manner before the Board meetings. The Chairman and the Vice
Chairman also actively encourage directors to engage in the Board’s affairs
and make contribution to the Board’s decisions.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the Group’s businesses, the formation and implementation of operating
and financial policies among the Group and accountability to the Board for
all the Group’s operations. The Chief Executive Officer together with the
management team ensure that the Company’s business plans are consistent
with the strategies and objectives established by the Board. In addition,
the Chief Executive Officer ensures that the Company meets its funding
requirements and closely monitors the operating and financial results
against the Company’s business plans and budgets, and takes remedial
actions if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for the
establishment and maintenance of an effective management team to assist
him in the day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses.

BOARD PRACTICES

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to give all directors an
opportunity to attend in person. Eleven regular Board meetings had been held
during the year ended 31 March 2014. Each of the directors has full access
to information of the Company and has access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary in respect of compliance with board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations. Each of the directors may also take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary,
in accordance with the approved procedures. The minutes of the Board are
prepared by the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered
by the Board and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
members of the Board or dissenting views expressed.
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The Board held eleven Board Meetings and two General Meetings during the
year ended 31 March 2014 and the attendance record of each member of the

Board is set out below:

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive director
Mr. Wang Xihua (Re-designated from executive director
to non-executive director on 1 February 2014)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

RITES

BEz+ (XR)
sELE (RERE)
IR AL ((THAR)

FRITES
ITRELE (R=ZT-NE=-A—H
HYTESHIEAFDITES)

BUFHTEE
Hx@EE
HEELE
EBELE

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles, any director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company. In accordance with articles 87(1)
of the Articles, every director (including those appointed for a specific term
or holding office as Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director of the
Company) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three

years.

Under the CG Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for specific
terms, subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
Directors have no set term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s

articles of association.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE

“MODEL CODE?”)

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
on the terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2014. After having made specific
enquiry to all directors of the Company, the directors are of the opinion that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and
its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the

year ended 31 March 2014.
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ACCOUNTABILITY

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the directors
in relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 43 to 155 of
the annual report which acknowledges their reporting responsibilities as the
external auditors of the Company:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Annual and Interim Reports and Financial Statements
The directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for each financial year
which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at the year end and of the Group’s profit or loss and
cash flow for the year then ended.

Accounting Policies

In preparing the financial statements for each financial year, the directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart from those
new and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements, have applied them consistently with previous
financial periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are
prudent and reasonable.

Accounting Records

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and enable the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and applicable disclosure provisions of the
Listing Rules.

Safeguarding Assets

The directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities.

Going Concern

The directors, having made specific enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the
Company and of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established
the following Board Committees to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. A majority of the members of each of these Committees
is INEDs. Each of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committee is
governed by its respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

On 18 March 2002, the Board established an Audit Committee which currently
comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Lam Williamson and the other two
members of the Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr.
Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Audit Committee’s major responsibilities include:
(i)  Relationship with external auditors

. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

o to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards; and

° to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

(i)  Review of financial information

To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual
report and accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures

o to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

o to discuss the internal control system with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to have an effective
internal control system; and

o to consider major investigations findings on internal control matters
as delegated by the Board.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference

which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 March 2014
and the attendance record of each Audit Committee member is set out below:

Independent non-executive directors WIUFRTEE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BR K 58 e
Mr. Lam Williamson MmEELEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEERELE

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year end 31
March 2014 is summarised below:

(i) Review of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee met and held discussions with the Group’s external
auditors and senior management, and reviewed the draft annual report
and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 and interim
report and financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2013 before making recommendations for the Board’s approval. It
reviewed and discussed the management’s reports and representations
with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure
requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

(ii) Review of the Company’s financial controls, risk

management and internal control systems

The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which the Group
evaluated its control environment and its risk assessment process, and
the way in which business and control risks were managed. It made
recommendations to the Board about the effectiveness of internal control
systems in the Group’s business operations. These controls and systems
allowed the Board to monitor the Company’s overall financial position
and to protect its assets.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

On 14 July 2006, the Board established a Remuneration Committee which

FHESE
R-ZBTAELETNA EEERIFHERS -

currently comprises two INEDs and one executive director, chaired by Mr.
Lam Williamson and the other two members of the Committee are Mr. Cheng
Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung.

The Remuneration Committee’s major responsibilities include:

U]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all directors’ and senior management and establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages to
individual executive directors and senior management;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-
executive directors;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment
to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and otherwise fair
and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;
and

to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
is own remuneration.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference
which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
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Attendance of Remuneration
Directors Committee Meeting
- 3 FHEESEFRHERY
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE 2/2
Mr. Cheung Wing Keung, Raymond BBk 58 St A& 2/2
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung IR L 2/2
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The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the
year ended 31 March 2014 is set out below:

Remuneration bands

R B

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £%1,000,000% 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 Jt £2,000,0005% 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T £3,000,0007% 7T
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001% jT £4,000,0007% T

Further particulars regarding directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in Note 11 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

On 14 July 2006, the Board established a Nomination Committee which
currently comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Cheng Wing Keung,
Raymond and the other two members of the Committee are Mr. Lam
Williamson and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Nomination Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to review of the structure, size and composition of the Company’s
Board of Directors including, inter alia, the skills, knowledge, integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry;

(i)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorship;

(iii) to assess the independence of independent non-executive directors; and

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or reappointment of directors and succession planning
for directors.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference
which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the year ended 31 March
2014.

Directors

EE

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BROKIR L
Mr. Lam Williamson mEEEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen EERELE

The Nomination Committee has reviewed and discussed: (1) the prevailing
structure, size and composition of the Board; (2) the independence of
the INEDs; and (3) nomination of directors for re-election at the forth
coming annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee has made
recommendations to the Board.

In selecting a suitable candidate to become a member of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider various criteria such as education,
qualification, experience and reputation of such candidate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by the Board
pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by the Board, which
include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the directors;

and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the financial year, the Board reviewed the current changes to corporate
government requirements of the Stock Exchange and current were practices.

25 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014

REZEERBEZ-—HNF=ZA=+—-HLFER
BITT-—RE&E-

Attendance of
Nomination
Committee
Meeting
REZRE
ERHERY

11
11
1/1

REZESEEARTR  (NESTZRITEBE R
BRARK: QBIFATEST2H LML RORERE
BRREFASELREEHEEECES - REZEEE
BESSRHER -

RRBEERBANAESER REZEEKER
ZHEBRE - fIMZRBEANZHBENKT - B - ERE
HEESE -

ERELSREE
ESEREEFFAZEORNBRERLTAADLHE
ERBAE - BRI

(a) HIERBNARAZELEELRHRERESR L@
ESERMERER

(b)) BMEREERLAEEESRSNEERE 2IFIIRE
BEXBR

() WMINREEADIEBETEAREMRE 2K
KRER

d #HE BIRERAEEEERESHERZT
AIFUARETFM(WE) R
) BMIAARAEFEEERTANBRIREEER
2 E

RAFHRFE  ESSRFABIAMREREKERRE
Bl bXERREZRIRE -



Corporate Governance Report

INTERNAL CONTROL AND GROUP RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of internal control
include a defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of
the Group’s objectives.

(i) Organisational Structure
An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.

(ii) Authority and Control
The relevant executive directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategy
and policy and contractual commitments.

(iii) Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews
and audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial
statements is carried out in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable
laws and regulations.

(iv) Group Risk Management
The Group has developed and implemented risk mitigation strategies
including the use of insurance to transfer the financial impact of risk
upon directors and senior management.

The Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of
internal control over financial, operational and compliance issues for the
year 2014 and concluded that the Company has set up a sound control
environment and necessary control mechanism to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board is satisfied that the Company in 2014 fully complied
with the provisions on internal controls as set out in the CG Code.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) are currently appointed as
the external auditors of the Company, which provides audit and non-audit
services to the Company. In order to maintain HLB’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the
applicable standards, the Audit Committee, under its terms of reference, holds
meetings with HLB to discuss the nature and scope of their audit and related
fees, and to approve the nature and scope of non-audit services requested by
the Company and related fees.

The nature of audit and non-audit services provided by HLB and fees paid
to HLB (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably
conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or internationally) are set out
below:

Auditors’ remuneration % 860 8l &
- Audit services - ZE R
- Tax services — B BR S
- Other services —H AR

b 1% 4% BY B

HESTMEBAAERAR (TEFH) REZREAER
Bl Z N EAT  MA D BRARBRIFLERE -
RESAFRREMREIETRREFZ2BY - B8
REXN BREZESEHARESHENEAHEETER
UNwmHERB M ERSEUREEER  LEHRR
RABRZIRBBBE2MERGBEUREFEER -

BEERH 2B RIFLBRE 2 HERXSTEE (B
FHEMEBEMZIARE  BEERNEE ZEMH
B RABFERREN A BNBEE =SS EE
ERZEFTMERA2BEARERD B2 ETHE) 2
BRAMT

HK$’ 000
TERT

630

630

The Board has accepted the recommendation from Audit Committee on
appointment HLB as the external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and
effective communication with shareholders of the Company and potential
investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of
transparency to ensure the potential investors and the shareholders of the
Company receive accurate, clear and comprehensive and timely information of
the Group by the regulatory publications such as publish financial statements,
results announcements and circulars, press release and new articles, general
meetings and other investment market communications such as roadshows
and media interviews.

The primary platform for publication of all announcements and circulars
made by Company in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements
is through a financial printer who maintains a site for the Company at http://
www.capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.jsp?co=223&ppage=contents&doc=&date1
=&date2=&pageno=1. In addition, the Company also publishes all corporate
correspondence on its website http://www.sinoresourcesgp.com as an
additional communication channel to the shareholder.
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The Board maintain regular dialogues with the institutional investors
and analysts to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy, operations,
management and plans. The directors and the members of various
committees would attend and answer questions raised at the annual general
meeting of the Company. Separate resolutions would be proposed at the
general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

The Chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting a poll before putting a resolution to vote. The
results of the voting by poll would be published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ rights to requisite for and convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

According to the Articles 58, any one or more shareholders holding not
less than 10 per cent of the paid-up capital of the Company may by written
requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company. The Board or the Company Secretary must
proceed to convene an EGM as soon as possible, within 21 days from the
date of deposit of the requisition. The meeting shall be held not later than
2 months after the date of deposit of the requisition. If the Board fail to
convene the EMG as requisitioned by the shareholders within 21 days after
the date of requisition was received, all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders’ rights of procedures for sending enquiries to
the Board and making proposals at shareholders’ meetings
Shareholders have the right to send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board or make proposals at the shareholders’ meeting by addressing
them to the Company Secretary of the Company by mail at the Company’s
correspondence address in Hong Kong or by email to the Company’s official
email address. The Company Secretary forwards all enquiries and proposals
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
consumer complaints to the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chow Chi Fai. Details of
the biography of the Company Secretary are set out in the section headed
“Directors & Senior Management Profiles” of this annual report.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary has
undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 March 2014.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2014.
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Report of the Directors

EEZE®RE

The board of directors (the “Board”) submit herewith their report and
the audited financial statements of Sino Resources Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group has restructured its business
portfolio and ceased to engage in the exhibition business.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2014 are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2014 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 45 to 155.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2013: Nil) in
respect of the year to shareholders of the Company.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the

assets and liabilities of the Group:

RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March 2014

Continuing operations
Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue

Other income

Other operating expenses

Share-based payment

Impairment loss of goodwill

Impairment loss of other receivable

Fair value (loss)/gain on derivative
financial liabilities

Net fair value (loss)/gain on derivative
financial assets

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Share of loss of an associate

Loss from operating activities

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Taxation

Loss for the year from continuing
operations

Discontinued operation
Profit for the year from a discontinued
operation

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income,
net of income tax

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income for the year,

net of income tax

BFREERE
E

HEME

E7

Hib s

Htl A

Ht & B %

IR BER 25

BERESE

Ht W RIE 2 BEFE

TEERMAEZATE
(B18) /s

TESREEZATE(BR)

W 55 F 2R
HEMHB LR 2EE
DME—BBME QR ZER

HEXBER

- BEARK

MR AT 1R

Bi1A

REFESEEBZ
FEBR

CERIEEER
RECKRLEREEKZ
FEEF

FESHR

H it 2 My =

(FRFRR)
HEgnEENRIM
ERRZWH -
BREBIEERB  EREMR

REEHMEEKE
(BRFT1EHL)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

TFEEREEREE

Report of the Directors
ESEHE

MESHEE
DTAREECHE2REXEREEHAENE !
X\
BHE_ZT-WF=ZA=+—HLFE
2014 2013
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B EE FET FExT
7 42,540 37,084
(41,289) (36,573)
1,251 511
7 107 655
8 366 302
(25,987) (29,805)
- (3,088)
20 - (46,485)
(5,679) -
30 (1,806) 4,722
22 (6,968) 4,925
40 (12,752) =
19 (1,848) =
8 (53,316) (68,263)
9 (6,300) (21,442)
(59,616) (89,705)
12 261 2,459
(59,355) (87,246)
13 5,104 3,670
(54,251) (83,576)
183 196
183 196
(54,068) (83,380)
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EEZE®RE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) BEISHEE @)
2014 2013
—E—mF —E-=fF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B THT FET
Loss for the year attributable to: FERTHALZAREERFIS
Owners of the Company AAREBA (46,044) (83,269)
Non-controlling interests FERERS (8,207) (307)
(54,251) (83,576)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FERTIALZ
attributable to: AEELHEBLHE:
Owners of the Company UNEIEZ ZSDN (46,032) (83,284)
Non-controlling interests EERER (8,036) (96)
(54,068) (83,380)
Loss per share BEEBR
From continuing and discontinued REFERDKRLEEEER
operations 16
- Basic —H&K (1.7) centsi#{il (4.5) centsiB Al
- Diluted — 55 (1.7) centsi#& il (4.5) centsi& Al
From continuing operations REFELSEXK 16
- Basic —-&2R (1.9) centsi# il (4.7) centsiB Al
- Diluted — 858 (1.9) centsi# il (4.7) centsiB A1l

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2014
—Z—MmE
HK$’ 000
FHET

Assets and liabilities HEHAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 114,609
Current assets REEE 123,120
Current liabilities REBBEE (365,206)
Non-current liabilities *kFBER (11,611)
(139,088)

Report of the Directors
ESEHE

MEETHEBE @

As at 31 March

W=R=+—H
2013 2012 2011 2010
—E—=F —E-—C—F —E——F —E-=F
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FExT FExT FiExT FET
131,113 94,209 4,492 1,886
101,329 148,594 116,459 192,747
(452,501) (462,252) (234,889) (362,251)
(9,077) (477) (147,276) (136,002)
(229,136) (219,926) (261,214) (303,620)

Note: The results of the Group for the two years ended 31 March 2013 and 31
March 2014 and its assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2013 and 31 March
2014 are those set out on pages 45 to 155 of the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year and
details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Notes 36 and 38
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company or any of its subsidiaries had not purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in Notes 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2014, the Company did not have any reserves (2013: Nil),
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
and no final dividend (2013: Nil) has been proposed out of such reserves
for the year. In accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, a company may make distributions to its members out of the
contributed surplus accounts under certain circumstances. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account, in the amount of HK$791,576,000 (2013:
HK$659,351,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive director
Mr. Wang Xihua (Re-designated from executive director to non-executive
director on 1 February 2014)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

In accordance with articles 86(3) of the Articles, Mr. Chiu Sui Keung, Mr.
Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Wang Xihua will be eligible for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant of rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all INEDs meet the independent rules and continues to consider
each of them to be independent.

33 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014

i fm
RRARARAEEEFAZHBLBFEIORNENES
MBBRMAITRGEEDRER -

a] 5 Ik £ O

MRZE-MNE=ZA=+—8 » AR AL ETMAEBHH
ERELNFAE(CEE=FEIRFTEZAHRIERS
PRE/BRENSR2REE (S —=F &) T8
EEZREAFEZERRETRARERE (Z2—=
FE) REMSHEATAE(ZEZ=FHBITM)
AATAEETFERTUBARBRAZREBERE
EH DK o tLoh - RA TR ADEE R KN 2791,576,000
BT (ZZ— =4 659,351,000/ 7T) 78 AT LU 2 IR =X
AR Z2HEREEDTR -

EF

FARBEAREAPA/L  FRRAZEFTOT :

BITEE

Bzt (XFE)

Big L (BIERF)
R L ((THRAR)

FRITES
ITAELRLE (R-ZE-NF-A-ABITESHAES
FHITESE)

BUFRTES
B K 3 S 4
M2 EEE
BSEEE

RIBAMAIZE6(3)R - HIREEE B KBAENRER
EEERBEERRERRRBAFAS LEREF -

RATREWAB MBI FANTESRE EHRAIESA3
REHAREB UM 2BIAE - ARAARRFAEBY
FHTESHETHEIRR  YHEIARENELE
AL



DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 12 to 15 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The services agreements of executive directors, Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao
Feng and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung have renewed with the Company for further
three years during the year ended 31 March 2013. At the end of this report
date, there is no service agreement entered between Mr. Wang Xihau and the
Company. Mr. Wang’s emolument will be determined on annual basis subject
to review by the remuneration committee.

All INEDs have no fixed terms of appointments. No service agreement has
been or will be entered into between the Company and either of the INEDs.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, directors’ remuneration, comprised payments to the directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Group, is as follow:

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE
EFREREERZHE

ARARESRAEESREERE 2HEHNARFHRE
122 %15H °

EEZRBED

BITEENE LT SRELERBEREEZRESE
BAREE-ZE-—=F=ZA=+T-HLZFENCEHA
ZFE-BEAREABAL  TAEFXLLERELRQTF
AUBBER TRECHESKRFEE  WAHF
HES SR -

FREBMFATESHEBREMEY - NARAHMETS
TEEBYFATESTIRBEEH -

BRLEN  BREERRBFASLEEEECE
EMEBEERQFARTLARAIER-—FREILMEBR
EHEEE CEERERMN 2RBEH -

EFHe

Fh ESME (BRPREERKEEEBEMIATFAR
AREMBLARASESTZRE)MNT :

Basic Other MPF
Name of director Fees salaries  allowances contributions Total
Esta e EXHe Hitely  HEQHR At
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
TR TER TERL THR TEx
2014: 2-mE:
Executive directors HWTER
Ms. Geng Ying RELt - 1,000 - - 1,000
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BREE(FEE) - 3,120 27 15 3,162
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung BRBEL (THAEH)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 1,536 - 15 1,551
Non-executive director FHITER
Mr. Wang Xihua ( Re-designated from IRERE(R=F-AF=F-HA
executive director to non-executive HATEEREAFHTEE)
director on 1 February 2014) - 318 - 11 329
Independent non-executive BUFLTESE
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BKBEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lam Williamson HEEEE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen ERELE 120 - - - 120
420 5,074 27 4 6,462
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Name of director

EBNR

2013:
Executive directors
Ms. Geng Ying
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Xihua
(Appointed on 11 March 2013)

Independent non-executive
directors

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

—E-ZE:
HiTES

REat
BREEFZE)
BRREE (THEZ)

IRERE
(K=E-ZF=f+-HEZH)

BUFHITES
Bxans

HEERE
EEERL

Fees

HK$' 000
T

120
180
120

420

EEME& @
Basic Other ~ Share-based
salaries  allowances payment
MR A
Ex%e Hip2E  ERZAR
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TER TAR TER
1,000 - 331
3,250 40 331
1,601 - 331
- - 33
- - 33
- - 33
5,851 40 1,092

MPF
contributions

BREMR

HK$'000
TR

28

Total
a3

HK$' 000
TERL

1,331
3,635

1,946

163
213
163

7,431
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the director has had any
direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed
of by, or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or
leased to, any member of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2014, none of the directors had
any beneficial interests (including interests or short positions) in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Long positions in the shares of the Company
Long Positions in the shares and underlying shares of the company

Interest in shares/

Name of Directors Underlying shares

Report of the Directors
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Ho
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MRRGCHERRE

BRTXHEEN R-ZZ-NF=A=+—H #HE
ESRAQAREETAHE AT (AERSZRMERM
(TESRBMEHED ) EXVEFAET 2BRE) 2BRD
HERORESTHERERER S RAERMEXVEG
BIRSAHMAMEADARBIM(BERBERESR
HERFI2EBRIBREFIRERER 2 BER K
) RAREF 5 & B B R 5 553521R A RS SR R AR B PR
MR MAARBRETINEA AT RBRFZ
EfERER (BEERILAR) -

RELFRGBZHE

RARARBDREERD 2FR

Number of shares/

E=qiE R ARG ZEE
Geng Ying Share options
Bk& BB AE
Gao Feng (Note 1) Shares
S (1) K%
Shares
g
Shares options
BB e
Chiu Sui Keung Share options
itz Bk IR
Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Share options
BpoK R B
Lam Williamson Share options
maE IR AE
Wong Hoi Kuen Share options
=gk BB iE
Note:
1. Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of

ACE Channel Limited.

Capacity underlying shares held
FR¥sR R HHRKRRZEE
Beneficial owner 20,622,000
ERERA
Beneficial owner 178,000,000
BEREEA
Interest of a controlled corporation 178,000,000
BEEZESATzERE
Beneficial owner 20,622,000
ERERA
Beneficial owner 20,622,000
BEREEA
Beneficial owner 2,062,000
BEREEA
Beneficial owner 2,062,000
BERnEEA
Beneficial owner 2,062,000
EREBA
Kt -

1. BSIEE4EEZEEACE Channel LimitedZz 2 & 2%

TR -
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Report of the Directors

EEZE®RE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme as set out in Note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2014, 127,796,000 share options are remained outstanding.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has approved the adoption of the share award scheme (“Scheme”)
on 11 February 2011 (“Adoption Date”), pursuant to which existing shares
will be purchased by the Bank of East Asia (Trustees) Limited (“Trustee”)
from the market at the cost of the Company and be held in trust for the
relevant selected participants (“Selected Participants”). Selected Participants
may cover any Director (including executive and non-executive Director),
employee, officer, agent, advisor or consultant of the Company and of its
subsidiaries.

The purpose of the Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions by the
Selected Participants and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for
the continuing operation and future development of the Group; and (ii) attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

If the Board selects a Director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to the Director may constitute a connected transaction
of the Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to Director
forms part of the remuneration of the relevant Director under his/her service
contract, such grant of awarded shares is exempted from all the reporting,
announcement and independent Shareholder’s approval requirement under
Rules 14A.31(6) of the Listing Rules.

For the award of Shares to Selected Participants who are connected persons
(excluding Directors), the Company will comply with the relevant provisions of
the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders approval requirements. However, any grant to any Director
or senior management of the Company must first be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant
to the rules relating to the Scheme, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date provided that no further
contribution to the Trust shall be made by the Company on or after the 10th
anniversary date of the Adoption Date.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 9 March 2011, the Board approved and transferred HK$5,000,000 to
Trustee. During the year ended 31 March 2014, 10,100,000 shares were
purchased and held by the Trustee, representing approximately 0.31% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2014, no award shares have been released to
Selected Participants.

ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE NOTES AND PLACING
OF NEW SHARES

For the HK$15,000,000 convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes 2012”)
issued on 6 July 2012, the principal amount of HK$5,325,000 was early
redeemed during the year ended 31 March 2013.

On 18 July 2013, the note holder transferred the Convertible Notes 2012 to
the subscriber. As at 10 July 2013, the interest payable and the redeemed
principal amounts to HK$7,332,360 (the “Outstanding Sum”) have not yet
been settled by the Company. On 25 July 2013, the Company and the
subscriber entered into the supplemental agreement in respect of proposed
amendments to the terms and conditions of the Convertible Notes 2012.
On 16 August 2013, shareholders approved the proposed amendments (the
“Proposed Amendments”). The Outstanding Sum has been settled by way
of issuance and allotment of 56,840,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.129 per
share (the “Replacement Shares”) and the subscriber is entitled to exercise
75,000,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.129 per share (the “New Conversion
Shares”). On 23 August 2013, the subscriber exercised all the conversion
rights attaching to the Convertible Notes 2012. The Company has issued and
allotted 56,840,000 Replacement Shares and 75,000,000 conversion shares to
the subscriber.

On 21 June 2013, the Company placed of 412,470,000 shares at the
placing price of HK$0.08 per share and the net proceeds of approximately
HK$32,655,000 has been received. The proceeds were used for general
working capital of the Group and to finance the possible acquisition.

On 27 November 2013, the Company has successfully placed 286,000,000
shares at the placing place of HK$0.115 each per share and raised net
proceeds of approximately HK$32,880,000, The proceeds were used for
general working capital purposes and/or financing any potential investment
opportunity arises in the future.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

EEZE®RE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND INTERESTS
DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO
As at 31 March 2014, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued

share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Number of
Name of shareholders Notes shares interested  Nature of interests
BRME &8 ME KEERZKHBE #EHH
Mr. Hung Chen Richael 1 423,640,000 Long positions
(“Mr. Hung”) HRE
B EE ((HEE]D 198,000,000 Long positions
i)
Advanced Elation Holdings 2 360,050,000 Long positions
Limited (“Advanced Elation”) #E
(T Advanced Elation )
Gong Zhihong 3 286,000,000 Long positions
BER )
Mr. Zheng Xue Feng (“Mr. Zheng”) 4 270,000,000 Long positions
WEUE 54 (T84 ) 7R
Toeca National Resources B.V. 5 215,200,000 Long positions
(“Toeca National”) "R
([Toeca National J) 118,000,000  Short positions
e
Ramphastos Investments N.V. 5) 215,200,000 Long positions
(“Ramphastos Investments”) #E
(TRamphastos Investments ) 118,000,000  Short positions
K A
IRTB
Boekhoom Marcel Martinus 5 215,200,000 Long positions
Jacobus Johannes 33}
(“Boekhoom Marcel”) 118,000,000 Short positions
(T Boekhoom Marcel ]) KR
Luo Shuming 6 202,090,000 Long positions
R L3y
ACE Channel Limited 7 178,000,000 Long positions
(“ACE Channel”) #E
(TACE Channel)
Mr. Gao Feng 7 191,000,000 Long positions
SiEEE L)
Poon Wan Yin 8 175,182,000 Long positions
BEA )
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Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
ordinary share

Capacity capital of the Company
EELAFBRFERT

S{n LEREFzHHESL

Beneficial owner 13.03%

BERERA

Interest of a controlled corporation 6.09%

BRZEHNAR 2 EE

Beneficial owner 11.07%
BREAA

Beneficial owner 8.8%
BERERA

Beneficial owner 8.30%
BEREBA

Beneficial owner 6.62%
BEREFA

Beneficial owner 3.63%
BREAA

Interest of a controlled corporation 6.62%
BEZESARZESR

Interest of a controlled corporation 3.63%

BEZEBAT RS

Interest of a controlled corporation 6.62%
BEZEANAR 2R
Interest of a controlled corporation 3.63%

BEAXEHNAR 2 HES

Beneficial owner 6.22%
BEEEA
Interest of a controlled corporation 5.47%

BERXEMNAR 2 HES

Beneficial owner 5.87%
BEREAA
Interest of a controlled corpoartion 5.39%

BEZEGATZER



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

(continued)

Notes:

1.

These 423,640,000 shares include the aggregate of 76,640,000 shares is
beneficially owned by Mr. Hung, a former executive director (Resigned on 1
August 2009), and the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes
as at 30 September 2011 was HK$173,500,000, which can be converted into
347,000,000 ordinary shares at a convertible price of HK$0.5 shares.

Mr. Hung is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital
of Mega Wealth Capital Limited (“Mega Wealth”) and Webright Limited
(“Webright”). By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
100,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Mega Wealth and 98,000,000
shares beneficially owned by Webright. Accordingly, Mr. Hung is deemed to
be interested in these 621,640,000 shares under the SFO.

Mr. Hung and his associates companies who are interested in 274,640,000
shares and convertible Notes are restrained by court order from voting at the
general meeting.

The Company signed a sale and purchase agreement (the “S&P Agreement”)
with Advanced Elation Holdings Limited on 31 March 2012. Pursuant to
the S&P Agreement, the Company issued and allotted of 251,833,333
consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.30 per share to Advanced
Elation on 31 August 2012 and only 176,283,333 of consideration shares
subject to the terms and conditions of the S&P Agreement in relation to the
consideration adjustments. (Details refer to the Company announcement date
on 1 April 2012).

On 21 February 2014, the Company issued and allotted 183,716,667
consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.139 per share to Advanced
Elation according to the Fifth Supplemental Agreement signed on 11
December 2013. (Details refer to the Company circular dated on 28 January
2014)

The Company placed 286,000,000 shares to Mr. Gong Zhihong on 9
December 2013.

The Company signed a sale and purchase Agreement (“the Agreement”) with
Mr. Zheng on 8 August 2011. Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company will
issue and allot of 270,000,000 consideration shares at the issue price of
HK$0.45 per share to Mr. Zheng at the completion subject to the terms and
conditions of the Agreement in relation to the consideration adjustments.
On 21 March 2014, the Company, Mr. Zheng and Prominence Financials
Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered into the Tri-Party Agreement pursuant
to which, among others, the parties agreed that the Placing Agent shall
place 270,000,000 shares to not less than six independent placees at the
placing price of HK$0.188 per consideration share. As agreed by the parties,
to the Tri-Party Agreement, the proceeds of the share placement will be
reimbursed by the Placing Agent to the Company after deduction of the
placing commission and other related expenses. At the date of this report, the
placement has not yet been completed. (Details refer to the Company circular
dated on 28 September 2011 and announcement dated 21 March 2014).

Boekhoom Marcel has the ultimate beneficial interest in the entire issued
share capital of Toeca National and Ramphastos Investments. By virtue of
the SFO, Boekhoom Marcel is deemed to be interested in these 215,200,000
shares beneficially owned by Toeca National.

The Company placed 202,090,000 shares to Mr. Luo Shuming on 4 October
2013.

Mr. Gao is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of
ACE Channel. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
178,000,000 shares beneficially owned by ACE Channel.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

(continued)

8. On 4 October 2013, one of wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
completed to acquire 30% of issued share capital of Global Mining Engineer
Inc. The consideration is settled by 175,182,000 consideration shares. Mr.
Poon Wan Yin is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital
of GME Holdings Inc. who is the vendor of the acquisition.

9. This percentage is calculated based on the existing issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2014.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, save for the service contracts of the directors, the Company
had not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate
to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Company.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

(1) Unsecured loans from Mr. Hung Chen, Richael, a former executive
director and a substantial shareholder who resigned on 1 August 2009,
under the followings terms:

()  principal amount of HK$3,000,000, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 3 December 2009;

(i)  principal amount of HK$8,000,000, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 8 March 2010; and

(2) On 15 August 2011, the Company signed a shareholder’s loan facility
agreement of HK$20,000,000 with ACE Channel Limited, beneficially
owned by Mr. Gao Feng, a director of the Company, is unsecured,
bearing interest at a prime rate plus 1% (i.e. 6%) per annum and due
on 14 August 2012. On 12 September 2012, the agreement has been
extended for one year and due on 14 August 2013. The shareholder’s
loan was fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 2014.

Save as disclosed above, no contracts of significance, to which the Company,
its holding companies, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiary
companies and a controlling shareholder of the Company or may compete
with the business of the Group.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No continuing connected transaction occurred during the year ended 31
March 2014.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

So far as the directors were aware, none of the directors or their associates
had any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CG CODE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The Company has applied the principles and complied with all
code provisions of the CG Code throughout the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

Details of compliance with the Model Code by directors of the Company is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 16 to 28 of this annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the composition of the Company’s Audit Committee and the major
work performed by the Committee during the year is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 16 to 28 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be nominated for appointment as the auditors
of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Geng Ying
Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2014
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

HLB B ot m EH AR S
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

31/F., Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SINO RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sino Resources
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 45 to 155, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2014, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2014
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY CONCERNING GOING
CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 3(a) in the
consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group incurred
a net loss of approximately HK$54,251,000 during the year ended 31
March 2014 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$242,086,000 and net liabilities of approximately
HK$139,088,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
Note 3(a) in the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Sze Wai, Basilia
Practising Certificate Number: P05806

Hong Kong, 27 June 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

heBEaREMAEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE

Continuing operations
Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue

Other income

Other operating expenses

Share-based payment

Impairment loss of goodwill

Impairment loss of other receivables

Fair value (loss)/gain on derivative
financial liabilities

Net fair value (loss)/gain on derivative
financial assets

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Share of loss of an associate

Loss from operating activities

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Taxation

Loss for the year from continuing
operations

Discontinued operation
Profit for the year from a discontinued
operation

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income,
net of income tax

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

BFHEERY

HEME

EF

HAt a8

HAd WA

Hitb & & >

R0 B ER 2 R

BMEREEE

Hit W 2 BEEE

TTEEREEZAFE
(B18) /W

TESRMEEZ A FEER)

HEMBRARZERE

DE—BBE QR ZEER

A& A

BB ARG R

1A

REBEREXEB 2
FEBE

ERILEBEER
RECKRILEEEL 2
FEER

FEEBR

Hfth 2@ 2
(FRFRIS1R)
HEgngEERSAERE
ZW|A :
BEBIMEXRB  ERZMHE

REEHMEEKE
(BRATS %)

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

FEERXEGRRESE

Notes
Fff &

20

30

22
40
19

2014
—Z—mE
HK$’000
TET

42,540
(41,289)

1,251

107

366
(25,987)

(5,679)
(1,806)

(6,968)
(12,752)
(1,848)

(53,316)
(6,300)
(59,616)

261

(59,355)

5,104

(54,251)

183
183

(54,068)

2013
—8-=
HK$’ 000
FET
37,084
(36,573)
511
655
302
(29,805)
(3,088)
(46,485)

4,722

4,925

(68,263)
(21,442)
(89,705)

2,459

(87,246)

3,670

(83,576)

196
196

(83,380)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeBEaREMAEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-Z-NFE=ZA=+—RAILFE

2014 2013
—E—@mE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 5 T#T FET
Loss for the year attributable to: FERTIHALZARFERS
Owners of the Company AEATEBA (46,044) (83,269)
Non-controlling interests FERESR (8,207) (307)
(54,251) (83,576)
Total comprehensive loss for the year BEENTHIALZ
attributable to: AEERHEHBEAE
Owners of the Company KATEBA (46,032) (83,284)
Non-controlling interests FERES (8,036) (96)
(54,068) (83,380)
Loss per share BRER
From continuing and discontinued operations ~ REFERESK LKL ETK 16
- Basic —HRK (1.7) centsi&fl (4.5) centsi#E Al
— Diluted —-#8 (1.7) centsi#&ll (4.5) centsiE AL
From continuing operations REFELEER 16
- Basic —HR (1.9) centsi#&{il (4.7) centsi& Al
— Diluted —#E (1.9) centsiE& 1l (4.7) centsiE Al
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEME 2 Mi st BAAR S B IS IRk BB 2 — 1) -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B BIR R &

At 31 March 2014 =ZZ—WMF=/F=+—H

2014 2013
—Z—mE —E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
i =% FTHET FTHET
Non-current assets FinEEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 17 26,134 27,793
Interest in an associate R—BEENR 2B 19 23,904 -
Goodwill BE 20 46,630 70,135
Derivative financial assets TEERERE 22 17,940 33,184
Available-for-sale financial assets JHEESRERE 23 1 1
114,609 131,113
Current assets mEEE
Trade receivables 25 EWFE 24 1,321 21,381
Deposits, prepayments and 7e - AARER
other receivables H bW R IE 25 95,724 58,034
Deposits with banks BITER 26 10,905 10,891
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkEBEELEEER 26 15,170 11,018
123,120 101,324
Assets classified as FEACRIEREER
discontinued operation ZEE 13 - 5
Total current assets mENEEME 123,120 101,329
Less: Current liabilities wcRBAR
Trade payables B ENRE 27 110 20,022
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BEREMBEMRIE 28 174,478 206,191
Amount(s) due to a shareholder(s) B RRRIE 29 17,118 23,215
Derivative financial liabilities TEsmaes 30 - 1,703
Borrowings HE 31 - 17,282
Obligations under finance leases MEENELE 32 - 5,235
Convertible notes R ER 33 173,500 173,500
365,206 447,148
Liabilities directly associated with HEEACRIELEER2
assets classified as discontinued operation BEEENRBEZEE 13 - 5,353
Total current liabilities mERREE 365,206 452,501
Net current liabilities mERRBE (242,086) (351,172)
Total assets less current liabilities HEHEREDAR (127,477) (220,059)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B BIR R &

At 31 March 2014 ZZ—mF=A=+—H

2014 2013
—E—mE —2-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$' 000
M FERT FET
Less: Non-current liabilities wERBAR
Obligations under finance leases MEBENEMLE 32 - 723
Convertible notes RREE 33 - 8,093
Deferred tax liabilities EEREAE 34 - 261
Promissory note ERRZEE 35 11,611 -
11,611 9,077
Net liabilities fEPE (139,088) (229,136)
Capital and reserves B 2 B o
Share capital S 36 32,515 20,623
Reserves e (161,228) (247,609)
(128,713) (226,986)
Non-controlling interests FRRER (10,375) (2,150)
Total equity HEHE (139,088) (229,136)
The consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 155 were approved and BASEISSECRRMBRRER=-ZZ—NEXRA
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2014 and signed on “tHtREEEEHAERBETE  YATHALR
its behalf by: REE:
Gao Feng Chiu Sui Keung
= g IR 5A
Director Director
3 £
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEM 2 Mt BAARE B R 2 — 51D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBE-Z-NF=ZA=+—AItFE

AT Apiil 2012

Exchange diffrences on
franslfing foreign operafion

Net income and expense
recognised direcfly in equly
Loss for the year

Totol comprehensive loss
for the yeor

Acquisiion of subsidiaries

Share options granted

Share options lapsed

Release upon maturty of

R-%-ZERA-§

AEENRH/ERZE

ERRBERZ
BAREFE
FEERR

FEERERE

2%
HEHRLT
ERuRRE
EANERE
TERZBIAEER

Attributable to owners of the Company

convertble nofes
Placing of shares RERR
Consideration shares RERS
Share issuing expenses EIRARR
At 31 March 2013 W-5-Z§=f=1-A

1

183.269)

Non-
controlling
interests

b1
2
HK§'000
Tn

B2

M

il
107

)
1173

e

BELTHEARY
Convertible ~ Shares held
Share notes for share Share
Share  premium  Exchange  Accumulated equity award options  Warrant Sub
capifll ~ occount  reserves losses  reserve  scheme  reserve  reserve fotal
Ef

TRRRE %D BR  RERE
Bx  RBERE  ERRW  LiER  MEEE KRR L (] it
HKS 000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR Tn Tin Tén TR Tn Tin Tén TR

[Note 37(a)|
(H&£3710))

16,365 393,700 304 (862,999) 30,568 (4,986] 8,185 2164 (216,699)

. (13 B . B N
- (13 - - - 1

- - (83,269) - - -
; 15 @329 ; : - mY
- - - - - 3,088 3,088
; ; 8 ; B9 :
- - 1 R ; ; -
1740 18,270 - - - - - 20010
2518 47597 - - - - - 30115

; g . ; ;
N 9l P S TIsE dl6h (2698

0150

Total
equity

L
HK$'000
TR

(219,926
19

19
83,57

183,380
17
3088

20010
50,15
e

29,13
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-Z-NFE=ZA=+—RAILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BELTRA AR
Shares held
Share for share Share Non-
Share premium  Exchange  Accumulated award options Warrant Sub  controlling Total
capital account reserves losses scheme reserve reserve fotal interests equity
Ef
§hitd BR B HAR
ks RBERK ER RHER KR L ] it L] L

K§'000 HK$' 000 HKS' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
Tn Tin TR Tin TR Tin Tin Tn Thn Tn

Note 37(a])
(BE710))

N1l 003 cspercboe BLHZE-ZERA-F 0B 98] T L AL ek o I e
Exchange diferences on BEENRRERZE

franslfing foreign operafion - - 12 - - - - 12 171 183
Net income and expense ERRERETL

recognised direcl in equity YARERFE - - 12 - - - - 12 171 183
Loss for the year FEERE - - - (46,044) - - - (46,044) (8,207) (54,281
Totol comprehensive loss REEREEE

for e yer 45 - - n ) i - T R T
Release pon disposal of HENBLTRER

subsidiaries (Note 40 i) - - (56) - - - - (36] (189) (245)
Release pon deregstrafion E#-BHELT

of o subsidiary BER - - U4 - - - - U4 - U4
Conversion of convertible notes TRREERR 750 11,326 - - - - - 12,076 3 12,07
Replacement shores BRRH 568 6,764 - - - - - 7332 = 7332
Placing of shares BERD 6,985 58,903 - - - - - 65,388 = 65,388
Considerafion shares ERH 3,589 55,599 - - - - - 59,188 = 59,188
Share issuing expenses EXUI - (367) - - - - - 367) - 367)
At 31 March 2014 RZE-BEZAZ+- 055 191576 W (61655 (4% 11184 268 (1873 (10475 (139,088
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEMI 2 i B AN S I IR BB~ —Zh1p o

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE

Cash flows from operating activities BEXBZHRERE
Loss for the year REEEB
Adjustments for: U TR

Income tax expense recognised REZEPEIZ
in profit or loss FRIGHB X
Finance costs [E: 3928
Bank interest income R AT R S WA
Reversal of over-provision of BEEFRFEE
accrued liabilities in previous years ZBERE
Share options granted EREBRE
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BER
equipment REBZITE
Impairment loss of goodwill HMEREEE
Impairment loss of other receivables Hib W IR 2 BEEE
Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative fTEemBEATE
financial liabilities BB, ()
Net fair value loss/(gain) on derivative TEemEELATHE
financial assets BB (k) F58E

Gain on early redemption of

convertible notes
Loss on derecognition of convertibles notes
Share of loss of an associate

REEQURREE 2 WE

BERRTRREE ZEER
DE—BEE QR ZEER

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBE AR ZEE

Loss on disposal of property, HENXE - BER
plant and equipment RfEZEB

Loss on written off of property, MY BE
plant and machinery R#BE2EB

Operating loss before working capital
changes

Decrease in trade receivables

(Increase)/decrease in deposits,
prepayments and other receivables

Decrease in amount due from a director

HERRE Rt E

Ee28

B 5 W IER
BE - ANRER

H e WRIE (3 n) m A

W —SEERIERD

Decrease in trade payables B 5 RN IR D
Increase in accrued liabilities 2B EREtMERS
and other payables SRIEIE AN
Cash used in operations ReXBHAZRE
Interest received 2WFIE
Net cash outflow from BEXBZRSE
operating activities prida b k-l
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Notes
Ff 5E

17
20

30

22

19
40

2014
—Z—mF
HK$’ 000
TRT

(54,251)

(261)
6,300
(45)

(366)

345
5,679
1,806
6,968
31
1,848

12,752

261

(18,929)
10,225
(13,572)
(11,1 6;)
16,453

(16,992)

45

(16,947)

2013

—_E—=
HK$' 000
FHET
(restated)
Rl

(83,576)

(2,459)
21,442
(105)

(2,690)
3,088

652

46,485

(4,722)
(4,925)

(302)

(27,112)
49,831
14,528

34

(49,404)

1,034

(11,089)

90

(10,999)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
MERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—WMF=A=1+—HLFE

2014 2013
—T—mE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$' 000
Mt 5 TER FHET
Cash flows from investing activities BREEHZRERE
Increase in deposits with banks IRATIFRZIE M (14) (105)
Net cash outflow from acquisition WBEHELAR RS
of subsidiaries P b=} - (1,930)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BERRE (1,780) (15,861)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME - BERRE
and equipment FRERE 1,073 3
Net cash outflow from HEWBAREEZ
disposal of subsidiaries ReEnd F8 40 (9,536) -
Net cash outflow from BREEDZREAH
investing activities BE (10,257) (17,893)
Cash flows from financing activities METBHZRERE
(Decrease)/increase in amount(s) FE {3+ B SRR IE R /3 N
due to a shareholder(s) (7,089) 5,340
Proceeds from new borrowings F B R 2 TS RE - 2,600
Repayment of borrowings BERE (17,512) (3,879)
Repayment of obligations under finance lease  EEBMER I ET (6,647) (4,127)
Interest paid on borrowings BEENRME (3,056) (136)
Payment for other finance costs H R & AR Z 5% (3) (5)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes BOUBEREE S RE - 15,000
Proceeds from placing of shares BERND 2 RAEBRE 65,888 20,010
Share issuing expenses BMDBITHX (367) (216)
Net cash inflow from financing MEETHZRE
activities WMABE 31,214 34,587
Net increase in cash and cash HeéeRBAEFEERHE
equivalents BNEHE 4,010 5,695
Cash and cash equivalents at FOZHERE&
beginning of the year %{EHEH 11,023 5,030
Effect of foreign exchange EFxgmcveE
rate changes 137 298
Cash and cash equivalents at end FERZAERAE
of the year FEHEH 15,170 11,023
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRB&FERAE
cash equivalents BERS
Cash and bank balances BERBITER 15,170 5028

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Statement of Financial Position

BF 35 IR R

At 31 March 2014 =ZZ—WMF=/F=+—H

2014 2013
ZE—@mE —=-—=
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
Fff & THET FET
Non-current assets FRBDEE
Interests in subsidiaries REB AT ZER 18 93,714 97,286
Derivative financial assets TEcHMEE 22 17,940 33,184
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESREE 23 1 1
111,655 130,471
Current assets mENEE
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Re - FBARIERE bW RE 25 73,271 10,836
Deposits with banks WITER 26 10,905 10,891
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREeLHEER 26 111 114
84,287 21,841
Less: Current liabilities i REBAR
Accrued liabilities and other payables EfaBEREMBESRE 28 161,101 172,109
Amount(s) due to a shareholder(s) B RRARE 29 17,118 23,215
Derivative financial liabilities TTEsmes 30 - 1,703
Borrowings (EEN 31 - 2,600
Convertible notes R ERE 33 173,500 173,500
351,719 373,127
Net current liabilities REBAESH (267,432) (351,286)
Total assets less current liabilities BEHMERTBDAR (155,777) (220,815)
Less: Non-current liabilities wCERBDAR
Convertible notes R EE 33 - 8,093
Deferred tax liabilities EEBBEAE 34 - 261
Promissory note R EE 35 11,611 -
11,611 8,354
Net liabilities AESE (167,388) (229,169)
Capital and reserves BAERGER
Share capital &S 36 32,515 20,623
Reserves & 37(b) (199,903) (249,792)
Total equity waen (167,388) (229,169)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 45 to 155 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2014 and signed on
its behalf by:

Gao Feng
= I

Director

EFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2014 #Hz—-ZT—

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sino Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
principal place of business of the Company is located at Suite 2502,
25/F, No. 9 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

Cayman Islands. The

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are engaged as investing and developing
in unconventional gas business, coal and metals trading business and
provision of agency services and trading of commodities. The principal
activities, other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the same as the functional currency of the Company and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”)

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised
standards, amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are
relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 April 2013.

A summary of the new HKFRSs adopted by the Group is set out as follows:

1.

Br IS R AR MY aE

mE=A=1+—HLEE

LFEH

#MEREEERARA (AAR]) ARBESE
EEMALZERAT  MEBROBREBHER
SHAERAR ([BRXAT]) £ o RAT ZE M
E Rt BCricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands e RAB EBEEMBUAEBFRER
KREHOIE252502F »

FABEBEXBRAREER - EMBAT IR
ERBRIBRRARER BERESBEEHX
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HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

Government Loan

Consolidated Financial Statements

Joint Arrangements

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

Fair Value Measurement
Disclosures —
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Offsetting Financial

Consolidated Financial Statements,
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Transition Guidance
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. BRI REETEEMEHES £

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Except for the amendments to HKAS 1, the application of these new
HKFRSs has no material impact on the results and the financial position of
the Group.

The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy are described
below.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of ltems of
Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2012.

The amendments to HKAS 1 introduce new terminology for the statement
of comprehensive income and income statement. Under the amendments to
HKAS 1, a statement of comprehensive income is renamed as a statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and an income statement
is renamed as a statement of profit or loss. The amendments to HKAS
1 retain the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in either a single statement or in two separate but consecutive
statements. However, the amendments to HKAS 1 require items of other
comprehensive income to be grouped into two categories in the other
comprehensive income section: (a) items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Income tax
on items of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the
same basis. The amendments do not change the option to present items of
other comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements that deal with consolidated financial statements
and HK(SIC) Int-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10
changes the definition of control such that an investor has control over an
investee when (a) it has power over the investee, (b) it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and (c) has
the ability to use its power to affect its returns. All three of these criteria
must be met for an investor to have control over an investee. Previously,
control was defined as the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Additional
guidance has been included in HKFRS 10 to explain when an investor has
control over an investee. Some guidance included in HKFRS 10 that deals
with whether or not an investor that owns less than 50% of the voting
rights in an investee has control over the investee is relevant to the Group.
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2., APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

HKFRS 12 is a new disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that
have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/or
unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the application of HKFRS
12 has resulted in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

The Group has applied HKFRS 13 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value
measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. The scope
of HKFRS 13 is broad; the fair value measurement requirements of HKFRS
13 apply to both financial instrument items and non-financial instrument
items for which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements
and disclosures about fair value measurements, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value (e.g. net realisable value for the purposes of measuring
inventories or value in use for impairment assessment purposes).

HKFRS 13 defines the fair value of an asset as the price that would be
received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability, in the case of
determining the fair value of a liability) in an orderly transaction in the
principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under
current market conditions. Fair value under HKFRS 13 is an exit price
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Also, HKFRS 13 includes extensive disclosure
requirements.

HKFRS 13 requires prospective application from 1 January 2013. In
addition, specific transitional provisions were given to entities such that
they need not apply the disclosure requirements set out in the standard in
comparative information provided for periods before the initial application
of the standard. In accordance with these transitional provisions, the
Group has not made any new disclosures required by HKFRS 13 for the
2013 comparative period. Other than the additional disclosures, the
application of HKFRS 13 has not had any material impact on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that

have been issued but are not yet effective, in these consolidated financial

statements:
HKFRS 9

HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and
HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9

(Amendments)
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (Amendments)
HKAS 19 (Amendments)
HKAS 32 (Amendments)
HKAS 36 (Amendments)
HKAS 39 (Amendments)
HKFRS 14
HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21

earlier application permitted

earlier application permitted

limited exceptions

Financial Instruments®
Hedge Accounting and amendments to

HKFRS 9 HKFRS 7 and HKAS 393

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9
and Transition Disclosure?

Investment Entities’

Defined Benefits Plans: Employee
Contributions?

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities!

Recoverable Amount Disclosures for
Non-Financial Assets'

Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting'

Regulatory Deferral Accounts*

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2010-2012 Cycle®

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2011-2013 Cycle?

Levies'

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with
no mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for adoption

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. ERAHMIOREEITEBMBHREER

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 was amended in 2010 to
include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities and for derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described below:

e All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to be
subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent reporting periods. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair
values at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that
is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

e With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value of financial liabilities aftributable to changes
in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss. Previously, under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair
value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

The date when entities would be required to apply HKFRS 9 was
previously stated at 1 January 2015. This mandatory effective date
has been removed to provide sufficient time for preparers of financial
statements to make the transition to the new requirements, which will now
become effective from a later date yet to be announced.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future
may have a significant impact on the amounts reported in respect of
the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities (e.g. the Group’s
available-for-sale investments may have to be measured at fair value at
the end of subsequent reporting periods, with changes in the fair value
being recognised in profit or loss). Regarding the Group’s financial assets,
it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a
detailed review has been completed.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG 2. BRI REETSFEMEBRSED

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 and HKAS 32 -
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities and the related disclosures

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues relating
to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities requirements.
Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a
legally enforceable right of set-off” and “simultaneous realisation and
settlement”.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose information about
rights of offset and related arrangements (such as collateral posting
requirements) for financial instruments under an enforceable master netting
agreement or similar arrangement.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013 and inferim periods within those annual periods.
The disclosures should be provided retrospectively for all comparative
periods. However, the amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective until
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with retrospective
application required.

The directors anticipate that the application of these amendments to HKAS
32 and HKFRS 7 may result in more disclosures being made with regard to
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the future.

Amendments to HKAS 36 — Impairment of
Assets: Recoverable Amount Disclosure for Non-
Financial Assets

The amendments to HKAS 36 are to remove certain unintended disclosure
requirements which may be introduced by the consequential amendments
to HKAS 36 when HKFRS 13 was issued. Furthermore, these amendments
require the disclosure of additional information about the fair value
measurement when the recoverable amount of impaired assets is based
on fair value less costs of disposal. The amendments to HKAS 36 are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
Earlier application is permitted. However, an entity may not apply those
amendments in periods (including comparative periods) in which it does
not also apply HKFRS 13.

The directors anticipate that the application of these amendments to HKAS
36 will have no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions.
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2., APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS
27 (2011) — Investment Entities

The investment entities amendments apply to a particular class of business
that qualify as investment entities. The term ‘investment entity’ refers to
an entity whose business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from
capital appreciation, investment income or both. An investment entity must
also evaluate the performance of its investments on a fair value basis.
Such entities could include private equity organisations, venture capital
organisations, pension funds, sovereign wealth funds and other investment

funds.

Under HKFRS 10, reporting entities were required to consolidate all
investees that they control (i.e. all subsidiaries). Preparers and users of
financial statements have suggested that consolidating the subsidiaries
of investment entities does not result in useful information for investors.
Rather, reporting all investments, including investments in subsidiaries, at

fair value, provides the most useful and relevant information.

In response to this, the amendments provide an exception to the
consolidation requirements in HKFRS 10 and require investment entities
to measure particular subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss,
rather than consolidate them. The amendments also set out disclosure

requirements for investment entities.

The amendments are effective from 1 January 2014 with early adoption
permitted in order to allow investment entities to apply the amendments at
the same time they first apply the rest of HKFRS 10.

The directors anticipate that the application of these amendments to HKFRS
10, HKFRS 12 and HKFRS 27 (2011) will have no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and positions.

Amendments to HKAS 39 — Novation of
Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge
Accounting

The narrow-scope amendments will allow hedge accounting to continue in
a situation where a derivative, which has been designated as a hedging
instrument, is novated to effect clearing with a central counterparty as a
result of laws or regulation, if specific conditions are met (in this context, a
novation indicates that parties to a contract agree to replace their original
counterparty with a new one).

This relief has been introduced in response to legislative changes across
many jurisdictions that would lead to the widespread novation of over-the-
counter derivatives. These legislative changes were prompted by a G20
commitment to improve transparency and regulatory oversight of over-the-
counter derivatives in an internationally consistent and non-discriminatory

way.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Similar relief will be included in HKFRS 9.

The amendments will be effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014 and applied retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted.

The directors anticipate that the application of these amendments to HKAS
39 will have no material impact on the Group's financial performance and

positions.

HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies

HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 is an interpretation of HKAS 37 and addresses how an
entity should account for liabilities to pay levies imposed by governments,
other than income taxes, in its financial statements. The principal question
raised was about when the entity should recognise a liability to pay a
levy. It clarifies that the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to
pay a levy is the activity described in the relevant legislation that triggers
the payment of the levy. HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014 with earlier application permitted.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes
all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs"”), and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HZE=ZZ-WMF=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBFEE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (a) WREXE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or
value in use in HKAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group in light of the Group’s net loss
of approximately HK$54,251,000 for the year ended 31
March 2014 (2013: HK$83,576,000), the Group’s net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$242,086,000
(2013: HK$351,172,000) and HK$139,088,000 (2013:
HK$229,136,000) at 31 March 2014 respectively. In preparing
the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the impact of the current and
anticipated future liquidity of the Group and the ability of the
Group to attain profitable and positive cash flows operations in the
immediate and longer term.

Moreover, the substantial shareholders of the Company have agreed
to provide continuing financial support to the Group.

In the opinion of the directors, after taking into account of the above
procedures, the Group will have sufficient working capital for its
current requirement. Accordingly, the directors consider that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to restate the values of assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to classify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these potential
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities)
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

® is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e  any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(c)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXOHBEEE ()
POLICIES (continued)
(c) Business combinations (continued)

(<) iﬁ“ﬁ(%‘a‘)

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

(d)

Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company control another entity.

In the Company’s financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHRREE (&)

POLICIES (continued)
(e) Revenue recognition (e) 22

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowance.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;

e the Group retfains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably.

Agency fee

Agency fee is recognised when the services is rendered.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there
is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end
of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

(g) Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is indication
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHRREE (&)

POLICIES (continued)
(h) Investment in associates

(h) RBIEATZHR

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof,
is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Investment in associates (continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate, or when
the investment (or a portion thereof] is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the
retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with HKAS 39.
The difference between the carrying amount of the associate at the
date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required
if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in

ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or

liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the

associate that are not related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHRREE (&)

POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
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consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition

of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

i. Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets that requires delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. The accounting policies adopted in respect of
each category of financial assets are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income is
included in net gains or losses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables including trade receivables,
other receivables, amount due from a director, deposits with
banks and cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)
i.  Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as any of the other
categories. At the end of each reporting period subsequent
to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in
equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined
to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is removed from equity and
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Any impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will
not reverse in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment loss is
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment losses will not reverse in subsequent periods.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been impacted.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

(i)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

(i) default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
(iii) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

I.

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period over 180 days, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is
recognised directly in equity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

ii.  Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into
other financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in
respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, of which the interest expense is included
in net gains or losses.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables,
accrued liabilities and other payables, amount(s) due to a
shareholder(s), borrowings, obligations under finance leases
and promissory note, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain both
financial liability and equity components are classified
separately into respective liability and equity components on
initial recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using the prevailing market
interest rate of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible loan
notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded call option for the holder to convert
the notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible notes
equity reserve). Transaction costs that relate to the issue of
the convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

ii.

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible notes (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, representing by the option
to convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible notes reserve until the
embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible notes equity reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible
loan notes equity reserve will be released to retained profits.
No gain or loss is recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income upon conversion or expiration of the
option.

If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated from
its liability component. On initial recognition, the derivative
component of the convertible notes is measured at fair value
and presented as part of derivative financial instruments. Any
excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the
derivative component is recognised as the liability component.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
derivative components when the instruments are initially
recognised. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the
liability component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
when derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective
as a hedging instrument, in which case the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by
other than a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments are derivative financial
instruments. Warrants classified as derivative financial
instruments are recognised at their fair values at the date
of issue. Changes in fair values in subsequent periods are
recognised through profit or loss.

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a fixed
amount of cash for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments are equity instruments. The net proceeds
received from the issue of warrants is recognised in equity
(warrant reserve). The warrant reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium accounts upon the exercise of
the warrants. When the warrants are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the warrant
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)

iii. ~ Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchases of the
Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted
directly in equity.

iv.  Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid or payable is recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(k)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-T—WF=A=+—HIL5E

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(I) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so
that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an

asset is recognised.

(m) Dividends distribution

Final dividend proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the consolidated statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by shareholders in a general meeting. When these
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared,
they are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they are

proposed and declared.

(n) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they
arise except for:

e exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating
to assets under construction for future productive use, which
are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment fo interest costs on those foreign currency

borrowings;
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n) Foreign currencies (continued)

e  exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to
hedge certain foreign currency risks (see the accounting policies
below); and

e  exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group [i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBE-Z-NF=ZA=+—AItFE
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

81

POLICIES (continued)
(o) Employee benefits

i. Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of the reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. No accrual is made at the end of the reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward as the
amount is immaterial.

ii.  Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

(p) Equity-settled share-based payment

transaction
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme

The fair value of share options and awarded shares granted to
employees in an equity-settled share based payment transaction is
recognised as an employment cost with a corresponding increase
in the employee share-based compensation reserve within equity.
In respect of share options, the fair value is measured at grant date
using the Binomial option pricing model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. In respect
of awarded shares, the fair value is based on the closing price at
the grant date. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options and
awarded shares, the total estimated fair value of the share options
and awarded shares is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the share options and awarded shares

will vest.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHRREE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

(p) Equity-settled share-based payment (p) BREBRALEBGASER Z TR

transaction (continued)
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options and awarded
shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of comprehensive income for the year of the review,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options and
awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
employee share-based compensation reserve).

The equity amount for the share options is recognised in the
employee share-based compensation reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

Shares held for Share Award Scheme

Where the shares of the Company are acquired under the Share
Award Scheme, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “Shares held for Share
Award Scheme” and deducted from total equity.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees upon
vesting, the related weighted average cost of the awarded shares
vested are credited to “Shares held for Share Award Scheme”, and
the related employment costs of the awarded shares vested are
debited to the employee share-based compensation reserve. The
difference between the related weighted average cost and the related
employment costs of the awarded shares is transferred to retained
profits.

Where the Shares held for Share Award Scheme are revoked and
the revoked shares are disposed of, the related gain or loss is
transferred to retained profits, and no gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Where the cash or non-cash dividend distribution is declared in
respect of the shares held for Share Award Scheme, the cash or
fair value of the non-cash dividend is transferred to retained profits,
and no gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BZ=-Z—NF=A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBFEE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(q) Related party transactions (q) REALXS
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if: i HRATER  IEBALAEAEEERE
ZATRER
(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to (A) HEALHBUTER  BZALHEAL

the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (B)
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)] One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(C) Close members of the family of a person are those family (C)
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(iii) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or

domestic partner.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

(1)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits and shortterm, highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group's cash management.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All
other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Leasing

Lleases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs
(Note 3(s)). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
on a straightline basis, except where another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.

(r)

(s)

(t)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(u) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, management is
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Impairment of assets

The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any
impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating
unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require
the use of assumptions and estimates.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has impairment
of goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
21. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units are determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates and assumptions made by management on the
future operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and other
assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

Share-based payment

The valuation of the fair value of share options granted requires
judgment in determining the expected volatility of the share price, the
dividends expected on the shares, the risk free interest rate during
the life of the options and the number of share options that are
expected to become exercisable, details of which are set in Note 38
to the consolidated financial statements. Where the actual outcome
of the number of exercisable options is different from the previously
estimated number of exercisable options, such difference will have
impact on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
subsequent remaining vesting period of the relevant share options.

Estimated impairment of trade and other receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes
into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate {i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, impairment loss
may arise. As at 31 March 2014, the carrying amount of trade
receivables and other receivables are approximately HK$1,321,000
(2013: approximately HK$21,381,000) and approximately
HK$95,725,000 (2013: approximately HK$58,034,000)
respectively.

Fair valve of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair values of derivative financial instruments are determined by
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its judgment to select an
appropriate valuation method and makes assumption that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the transaction date and each
reporting date with reference to the valuation performed by APAC
Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited (2013: Savills Valuation and
Professional Services Limited), an independent firm of professional
valuers. The valuation model requires the input of subjective
assumptions, including the selection of relevant stock price, expected
volatility, expected dividend yield, risk free rate and expected life.
Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair
value estimate.

4. RREHAERGEHTRERZERR
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4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

(vii) Property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated
at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also perform annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include borrowings and cash

and cash equivalents. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed

in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments

and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The

management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and majority of transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
The Group is exposed to limited foreign exchange risk as most of
the commercial transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in a currency same as the functional currency of each entity of the
Group. Therefore the Group will only exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from the assets and liabilities which are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the entity to which
related. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to
the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated
by the PRC government. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Price risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value. The
Group does not have significant exposure to price risk.

Interest rate risk

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
financial assets and liabilities which are at floating rate of interests.
The Group does not have significant exposure to interest rate risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2014, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade or other
receivables. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on liquid funds in limited because the counterparties are
banks which are reputable in the opinion of management.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash
equivalents, monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management. Reports
with maturity dates of borrowings and thus the liquidity requirement are
provided to management for review periodically. Management will raise
or refinance borrowings whenever necessary.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be
settled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, as follows:

The Group
50
Weighted
average On demand
effective or Between
interest less than 1to3
rate % 1 month months
mEEY BEXE
ERFIE% —-EARK —-E={R
HK$' 000 HK$ 000
TR T
Non-derivative EEMBAR
financial liabilities
Trade payables ESRMATE - 110 -
Accrued liabilities ZitBEREM
and other payables FEf0R - 172,095 -
Amount due to a shareholder B —BREFE 8.0 17,118 -
Convertible notes TRREE 10.5 173,500 -
Promissory notes RARE 34.6 - -
Total o 362,823 -

5.

R 365 B B R ()
MBERBREDHRRBR (W)

{5 & W B2

RIZZE-—NF=A=+t—H BEXSHFRE
TEEAMAURAEEFRUBBRZAEERK
EERAR  DREGSUBRRRAISGECHE
RUBEEZIREE -

AEEERREERE  AEEZEEEITARE
EftERAMEERF  URAKNRETDHE
WaMER BUMS  ALOAESRHEEE

ZEERBE KERE -

FEBZEERABRIEHESREMEBERRIRE
FoAEBYBREREEETRAR - AEEEH
BEEFTEH2EFERR -

RBELEHABRER  FEAEEERAYS
BEBEZHT

W E)H & W B
AEEBBERARRSRRVITAL  BERN
REBRSHRE URREHBEEREHEZE
MEMX BUHEERADESER

EEEFEEERDESRR BHECEINAE
LREBRABESER2BEEHOEERRINU
HER BN EEERENEESIHAES
BRE-

TRETAEEEEE 2HBEE - LREME
BEBARN  RERREHTEAESNEHA
ZHRGBHEETON RARBEZSBEREEYN
RBBRNAHREE  HFEOT -

At 31 March 2014

Between
3 months
to 1 year

ZBRE-¥

HK$"000
ThR

RZB-WEZA=+-8

Between More Total Total

1 year than undiscounted  carrying

to 5 years 5years  cashflow  amount
BRUR

—FERE BRLF Aok  HREE

HK$' 000 HK$"000 HK$000 HK$" 000

TAL TERL TR TERL

= = 110 110

- - 172,095 172,095

- - 17,118 17,118

- - 173,500 173,500

20,295 = 20,295 11,611

20,295 - 383,118 374,434
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERAKRERE (#)
Financial risk management objectives and HERREEEERBR ()
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESMBE ()
The Group At 31 March 2013
£50 RZZ-Z#=ZA=1-H
Weighted
average  On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Tofal Toal
inferest less than Tto3 3 months 1 year than  undiscounted carrying
rafe % 1 month months fo 1 year fo 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
MEFS FEER BRER
BBRR=E% —@AM -2=ff ={R2-% -£ERE BRLE RER  AREE
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TiER TER TR TR TER TiER TER
Non-derivative Fitenas
financial liabilities
Trade payables ESRMEE - 8,608 - 11,414 - - 20,022 20,022
Accrued liabilities ZiaERAR
and other payables FEfHE - 201,857 - - - - 201,857 201,857
Amounts due to shareholders ~ FE{Y IR 1B 7.4 16,238 - 7,126 - - 23,364 23,215
Borrowings & 12.5 116 2,836 15,609 - - 18,561 17,282
Obligations under finance ~ BEBNEE
leases 14.0 41 1,494 4,338 767 - 6,640 5,958
Convertible notes TERER 12.0 174,781 197 884 9,956 - 185,818 181,593
Total 3 401,641 457 39,371 10,723 : 456,260 449,927
The Company At 31 March 2014
FAF RZZ-ME=A=+-H
Weighted
average On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
interest  less than Ttod 3 months 1 year to than undiscounted  carrying
rate % 1 month months to 1 year 5 years 5years  cash flow  amount
mEEY BEXE L ETE
ER#2% —EAM —-EZfif Z@AE-% —-EELf BBLE Rék  ABEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TiER TR TR TiER TR TiER

Non-derivative financial F{iESMER
liabilities
Accrued liabilities and ZHaERA

other payables 508 - 159,500 - - - - 159,500 159,500
Amount due to a shareholder B —ZREFE 8.0 17,118 - - - - 17,118 17,118
Convertible notes TRREE 10.5 173,500 - - - - 173,500 173,500
Promissory notes ARZE 34.6 - - - 20,295 - 20,295 11,611

350,118 - - 20,295 - 370,413 361,729
The Company At 31 March 2013
47 RIE-=E=f=1-H
Weighted
average  On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
inferest less than Tt03 3 months 1 year fo than  undiscounted carrying
rafe % 1 month months fo 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
mEF Bz BRER
ERFIZ% -@AR -2=fif Z=fRZ-& —EZRE BELE Beif AEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TaR TaR TER TER Tax TER Tax
Non-derivative financial FiESRERE

liabilities
Accrued liabilities and ZEER A

other payables Efi50E = 169,805 = = = = 169,805 169,805
Amounts due fo shareholders  FEft IR E3E 7.4 16,238 = 7,126 = = 23,364 23,215
Borrowings A8 30.0 - 2,600 - - - 2,600 2,600
Convertible notes TRREE 12.0 174,781 197 884 9,956 - 185,818 181,593

360,824 2,797 8,010 9,956 - 381,587 377,213
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERARERE(#)

Fair value of financial instruments MEBEIRZALATFE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as MBEERMBEEZAFERUTHIAEE

follows:

e the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (including o BEEEGRRGY  IRTBEFRBMEE
derivative instruments) with standard terms and conditions and traded BB EERMBAG (BETETR)
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted ZAFE NARSERBEARBEHRE
market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and BE R

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities e HiMHMBEERMBEG(BETEIAR)
(including derivative instruments) are determined in accordance ZAVE - DREAREEER - WRITH
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash REREBON  RAELABAZTERRE
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current market TIERXRG2BRABRNE - UHEAE
transaction as input. For an option-based derivative, the fair value is EETAMS  AFEDRAPREERE
estimated using option pricing model. B ALE -

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the BRTRAEFRN  RARESERE  RESTH

carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in BREBZUKEERVBEAEZRAEEE R

the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values. FEMEE -

At 31 March 2014 At 31 March 2013
R-ZE—@mE=RA=+—H R-ZE-—=F=ZB=+—H
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
IR E LFE BREE DNFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET TET FHT FET
Financial liabilities e&RA R
Convertible notes R EE 173,500 173,500 181,593 182,397
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5.

91

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position

The following provides an analysis of financial instruments that are
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices
(unadijusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other
than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

- level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation
techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

5. MERBRER (#)
MEBEIRZQTFHEGHE)
REEHBRREANERZ X FHETE

UTRENSHRIBRE L FEFEZHMBEITA
o DREAFEZIEERESIRE —E5
e

n

- E-RLVEFEDEEREEREEBE
RIS ZRE (RERR) S

- BIRLTVEFEHEE-RAEBEUIL
ZUBZEERNEEHBEE R (MER) R
B (BRBER)FH R

- BZRLATVENERABEHEUTEED
SHE (FUEEHE) AER2EEHR
BB AERNEL -

As at 31 March 2014
A _E—MFE=RA=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—8H TR E=® M
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FExT
Financial assets SREE
Derivative financial assets fTE£&@MEE - - 17,940 17,940
Total et - - 17,940 17,940
Financial liabilities SRE R
Derivative financial fTESRERE
liabilities = - - -
Total et - - - -
As at 31 March 2013
RZZE—=F=H=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ EZR E=H et
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FExT FET FET FET
Financial assets SRMEE
Derivative financial assets fTEEREE - = 33,184 33,184
Total HE - - 33,184 33,184
Financial liabilities ol N=R
Derivative financial TETHMEs
liabilities = — 1,703 1,703
Total #at - - 1,703 1,703
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERAKRERE (#)
Fair value of financial instruments (continued) HBEIRZLAFHEGE)
There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current year. RAREE F—MESE M oW maEs o
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets and CTREEREBEE=ZROFENEZHE
liabilities
Derivative Derivative
financial financial
assets liabilities
TEEMEE TESMAR
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
At 1 April 2012 M-B-—#FmE-A 17,924 (4,159)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W EB Y 2 F) 10,335 -
Issuance of convertible notes (Note 33) BOABRREE (MEE33) - (3,583)
Derecogpnition due to early redemption of i R R TR EE
convertible notes MBUE R - 1,317
Fair values changes NFEEH 4,925 4,722
At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013 RZZE-ZF=ZRA=+—-HRK
—®E-=fFmA—A 33,184 (1,703)
Change of terms and conditions of EREEmEZ
sales and purchase agreement 16 R B AR A 44,644 -
Derecogpnition of convertible notes BUBRER AR R EE
(Note 33) (H3E33) - 3,971
Issurance of convertible notes BOAUBRREE
(Note 33) (HF3£33) - (4,123)
Conversion of convertible notes (Note 33) AR EHER (MEE33) - 3,661
Transfer to other receivables EBRZEHAMEWRRE (52,920) -
Fair values changes NEEEH (6,968) (1,806)
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE—HWMFE=A=+—H 17,940 -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts which includes
amount(s) due to a shareholder(s), borrowings, obligations under finance
leases, convertible notes and promissory note, cash and cash equivalents,
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated as
either total borrowings divided by total capital or net borrowings divided
by total capital. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

5. MERBRER (#)

"BHFERRETE
AEEEBHAS  URASEEBRETHE
EEE CEBELEBREREHATEAMN

EXRERER - NEBEEBRBEFTE
HEAFHESR-

FEBCEAEBEBEEY  HEBERIRRER
HEE BMEENET TRAREBEREARER
B RERRESEEARAKRQAEGARGE
= (HBREeRTRARRER) -

FEEESTFRVELEE - FRlkRNZ—
BY AEEESERELRHAREHERMEN
ZERE -

FEBRAEXEELRERER  AREERK
LBERFFEERINBER - RBEHTLE B
ZEXREBLEMT

31 March 31 March
2014 2013

ZE—mE —E-—=
=A=+—H =A=+-8”
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TH#T FET
Total debt (i) 2 R () 202,229 228,048
Less: Cash and cash equivalents WRERREEHEER (15,170) (11,023)
Net debt FEK 187,059 217,025
St 2 i) (139,088) (229,136)
Net debt to equity ratio FEBEH R R N/A%REH N/ATE A
Total debt to equity ratio BEREERLIEE N/A%REHR N/ATE A

Notes: HaE

(i)  Total debt comprises amount(s) due to a shareholder(s), borrowings,
obligations under finance leases, convertible notes and promissory note
as detailed in Notes 29, 31, 32, 33 and 35 respectively.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. HWEH
Information reported to the chief operating decision maker for the BEEEERKRERELETERARKR TG
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance MRBERNNDEIAMEZXRIREE 2 ERIR
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided. 2 5ERl o
The Group organised into three operating divisions: unconventional gas KAEEDPB=ELESIM  FERRAZER
business, coal and metals trading business and agency fee and trading of HRESCEEE£EERARERBHEHEETIR - &%
commodities. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its EPHEAEEEREDBER 2EE - FTER
segment information. The segment information reported does not include ZABERTEECRIEREER 2 TS
any amount for the discontinued operation which is described in more EZHBRMFEIS
details in Note 13.
The three operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as BIES BB MEERER  ZHALERRSE
follows: DEMT
Unconventional gas business Provision of services in connection IERAARER NRBREHEFERIAR
with unconventional gas and HERERFEER XA
import of technical equipment for the RATHEBARIRE
unconventional gas industry
Coal and metals trading Trading of coal and metals in the PRC ErETCEBEEXY WPEEEEREESE
business
Agency fee and trading Provision of agency services and trading REBERESEE R RPRERRERSE
of commodities of commodities in the PRC EEEM
Trade shows and exhibition Sales agent to introduce potential RESEK EAHEEREAREEN
operation exhibitors for exhibition, (the BEZRE (LEBS
operation was discontinued during REBE-_Z-—=F=
the year ended 31 March 2013) =+—HBLEFELLER
&)
Segment revenues and results FEHBARER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AEBRAREZERTBHRDILE D 22 W
reportable segment: T
2014 —E—QmE
Continuing operations
fHiEEE
Coal and Agency
metals fee and
Unconventional trading trading of
gas business business commodities Consolidated
BiREeR 2R B 3%
FERXARRHE HERE ERGR ]
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TR TER TR TET
Turnover BEXE
Turnover from external customers RENREF &5 - 41,141 1,399 42,250
Result L] )
Segment (loss)/profit A8 (FB) 57 (3,722) (1,624) 1,161 (4,185)
Unallocated income AABBA 429
Unallocated corporate expenses APBMEXEZH (20,507)
Impairment loss of other receivables AR 2R ERR - (5,679) = (5,679)
Fair value loss on derivative TEERMEBAZATESE
financial liabilities = (1,806)
Net fair value loss on derivative ESREEZ A TERE
financial assets T - (6,968) (6,968)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBATZER - (12,752) (12,752)
Share of loss of an associate 2E—BBENAEE (1,848)
Finance costs EE=Y%N ~(6,300)
Loss before tax BB AT 18 (59,616)
Taxation g 261
Loss for the year from continuing FESEER 2 FERR

operations !59,355!
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenues and results (continued)

6. FWMEH(HE)

S A B R (&|)

2013 —F—-=
Continuing operations
SEKEER
Coal and
Unconventional ~ mefals trading
gas business business Consolidated
RrREE
FERRARES BEXH S8
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’' 000
TET TET TET
Turnover EEE
Turnover from external customers RENMREFZEEE - 37,084 37,084
Result 3
Segment loss ABER (4,814) (2,023) (6,837)
Unallocated income RABBA 763
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEEX (22,263)
Share-based payment URMABER 2R (3,088)
Impairment loss of goodwill BEREEE - (46,485) (46,485)
Net fair value gain on derivative fiEema Bz A FERS
financial liabilities FH - 4,159 4,722
Net fair value gain on derivative fTEEREEZ D FERE
financial assets B - 4,925 4,925
Finance costs BERAE (21,442)
Loss before tax BRBY A 18 (89,705)
Taxation BIE 2,459
Loss for the year from continuing SEREERCEERR
operations (87,246)

Turnover reported above represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the year (2013: Nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results
represent the (loss)/profit generated by each segment without allocation
of corporate expenses, share-based payment, fair value (loss)/gain on
derivative financial liabilities, share of loss of an associate, finance costs
and taxation. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HZ-Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH ()
Segment assets and liabilities STHRERAR
2014 —e—ms

Discontinued

Continuing operations operation

RRETRE ERIEEEERE

Coal and Agency fee Trade shows

Unconventional metals trading and trading  and exhibition
gas business business of commodities operation  Consolidated

FER RiEeR O B % 58

RRREH BREH RERuaR REERH we
HK$’' 000 HK$’' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
TET TET TR TR TR

Assets RE

Segment assets PHEE 43,111 75,868 377 - 119,356

Interest in an associate RN-EHEAT B 23,904

Unallocated corporate assets APBEEEE 94,469

237,729

Liabilities fif

Segment liabilities PHEE 1,449 11,688 110 - 13,247

Unallocated corporate liabilities AABEEEE 363,570

376,817

2013 —E—=F

Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
FELEEY BRIEREER
Coal and Trade shows
Unconventional metals trading and exhibition
gas business business operation Consolidated
BErEEE
FREBRARER BEXH RESEH )
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’' 000
TER TER TER TER

Assets BE

Segment assets PEHEE 31,006 177,175 5 208,186

Unallocated corporate assets ROBEEERE 24,256

232,442

Liabilities &f&

Segment liabilities SEHEE 6,320 67,238 5,353 78,911

Unallocated corporate liabilities ROBEEER 382,667

461,578

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating MEZIBRARIBOMEERMS :

resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate e KIEEEERN-—BBEQAR BRI I
assets and interest in an associate. Goodwill and derivative financial FEEDBRETRRDE -BERITESH
assets are allocated to reportable segments; and EEIBREARKRIE S &

e all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than e KROFXEE - BARRFE B8 BEHR

WEME - TRRRE - EESBEEERARL
EEN EEEIREA AR

corporate liabilities, amount(s) due to a shareholder(s), borrowings,
obligations under finance leases, convertible notes, deferred tax
liabilities and promissory note.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other segment information

6. FWMEH(HE)

Depreciation and
amortisation

Htt o MEH
Additions to
non-current assets*

MERMS ERBEFEZEM*
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E—@mF —E-= —Z—MmEF —E-=
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THT FiExT TH#T FExT
Continuing operations: HHREBERS:
Unconventional gas business FERRARES 81 188 1,713 23,714
Coal and metals trading business HxEEBEHHX 23 16 16 11
Unallocated Ko E 241 448 51 18
345 652 1,780 23,743
*  Additions to non-current assets excluding goodwill, interest in an *ORBDEEENTEERE  R-BBERQ
associate, derivative financial assets and available-for-sale financial AZER  PTEESRHEERAUHHESRHEE -

assets.

In addition to the depreciation and amortisation reported above,
impairment loss of goodwill, impairment loss of other receivables,
fair value gain on derivative financial liabilities, net fair value loss on
derivative financial assets and loss on disposal of subsidiaries of HK$Nil
(2013: HK$46,485,000), HK$5,679,000 (2013: HK$Nil), HK$NIl
(2013: HK$4,159,000), HK$6,968,000 (2013: gain of HK$4,925,000)
and HK$12,752,000 (2013: HK$Nil) respectively were attributable to
coal and metals trading business segment during the year ended 31
March 2014.

Geographical information
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s operations are
mainly located in the PRC and all of the Group’s turnover are derived from

the PRC. No analysis of the Group’s turnover by geographical area is
disclosed for the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—-ME=A=+—HItEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PEEH(H\)
Geographical information (continued) WEZE (@)
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current assets TRAFRBEE (FREETESRE KR8
(excluding derivative financial assets, interest in an associate and BMENF o REBZERAHEESRERE)IREEF
available-for-sale financial assets) analysed by the geographical area in D 2HE D

which the assets are located:

Carrying amount
of non-current assets

FRBBEZREE
2014 2013
—Z—MmEF —_=—=
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TER FHT
Hong Kong =B 1,120 2,789
The PRC HE 71,644 95,139
72,764 97,928
Information about major customers EREEERZEH
For the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group's largest customer BE-Z-DNE=A=1+-RALEE XKEHE
contributed revenue from coal and metals trading business of AEFERMAARKREBEEREB WAL
approximately HK$41,141,000, which represent 96.7% of total turnover. 41,141,000/ 7 - EHREEE296.7% °
For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group’s largest two customers HE-Z-=ZF=-A=1+—-HLEE xKEW
contributed revenue from coal and metals trading business of AEFEMAARKREBEEBRE 2WRAL
approximately HK$33,664,000, which represent 90.8% of total turnover. 33,664,000/8 7T (& K5 ,290.8% °
2014 2013
—E—mEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THET FTET
Customer A EFH 41,141 23,714
Customer B 2EFZ - 9,950
Others Hih 1,399 3,420
42,540 37,084
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE
7. TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUE 7.

Turnover represents the aggregate of coal sales, metal sales and agency
fee and commodities sales.

EXTRAEMEE
EEBERARHEER SEHEARREENER
i ERE 2 A o

FEERASHEEER CEXERE RS DN

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and other revenue from continuing

operations is as follows: mT
2014 2013
—E—@mEF =
HK$’000 HK$' 000
TET FET
Turnover ¥ 4]
Coal sales IR EERE 41,141 27,134
Metal sales SEBHERE - 9,950
Agency fee and commodities sales REEERPRFEEH 1,399 -
42,540 37,084
Other revenue Hfthlir &=
Bank interest income $RAT R B WA 45 105
Refund of legal and professional fee REEEREXER - 369
Sundry income RMERA 62 181
107 655
Total revenue Bl 42,647 37,739
8. LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8. BEXKEEIE
2014 2013
—Z—mF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$' 000
T#T FET
The Group’ s loss from operating activities from AEERBFELEXEB 2 KE
continuing operations is arrived at after charging:  #EEBEE MK -
Cost of inventory sold EEFERAK 41,289 36,573
Loss on derecognition of convertible notes BUEERAIBRREEZER 31 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment N BERRBZINE 345 652
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEW¥ - BERRZEZEE 261 -
Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment #EE¥ % - MERREZEE 4 -
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration BETHAX(BREESME (HZ10))
(Note 10))
- wages and salaries - IERFS 12,090 13,838
— share-based payment “-URBAERE AR - 3,088
— retirement benefits scheme contributions — R UR3E R 5+ B AR 481 426
12,571 17,352
Auditors’ remuneration % B AT B
— current year —BAFE 630 630
Minimum lease payments under operating lease BEFEKEHEHES
rentals of office premises ZEREHAENHK 2,730 2,719
and after crediting: I AEFTA
Other income: Hhgr A :
Reversal of over-provision of accrued BEEFRFEE
liabilities in previous year 2 BEEE 366 -
Gain on early redemption of convertible notes REEOTRRERE 2 WE - 302
366 302

99  Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014



Notes to the Financial Statements

Br IS R AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—-ME=A=+—HItEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERF
2014 2013
—E2—mEF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$" 000
TET FET
Continuing operations: HEEEEN
Interests on borrowings wholly AROLFRNBHEEREZFE
repayable within five years 3,056 136
Interests on obligations under finance leases BERAIFANTHEERE
wholly repayable within five years HNEEZFE 689 1,200
Interests on amount(s) due to a shareholder(s) BEREFANBHEEERTRR
wholly repayable within five years MR ZFE 992 1,205
Imputed interest expense on convertible notes BB EB 2 EENEMX
(Note 33) (H13£33) 903 18,657
Imputed interest expense on promissory note EEEBEERNERAX
(Note 35) (F1E£35) 403 -
Other finance costs H b B8 & B A 257 244
6,300 21,442
10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10.EFM £
Directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, BELHRAUREBRDERGEIOFRZRE M
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong ARBBE-—T-—NFR=F-ZFZA=+—
Companies Ordinance, is as follows: REFEZESHENT :
Basic Other MPF
Name of director Fees salaries  allowances contributions Total
EEa ae EFFa iRl  HREEHR ait
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
TER TER TER TER TER
2014: —2-mE:
Executive directors BTEE
Ms. Geng Ying BExt - 1,000 - - 1,000
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BERE (FZE) - 3,120 27 15 3,162
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung EIRBEE (THEH)
[Chief Executive Officer) - 1,536 - 15 1,551
Non-executive director FBTESR
Mr. Wang Xihua IRELE
(Re-designated from executive (R=F-BE=H—-Ad
director fo non-executive director ~ HTEZHAZFHITEE)
on 1 February 2014 - 318 - 1 329
Independent non-executive ~ BUFUTEE
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond ~ BB 38 %4 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lam Williamson H2EEE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BERELE 120 - - - 120
420 5,974 27 41 6,462
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10. ES=EH £ (48)
Basic Other  Share-based MPF
Name of direcfor Fees salaries allowances payment  contributions Total
UR%AA
EEpE ne HEXxHe Hi2l  EEsAR  BESUX Bt
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHET FHET TER TER TERL FHET
2013: —T-Zf:
Executive directors HiTEE
Ms. Geng Ying Tres - 1,000 - 331 - 1,331
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BELE (FZE) - 3,250 40 331 14 3,635
Mr. Chiv Sui Keung WL (T HEH)
(Chief Executive Officer| - 1,601 - 331 14 1,946
Mr. Wang Xihua IRERE
[Appointed on 11 March 2013 (R=F-ZfZH1-HEZH) - - - - - -
Independent non-execufive BUKHTES
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond ~ Bk %4 120 - - 33 - 153
Mr. Lam Williamson HEEEE 180 - - 33 - 213
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BERELE 120 - - 33 - 153
420 5,851 40 1,092 28 7,431
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to BE-E-NER-ZE-—=HF=ZA=+-—-HLHF
waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2014 and ERNTEEERERESHETAMNS -
2013.
During the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, no emoluments were BE-s—NER=-_=S—=H=ZA=+-—-H1
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon FER AEBTEARIMERAMEREF
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of the B REAEBBEOESSAME  ERLE
directors has waived any emoluments during the year (2013: Nil). EENEEAMES (ZE—=F : 8) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—-ME=A=+—HItEE

11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 1N.IEEEHFER
The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2013: FRNEEREHEERE=R(ZE—=F: =
three) directors. Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 to BES HHWSHBANGESHBRERMIZTI0
the consolidated financial statements. R o
The details of the remuneration of the remaining two non-director, highest HMBEIEERHES EMSFBUT :

paid employees are as follows:

The Group
E- 3401
2014 2013
—E—mE —E-=
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTHExT FET
Basic salaries and allowances EXFHe KB 1,428 1,715
Share-based payment LRG BER 2R - 194
Retirement benefits scheme contributions ERERFEIHER 30 29
1,458 1,938
The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the following BENFUTLESEEZEEAZHNOT :

band is as follows:

Number of employees

EEA®
2014 2013
—E—mE —E—=
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t £2,000,0007% 5T = =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t £1,500,0005% T = 1
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z#E71Z£1,000,000/% T 2 1
2 2
During the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, no emoluments were BEz—_E—NMEFR_E—=F=H=+—A8H1t
paid by the Group to the non-director, highest paid employees as an EER AEETEARS MERRMEARAESR
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss B MEARRBEREEERSFTES I
of office. % o
The emoluments paid or payable to member of senior management ENHENSREERE (TEEES (BUWME10
(excluding the directors as disclosed in Note 10) are within the following FE) 2N FUT &R :
bands:
Number of senior management
EREEBRA®
2014 2013
—E—mEF —B—=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z#E T ZE1,000,000% T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t £1,500,0007% 7T = 1
HK$1,500,0001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0001% jt 22,000,000 7T = =
3 3
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12. TAXATION 12. R\
The Group
*5E
2014 2013
—E—mF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$" 000
TFHET FET
Current tax NERBE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax - BERNEH - -
— PRC Enterprises Income Tax —HEEEFEHR - -
Deferred tax (Note 34) EERTE (H77134) (261) (2,459)
Tax credit for the year AEEREBERR (261) (2,459)
Tax credit from continuing operations for the year AFERBFELEEBL2HRIERR (261) (2,459)
Tax credit from a discontinued operation AEERACRLELREEKZ
for the year HEER - -
Tax credit for the year AFEEHEBEERR (261) (2,459)
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2013: 16.5%) on the EBFESHERAFEMETERB AR EHR =
estimated assessable profit for the year. 16.5% (=B — =5 16.5%) fEHEHE -
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) RIEPECEMERE(LEMESRED RE
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC (BB EcERMAA B=EENF—-A—H
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. B HENB LR ZHER25% -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%
12. 18 (i)

FAFESEEB 2 HEXHRNGEES2EBER
REREFEREEBCRUABEERNT ¢

12.TAXATION (continued)

The tax charge for the year for continuing operations can be reconciled
to the loss before tax from continuing operations per the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income as follows:

2014
—E2—mEF
Hong Kong The PRC Total
PE HHE
HK$’ 000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
FTER TER FTER
Loss before tax (from continuing BBAIEIE CREFE
operations) REER) (52,651) (6,965) (59,616)
Tax at applicable tax rate RERBEAEZHE (8,695) (16.5) (1,741) (25.0) (10,436) (17.5)
Estimated tax effect of AR B 2 fhat
non-deductible expenses BBy e 7,175 13.6 - - 7,175 12.0
Estimated tax effect of BARBWBRA 2 &5t
non-taxable income HEye (2,177) (4.1) - - (2,177) (3.7)
Estimated tax effect of unrecognised ~ KBERFEEFEZ
tax losses CHE:% 3,436 6.5 1,968 28.3 5,404 9.1
Utilisation of tax losses BAREEE - - (227) (3.3) (227) (0.4)
Tax credit at the Group's BEAEERAFEE2ER
effective rate for the year BEAE2HEER (261) (0.5) - - (261) (0.5)
2013
—E-=%
Hong Kong The PRC Total
H mz
HK$' 000 %  HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
TET TET TET
Loss before tax (from continuing BRBIAIEE (RBEEFE
operations) KREER) (84,077) (5,628) (89,705)
Tax at applicable tax rate RERREAE 2BE (13,873) (16.5) (1,407) (25.0)  (15,280) (17.0)
Estimated tax effect of AR A % 2 5T
non-deductible expenses BEEE 8,577 10.2 - - 8,577 9.6
Estimated tax effect of BARBBA 2 5t
non-taxable income BT E (2,523) (3.0) - - (2,523) (2.8)
Estimated tax effect of unrecognised ~ RHERHIBEGEZ
tax losses et g e 5,360 6.4 1,644 29.2 7,004 7.8
Utilisation of tax losses BARERR - - (237) (4.2) (237) (0.3)
Tax credit at the Group's BREASERAEE 2ER
effective rate for the year MEGFTEZHRERR (2,459) (2.9) = = (2,459) (2.7)
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13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

13.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group decided to discontinue
its trade shows and exhibition operation and focus its resources on

unconventional gas business, coal and metals trading business and

provision of agency services and trading of commodities. Hence, trade

shows and exhibition operation was classified as discontinued operation.

The results of the trade shows and exhibition operation for the year are

presented below:

Turnover

Cost of sales

Other revenue

Other income

Other operating expenses

Profit from operating activities
Finance costs

Profit before tax
Taxation

Profit for the year

EE 3
HEMAE

H Aty 28
HAtdg A
Hitt& @ >

R EBER
AR A

BB & R
B

AN FEEF

ERIEEEEH

BE_Z-=ZF=ZA=+t—-BLFER  +5H
RELLERBESER WEITHERNIEESR
ARRER - BERREBEEXEBRREERER
BEEENm Al RESEBHERSKL
HEER -

RESXBcFEXELNT :

2014 2013
—E—mF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$' 000

FET TET

- 1,334

5,109 2,700

(5) (364)

5,104 3,670

5,104 3,670

5,104 3,670

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the trade shows and

exhibition operation classified as discontinued operation as at 31 March

2014 are as follows:

Assets
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Net liabilities directly associated with the
discontinued operation

RE
BE - BNREREMERKIE
RERRESEEER

HHEACRLREXB2EE

afR
RItEEREMEN KA

HBEEAERLIREXBEE
HEEEBzZAE

BRI RS EREEAR
2B EFR

R-B-ME=A=+-EREACKILEEYE
BoRESEYCEAERABZTTERNT

2014 2013
—E—@mF —_F—=
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

THT FERT

- 5
- 5,353
- 5,353
- (5,348)
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B 75 ¥R R B 5
For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-Z-NFE=ZA=+—RAILFE

13.DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 13.ERILEERH (K])
The cash flows incurred by trade shows and exhibition RESEBEEZRESRBNOT :

operation are as follows:

2014 2013
—Z2—mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$" 000
TET FHBT
Net cash outflows from operating activities KEER CESREFEE (5) (297)
14.LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS 14.FAF T ABEFEEER
OF THE COMPANY
Of the consolidated loss for the year attributable to owners of the REAATEE AEEEERSEIB46,044,000
Company of HK$46,044,000 (2013: HK$83,269,000), a loss of BT (ZE—=4:83,269,0008T) F » FiE
HK$82,336,000 (2013: HK$23,506,000) has been dealt with in the 82,336,000 Tt (=& — =% : 23,506,000/
financial statements of the Company, ) ERARAB T HRRHERE -
15.DIVIDENDS 15. 82
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of EETEENBE-_E—NF=ZA=+—HLHF
the year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: Nil). ERMEMRE(ZE—=F : #) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE
16.LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF

THE COMPANY
(a) Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the year

attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Continuing and discontinued operations

16. x2FIHAAEETRER

(a) &F
BRERNEEBDERNATAEBEABLELRE
EFERUFRACBTEBRZMETY
HEtHE -

REEER ORI ATSET

2014 2013
—E—NmF =2-—=
Loss for the year attributable to owners ANREBAEMR
of the Company (HK$°000) FEBE(FE7T) (46,044) (83,269)
Weighted average number of ERTEERZ
ordinary shares in issue (7000) MEFHE (FAEK) 2,657,924 1,858,242
Basic loss per share (HK cents per share) BRERERE (8RB (1.7) (4.5)
Continuing operations FFEEERK
2014 2013
—E2—mE —E-=ZF
Loss for the year attributable to owners RATEB AEMN
of the Company (HK$°000) FEBIB(FET) (51,148) (86,939)
Weighted average number of EEBTEERME
ordinary shares in issue (7000) FEHHE(FA) 2,657,924 1,858,242
Basic loss per share (HK cents per share) BREXESE (8REWL) (1.9) (4.7)
Discontinued operation ERIFEEER
2014 2013
—ZT—mE =ZF—-=
Profit for the year attributable to owners AAREBAEMR
of the Company (HK$°000) FE=RM(FET) 5,104 3,670
Weighted average number of 2T E B R
ordinary shares in issue (“000) FEHIE(FAR) 2,657,924 1,858,242
Basic earnings per share (HK cents per share) EREXRZRF (R EW) 0.2 0.2

(b) Diluted

During the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, the Company’s
outstanding convertible notes and share options were not included

in the calculation of diluted loss per share because the effects of the

Company’s outstanding convertible notes and share options were

anti-dilutive.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—-ME=A=+—HItEE

17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 9%  -BEREMR

The Group . 3 |
Furniture Fixtures
Plantand  Leasehold and and  Computer Motor
equipment improvements  equipment fittings  equipment vehicles Total
BERRE HEMEREE RARERG KEREH# RER RE &t
HK$" 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$" 000
TER TER FER FTER THER TER TER
Cost: MEfE:
At 1 April 2012 RZB-Z£MA-H 1,003 713 687 76 427 2,480 5,386
Additions A 23,705 - 32 - 6 - 23,743
Disposals HE - - 4) - - - 4)
Exchange realignment EiAZ 108 - 3 1 - - 112
At 31 March 2013 RZB-Z#ZA=1+-BK
and 1 April 2013 ZE2-ZEMA-H 24,816 713 718 77 433 2,480 29,237
Additions A 1,680 - 13 - 87 - 1,780
Disposals e (2,009) - 8 - - (1761) (3778)
Weritien off s - - (10) - - - (10)
Transfer @ 156 - (156) - - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBLR - - (86) - - - (86)
Exchange realignment ERAZ 270 - 5 | | - 277
At 31 March 2014 W=Z-mF=A=+-H 24913 713 476 78 521 719 27,420
Accumulated depreciation RiHiFEREE :
and impairment:
At 1 April 2012 RZB-Z£MA-A - 134 228 10 218 201 791
Provided during the year FRER 109 71 115 15 93 249 652
Disposals HE - - 1) - - - (1)
Exchange realignment EAE 1 - 1 - - - 2
At 31 March 2013 RZB-ZFZA=+-BR
and 1 April 2013 “E-ZENA-H 110 205 343 25 3N 450 1,444
Provided during the year FREs - 71 102 15 73 84 345
Disposals HE (1) = 5) - - (320) (436)
Written off g8 - - (6) - - - 16)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAE - - (65) - - - (65)
Exchange realignment ERAZ 1 - 2 - ] - 4
At 31 March 2014 RZE-ME=ZA=+-H - 276 371 40 385 214 1,286
Net book value: RE#E:
At 31 March 2014 RZB-ME=R=+-H 24913 437 105 38 136 505 26,134
At 31 March 2013 R=B-Z%=p=t-H 24,706 508 375 50 122 2,030 27,793

FEBRBERERNEEZRERRBURAE
R-ZE-—NE=A=+t—-BZREFEHRZ
BT (ZE—=%F ' 25/%%23,705,000/8 T K
1,453,000% T) °

The net book value of the Group’s plant and equipment and motor vehicle
held under finance lease as at 31 March 2014 were HK$Nil (2013:
approximately HK$23,705,000 and HK$1,453,000 respectively).

Included in the plant and equipment of approximately HK$23,532,000
(2013: HK$23,705,000) was not yet in the condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by the management of the
Group. Therefore, no depreciation was recognised for the respective plant
and equipment during the year ended 31 March 2014 (2013: Nil).

HEERRBEBIELN23,532,0008 T (=& —=
F 123,705,000 ) BT EERAEEEEE
REFXNBREMVBEZ GG ALt RBE_-Z
—ME=Z=A=t+—HLEFER(ZZ—=F' &)
WRHBEREREEEITE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

FLEWRE  ERAE
W RIRERANER 2

Unlisted investments, at cost
Less: Impairment loss recognised in

respect of investment cost REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURH B A~ R IE
Less: Impairment loss recognised B R L A
in respect of amounts due from MIBTER 2 REEE

subsidiaries

18. RMIBAGIZHEE
The Company
. /N

2014 2013

—E—mF —E—-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
731,708 809,313
(689,928) (743,992)
41,780 65,321
166,248 107,724
(114,314) (75,759)
93,714 97,286

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and interest-free. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the Company will not demand
repayment within one year from the end of the reporting period and are
therefore considered as non-current.

The carrying amounts of interests in subsidiaries are reduced to the
recoverable amounts which are determined by reference to the estimation
of future cash flows expected to be generated from the respective
subsidiaries.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from subsidiaries are reduced
to their recoverable amounts which are determined by reference to
the estimation of future cash flows expected to be generated from the
respective subsidiaries.

(a) General informations of subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s material subsidiaries at the end of the
reporting period are set out below:

Nominal value

Place of
incorporation

of issued
share capital/

Name and operations paid up capital
£ BEMEIR ERTRT CHE

B BREMmE
Wealth Gain Global Investment Limited British Virgin Islands US$1
ERREREARAT RBEZHE [ES
Sino Talent Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1
HEEEERAF BE 187
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FEWMBARRENEERARRE - RAFES
RBE AL THBERTHAE-—FRAETER
REN  FRREAMBEERFRDEE -

RMBARERNRAERETRERIE - T)
2RABEMBRAELEZAEARRRAESREE

E o

FE YR 1 X R ROR 2 BRIEMER Z AT W RRIE - T3
SREMBRAEEZHARRREREETE -

(o) MBLARzZ—REHR

RBERR > AEBEENBL R S
BAIWT :

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
and proportion of
voting power held

FOFEGES
BOLRMBRRELR
Direct Indirect Principal activities
BEE M TEEH
100 = Investment holding
RELER
- 100 Operation company

EENF



Notes to the Financial Statements

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

General informations of subsidiaries (continued)

Br IS R AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HZ-Z-—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. RIEB AR ZES (M)
(o) MEBLARzZ—RER (HE)

Place of

incorporation

Name and operations
28 B 3 R
EBERE

Bright Top Investment Holdings Limited
ESREEZRERAT

Profull Int'l Holdings Limited
REBABRERERLA

Twinkle Win Limited

Sino Giants Group Limited

Multi Century Technology Development Limited

British Virgin Islands
REELHS

British Virgin Islands
RBRLZHE

British Virgin Islands
HEELHS

British Virgin Islands
RERLZHE

Hong Kong

(“MCT [HK)")

AILANRBRERAR (AILRK(FE) )

Multi Century Energy Technology (Beijing) The PRC
Limited ("MCT (BJ}") H

AIRALRERENR (R BRAF
(MAE et () )

Zhan Sheng Investments

British Virgin Islands

Limited (“Zhan Sheng”) RERZES
BEREERAATRES])
World Grace Enterprises Limited Hong Kon
HEHEEERAF B
Miles Trading Investment Limited [ii) Hong Kong
EREZREARAT (i) j
Zhuhai Tiegang Commercial Trading The PRC
Company Limited (iii] (“Zhuhai Tiegang”)
wsEBREERA A (i) (HEEE)) HE
Hubei Tiegang Trading The PRC
Company Limited (“Hubei Tiegang”) HE

HEABBEZERAT (THLER]
Amber Century Limited i)

British Virgin Islands

B3t 2 B R A F(ii) KERZHES
Best Sino Technology Limited (i) Hong Kong
EERRERD i) j
Heilongjiang Multi Century Energy The PRC
Technology Limited (iv) HE

(“MCT (Heilongjiang)”)
BRTAICATERREBRATF (iv)
(TRl Bt (BRET) 1)

Nominal value
of issued

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
and proportion of
voting power held

share capital/ FOTRELEER
paid up capital BRLRAFRFELLE
BR{TRE EME  Direct Indirect Principal activities
BFEE EE mE TEEH
US$1 100 - Investment holding
1% REER
Us$1 100 - Investment holding
[E REZR
US$1 100 - Investment holding
[EYH REER
Us$1 - 51 Investment holding
1% RERR
HK$490 - 51 Investment holding
490 T REER
RMB15,000,000 - 51 Provision of services in connection
AR%15,000,0007T with unconventional gas and
import of technical equipment
for the unconventional gas
industr
RERMEFERRAARIEE
RBERFERXAR
TEGAHMRE
Us$10,000  70.97 = Investment holding
10,000% 7T REZR
HK$1 = 100 Investment holding
BT REER
HK$1 = 100 Trading of coal
187 BERR
US$151,611 - 100 Provision of agency services and
trading of commodites in the PRC
151,611% 7 RPEREREREREERE R
RMB10,200,000 = 77.5 Trading of coal and metals
AE#10,200,0007T in the PRC
RHEBERRESE
us$1 100 = Investment holding
127 RELER
HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
18T RELER
- - 100 Provision of services in connection

with unconventional gas and

import of technical equipment

for the unconventional gas industry
RUEBBEFERRAR 2 RHE

REAFERXAR

TR RIMRE
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE
18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

General informations of subsidiaries (continued)

(a)

Notes:

(i)  The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the
oFinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.

(ii)
(iii)

Acquired during the year ended 31 March 2014.
The registered capital of Zhuhai Tiegang is US$1,000,000. As

at 31 March 2014, the Group had injected US$151,611. The
Group will inject US$848,389 to Zhuhai Tiegang for the registered

capital.

(iv)

Incorporated during the year ended 31 March 2014. The registered
capital of MCT (Heilongjiang) is HK$10,000,

000. As at 31 March

2014, the Group has not yet injected any of the registered capital.

(b)

interests:

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non-controlling

The table below shows details of the non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Group that have material non-controlling interests:

Place of incorporation
and principal
place of business

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting
rights held by non-
controlling interests

18. RIEB AR ZES (M)

FERERFMER
REM R LB R ZHAHERR
FEERME BRREZLH
2014 2013
—E-mE —T-=F%
% %
Name
&1
MCT (HK) Hong Kong
LR (F8) &8 49.0 49.0

(o) MEBR2AZ—HREL (&)
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(b) BERFERERFZEMBAR ZFE:
TRETEEE FERESZ 2 AEEELE
MiE DA R

Profit/(loss)

allocated to
non-controlling

Accumulated
non-controlling

interests interests
AEF
FEEES
ZB% /(B8R Rt ERRES
2014 2013 2014 2013
ZE—ME ZT-=F ZE-MNE ZZT-=f
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
(257) (613) (5,135) (4,878)

Summarised financial information in respect of

each of the Group's

subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents amounts before

intragroup eliminations.

EHREAEAFERESE 22 EMBAT Z
MBERBREIIWMT - LT HBERBRE
REBRLRBMBAI 2S5 -

Multi Century Technology Development Limited HEHEERARLT
2014 2013
—2—mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
777777777777777777777777777777777 THET R
Current assets MEBEE 36,108 8,154
Non-current assets IRBEE 17,078 23,245
Current liabilities REEE (1,427) (453)
Non-current liabilities kRBER (62,238) (40,902)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AAREE NELER (10,479) 19,956
Non-controlling interests FE 1 IR R 2 (5,135) (4,878)
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-Z-NFE=ZA=+—RAILFE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material non-controlling

18. HIEB AR ZH#E (K)
(b) AEAFZREEH2HFLEMBLD2ZHE

interests (continued) (48)
Multi Century Technology Development Limited (continued) SEHEERARLE(H)
2014 2013
—Z—mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FERT
Revenue 'ON - -
Loss for the year FEEE (523) (1,251)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company RAFHEB ANELEE (266) (638)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests FEREREGEE (257) (613)
Loss for the year FEER (523) (1,257)
Other comprehensive income attributable to RRBER AL EAM
owners of the Company el e - -
Other comprehensive income attributable to FEEEIRE R (L EL
non-controlling interests 2HERE - -
Other comprehensive income for the year REEHM2EBE - -
Total comprehensive loss attributable to RRBER AL
owners of the Company ZHEBARE (266) (638)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to FEEEIRAER (L
non-controlling interests 2HEEBEERE (257) (613)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEERHEBEE (523) (1,251)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ENFERERRE - -
Net cash outflow from operating activities KEEBERERE T (20,299) (7,487)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REERRERSFE (1,440) (2,248)
Net cash inflow from financing activities METBRARESFHE 22,336 9,751
Net cash inflow RAR SR 597 16
Note: There are no significant restrictions on the ability of MCT(HK) to MizE: WERARAAILRE (FE)URERE

transfer funds to the Group in the form of cash dividends, or to

repay loans or advance made by the Group.

FARESHBEASESEESEE
iR ERHBR 2R NNERRSH -
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HBE-Z-NF=ZA=+—AItFE
19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE - GROUP

Details of the Group's interest in an associate is as follows:

Cost of investment in an associate REE QAT ZRERN
Unlisted F¥EH
Share of post-acquisition loss DIERBRER

19. RBIBLFIZRE FKE
TEERBELNR R ZFBOT :
2014 2013
—E—@mF —_F-—=
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
THT FERT

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting period are as

R|BERR  AEE2BEQRRFEOT ¢

follows:
Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power
Principal place Class of held by the Group
Name Form of entity  Place of incorporation of operation shares held FREFRBEZFAER  Principal activities
£ Bl  EREInE TEERHE FAEROTH RERELH FEXH
Global Mining Incorporated Republic of Vanuaty The PRC Ordinary 30% (2013: Nil]  Providing Radio Frequency
Engineer Inc. MK REAELAE HE EER 30%  Identification Mining Management
("Globing Mining"| (Z2-ZF %)  System and Solution ("RFID@MMS")
BRBEIRERAF services, and natural resources-related
((RHEE) global sources direct services
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ=-Z-—WF=A=+—HItFE

19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE - GROUP (continued) 19. RBELAFCHE F%EE(E)
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's associate is set ERAEEBREQRTA U HERMEHINMT
out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts UTHEERMERERET B BEREELNRFR
shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with CHMENTMBERRMAIZEHE -
HKFRSs.
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated BENARGEUNERRPRAESZEAR -

financial statements.

Global Mining

- 237 §
ZE—mE -
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$" 000
FHET FHBT

Current assets RBEE 1,647 -

Non-current assets FRBEE 5,400 -

Current liabilities RBEE (7,205) -

Net liabilities E8EFHE (158) =

Revenue L'ON 2,618 =

Loss for the year REEFE (159) -

Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHMEE KGR = -

Total comprehensive income for the year AEEREREAE (159) =

Reconciliation of the above summarised LitMBEEHBER

financial information to the carrying RGEMBERRAOER

amount of the interest in an associate ZREENARZHI

recognised in the consolidated ZIEHEEHE :

financial statements:
Net liabilities of the associate HENRZBBETH (158) =
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEERRREEZ

interest in Global Mining P RERE 2 EE 5 30% -

Effect of fair value adjustment at acquisition (Note (i)) RUEE R A T ERAZE 2 2 E (M) 24,000 =

Other adjustments (Note (i) H b T2 (B (i) (7,800) -

Goodwill [E5E=S 7,752 -

Carrying amount of the Group's REBRRBIEXZ

interest in Global Mining EEZREE 23,904 =

Note: Mz :

(i) The fair value of the net assets and liabilities of associate at the date (i) BWEQXARUBAPNEERABEZENAF
of acquisition were determined by the directors of the Company with ENBHARRAESSEZBUEXREMTES
reference to the valuation performed by Roma Appraisals Limited, an BT A ERARETZEEERE
independent firm of professional valuers.

(i)  Other adjustments represent deferred taxation arising from fair value (i) HbARBRNKWEHARATFERMEERTR
adjustment at acquisition, provision for deferred taxation for the year and B AFEELSEREBERAEEEE -

amortisation for the year.
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20. GOODWILL 20. &

The Group *5KE

HK$' 000

FHBT

Cost: 5%
At 1 April 2012 NR-E——FEmWBE—H 71,689
Acquisition of subsidiaries B8 B B X A 44,931
At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013 R-ZB-—=ZFZA=+—-BR=ZE—Z=ZFTA—H 116,620
Derecognised on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 40) &K B B KBUEER (FfsE40) (69,990)
At 31 March 2014 R-E—HNE=A=+—H 46,630
Accumulated impairment: REtEE -
At 1 April 2012 W-—®-——#mA-ABA -
Impairment for the year FREE 46,485
At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013 R-ZE-—=F=A=+—HR=-Z—=5WMA—H 46,485
Derecognised on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 40)  H &M E N =) EFECE B (M5E40) (46,485)
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE—HNF=A=+—H -
Carrying amounts: IRERE -
At 31 March 2014 R-E—MNE=A=+—H 46,630
At 31 March 2013 R-E—=F=A=+—H 70,135

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in Note

21.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

21.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

As explained in Note 6, the Group uses business segments as its primary
segment for reporting segment information. For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill with indefinite useful lives set out in Note 20 has been
allocated to following cash generating unit (CGUs). In performing the
impairment testing for the year, the directors of the Company have
engaged APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited, an independent
valuer, in determining the recoverable amount of each CGUs. The carrying
amount of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 March
2014 and 2013, is allocated as follows:

FERRARREH

Unconventional gas business
Coal trading business

21. @ &R E AR

MK - ARBEIRAEB D HERBED B
BERZEEDE - BETRERHAME » ME20
Bt ERENEAFH2HECIBRTTIR
TELBEN(REELEEM]) - RFRETRE
K ARARAESCEEBYAEMTIAEE
FEREEERAREESREELBEM TR
BEfH R-F-NFR-F-=F=A=1-—
A BEGERFTBESR) REESERER
LU

2014 2013
—g—mF —Z-=
HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FET FER

1,700 1,700

44,930 68,435
46,630 70,135

Unconventional gas business

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based
on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 24% per annum.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the same
expected gross margins throughout the budget period. The cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
3% per annum growth rate. The growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the market. The directors believed that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of the
unit to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the
unconventional gas business are as follows:

Budgeted market share  The values assigned to the assumption reflect
past experience, except for the growth factor,
which is consistent with the directors’ plans
for focusing operations in these markets. The
directors believe that planned market share
growth per year for the next five years is
reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin ~ Average gross margins achieved in the
period immediately before the budget
period, increased for expected efficiency
improvements. This reflects past experience,
except for efficiency improvements.

FERMXARARRYE

ReELBL 2 ARE B KE—EEREE
SHEEHERAZASAREANERES
HASSAF 2 MBS - WASF2U%TRE -

RERRZRERBRA D REBERRN ZHEE
AHENRAFE ZAFHRRZAERECKA
32 BEFHBRIRER - ZBRRALKBEBTS
REFHERR -EBZMHE EETRDEHE
ZEEBRBRAHRAZEMNESETEED  B1E
BYREELEUCRAEBLEAJWREIREE -

AEEERRAREBEVEREERACEE
BRBMT :
BEEMSEER EARZERRZEBERBR
BELE  WHEBFZIRN
ZEMSEZRENTAER
—2 - EBME - RERAF
M BB AR RFRRE
AEEMER °

REEF= ST E B A0 H B AT ELS
ZPHEFR » BRGNS
KEMEI o b RBRBER

B MR RERID o
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21.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODW.ILL (continued) 21.mEREANR (&)

Coal trading business

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based
on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 19% per annum.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the same
expected gross margins throughout the budget period. The cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
3% per annum growth rate. The growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the market. The directors believed that
any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the
recoverable amount is based would not cause the carrying amount of the
unit to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the coal
trading business are as follows:

Budgeted market share ~ The values assigned to the assumption reflect
past experience, except for the growth factor,
which is consistent with the Directors’ plans
for focusing operations in these markets. The
directors believe that planned market share
growth per year for the next five years is
reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin ~ Average gross margins achieved in the
period immediately Before the budget
period, increased for expected efficiency
improvements. This reflects past experience,
except for efficiency improvements.
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22.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS 225 aMEE

The Group and the Company

XEERELTF
Derivative
financial assets

TTEOMEE

HK$’ 000

FET

At 1 April 2012 R-ZE——-FMAB—AH 17,924

Acquisition of subsidiaries - =NG| 10,335

Fair value changes NP EEH 4,925

At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013 R-ZEB-ZFZA=+-HBR=ZE-Z=ZFNMBE—H 33,184
Change of terms and conditions of sale EREEmELZ

and purchase agreement (Note) 15 FR R AR (FEE) 44,644

Fair value changes ATEEZS (6,968)

Transfer to other receivables EREEHMERRIE (52,920)

At 31 March 2014 R-E—@WmEFE=A=+—H 17,940

Derivative financial assets represented the contingent consideration
receivables when the Group dispose or place the remaining consideration
shares to independent third parties. The fair value is measured using the
binomial option pricing model at initial recognition and at the end of each
reporting period.

Note:

On 11 December 2013, the Company and the Vendor, Mr. Fung Denny
Kin Tak, Ms. Wang Hui and Mr. Lai Kin Kong (“Mr. Lai”) have entered
into the fifth supplemental agreement (the “Fifth Supplemental Agreement”)
to amend certain terms and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement
on 31 August 2012 in respect of the acquisition of Zhan Sheng Group.
Principal terms of the Fifth Supplemental Agreement are set out as follows:

(1) Change of a Guarantor under the sale and purchase agreement

Mr. Yuen Yuk Piu shall cease to be one of the guarantors under the
sale and purchase agreement and no longer hold any rights or be
bound by any obligations thereunder; and Mr. Lai shall become one
of the guarantors under the sale and purchase agreement and be
entitled to and assume all the rights, obligations and liabilities of a
guarantor thereunder.

(2) Consideration and payment method

183,716,667 shares of the Company (the “New Escrow Shares”)
shall be issued and allotted to the Vendor at HK$0.139 per share
on the effective date and be held in Escrow by the escrow agent.
The Existing Escorw and the New Escrow Shares representing
360,000,000 shares in total, are collectively referred to as the
total escrow shares (the “Total Escrow Shares”). The Total Escrow
Shares will be distributed to the Vendor upon fulfillment of new
consideration; and

The Company shall issue to the Vendor the promissory notes of
HK$20,295,000 (subject to adjustment) on the effective date.

TTEEREERRASEHERREHRTRER
BTFE=ZRREWZRANE - 2 FERDDSHE
AERREEREHRFA-BAREEEESX

HE

MyEE -

AZE—=F+-A+—B > AQFHEHEH B
EELE - IBLZIRERIRE (REE]DT
VELERGE (ER0EEHED - LUSE
AfA-—E-—-—FN\A=t—HEEKRBREE
BrEBEHZEZE THRRREE - ERHOBEH
BZEERREINOT :

(1) BEREEHHEZERA
REBREEBTIBREEHEZERAZ
— FABRAEEHSEZEMEINRZE
BER 2 EAEEROR REEEKER
REBEMBZERAZ - XZHARAEE
REEHRRETNERAMEFEELST
B2 YR EBREME-

(2) HERZMGHR
183,716,667 2 A 8 R 7 ([ # £ & R
% 1) BLUERO0.1398 TR LM B I E X
BRBTREARRATEREATE - R
AERHEERMD & #£360,000,0008% Bz
7 GRAETERN (HETERD] - &
AERDERERFTHEFIRTES R

AARBREMBHMERERTELEE
20,295,000 T (ZRAFE) 2 ANFF
b
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22.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)

(3)

Consideration adjustment

The Vendor undertakes and guarantees to the Company that the
gross profit after tax of the Wealthy Wing Limited and its subsidiaries
(the “Target Group”) recorded in the management accounts prepared
in accordance with the IFRS for the period from 1 January 2014
to 31 December 2014 (“Year 2014"”) and the period from 1
January 2015 to 31 December 2015 (“Year 2015") will not be
less than HK$10,000,000 (“2014 Consideration Adjustment”) and
HK$10,000,000 (“2015 Consideration Adjustment”) respectively.

If the Target Group can meet the respective target(s) of 2014
Consideration Adjustment and/or 2015 Consideration Adjustment,
the Vendor will be entitled to 180,000,000 shares for Year 2014
and 180,000,000 shares for Year 2015.

In case that the Vendor fails to obtain all the Total Escrow Shares
due to the failure in reaching the target of the new consideration
adjustment, the Company and the Vendor agree and confirm that the
Company has the right to sell the Total Escrow Shares not distributed
to the Vendor to any designated person of the Company at a nominal
consideration of HK$1.

The EGM has been passed all related resolutions on 14 February
2014 and the Fifth Supplemental Agreement was become effective
on 21 February 2014. Please refer to the Circular dated 28 January
2014 for further details.

No New Escrow shares has been released to the vendor up to date
of this annual report.

23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Unlisted equity
securifies in

BEELTRAES
B

Hong Kong, at cost

22.TESMEE (8])
FRERFLF ()

(3)

HEAZ
EFOARQAAERERRE R —HF—
BA—BZ=-Z-—WNE+=-A=+-0HH
=2—mEENR=-ZF—HF—HF—H
E_Z-HAF+-A=+-B(==Z—-1
FE)ERREBVEREEAGRZER
BREFMTCHEZEXERAAREMEL
ATEEE@E]) BRBEEENEINTIR
10,000,000 T ([ E—MEHEAE])
%10,000,0008 T (= ZE— A FHEH
®]) o

A EEEREN - NFHEAER
R-E-AFHERRHAEEE BEHR
TE-NEER-Z-AFEXZUSNES
#180,000,000/% % 180,000,000/ Bz 13 °

EBEREREEIHEERAEBRMK
BEIEAEZRTERND - ALARESRE
BERER  ARDEESULEIBRTELTZ
BAERDUBEREIBRLHETAAH
EAEEAL -

BEBIAER-_Z—NF_ATHAB
BREHEBRAER MELGERHRER=
Z-NOFE_A-+—R&EXR - BEE—FFH
15 E2HEMA-_T—NF—-—A=1+/\H
2B ©

BERFHRAY WEXEROVDOWERT
B

23. i HESMEE

The Group The Company
xEME ¥ /N
2014 2013 2014 2013
—Z-—mE —ET-—=F ZE-—WNE =—B-=F
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET THET T
1 1 1 1

The unlisted available-for-sale equity securities do not have a quoted market

price in an active market are measured at cost less impairment at each

reporting period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so

significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the fair

value cannot be reliably measured.
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24.TRADE RECEIVABLES

85 EWRIE

Trade receivables

24. BHBEBREA
The Group
A%EH
2014 2013
—E—mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
1,321 21,381

The aged analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

0 to 30 days 0=30H
31 to 60 days 31E60R
61 to 90 days 61290H
91 to 180 days 91Z2180H
Over 180 days #iB180H
Total #at

B RWHIEZREDTUT :

The Group
%HE
2014 2013
—E—mEF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TET FET
1,321 -
- 11,376
- 322
- 104
- 9,579
1,321 21,381

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a
range of credit periods not exceeding 180 days fo its trade customers.
Trade receivables are all denominated in RMB.

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged
analysis) which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which
the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful debts because
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts
are still considered recoverable.

Age of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired

Overdue by: B
Over 180 days #iB180H
Total Bzt

RETAEFZEETR  AEAATESEF
ZEEBTEBICOE - B8 MKHERBUA
RAHE -

EXFRE B S RURIERERNRE S RAH
MAEBREEERYES KRS CREFERIAMD
KRR E ML ERREERBE 2R (R
TXHBERER D) °

ERHEXRBEEZRABEHRAZIRE

The Group
*5ME

2014 2013
—F—mEF —B—=fF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TET FTHER
- 9,579
- 9579

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the directors of
the Company consider any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit were initially granted up fo the reporting
date. Accordingly, the directors of the Company considered that provision
for impairment is value be made in respect of trade receivables to their
recoverable values and believe that there is no credit provision required in
excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

EETESRERRREZAEREER  AARE
EEZREZRUNEZFEEREASRUE
EEMEEREANBB AR - Bt - &
NAESRAAHESREFRFEREERER
TEWEE THEEARBHREER ZE8
EHEEZER -
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25.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 25. & RMAFRARAEMEKRRTR
RECEIVABLES
The Group The Company
FKE . 3/
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-mE —2-= —Z—nmE —2-=

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FERT TET FTRET FTET

Deposits ®e 1,246 3,698 - -

Prepayments B RIE 6,380 6,561 1,960 446

Other receivables HAib W TR IE 88,098 47,775 71,311 10,390

95,724 58,034 73,271 10,836
As at 31 March 2014, included in other receivables, approximately RZB-NF=ZA=+—8 st AHMEKRRE
HK$52,920,000 (2013: HK$Nil) was transferred from derivative financial Ed 52,920,000t (ZE—=ZF : 8 t)
assets (Note 22), approximately HK$8,000,000 (2013: HK$Nil) was DREBBTEEMEECHMBERRE B
the consideration receivables from disposal of subsidiaries (Note 40) 8,000,000 Tt (ZE—=F : T8 x) DEHE
and approximately HK$10,000,000 (2013: HK$10,000,000) was the KB AR mERZ2KRERL10,000,0008 T (=
deposits previously paid into High Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”) Z—=% 10,000,000 7T) J3 £ AT RLHIEE41 (b)
for an injunction order mentioned in Note 41(b). Rtz ZHcmEEBeEEk (S5EKk )X

T2RE -

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group recognised the RBEZZ-—NE=ZA=Z+-HLFE BERF
impairment loss of other receivable of approximately HK$5,679,000 KEBRERFEGZESB-FURFTXE
(2013: HK$Nil) upon disposal of Wealthy Wing Group, in the light of BB BRR  AEEREEEXKEERERA
the fact that the balances attributable to the current accounts of Wealthy b FE IR FRIE 2 B E E5 18 £95,679,00058 Tt (=&
Wing Group for over one year and the financial position of Wealthy Wing —ZF B8R EERR/ZFEZTATRE -

Group, the directors considered that the amount will not be recoverable.

26.DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND CASH AND CASH 26 BROFERERAERASEERE
EQUIVALENTS
The Group and the Company TRERFLTF
As at 31 March 2014, the fixed interest rate on fixed deposits with R-ZZB-WF=ZA=Z+—HB R=ZBEAEHZE
banks of HK$10,905,000 (2013: HK$10,891,000), with maturity three BHRITEMFRXAH0,9050008 T (ZF—=
month at 0.28% (2013: 0.1%) per annum. The deposits with banks were £ :10,891,000/8 ) » FRAEE0.28% (=&
denominated in HK$. —=F:10.1%) c FRAEBILEE °

121 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014



Notes to the Financial Statements

Br IS R AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 BE-Z-NFE=ZA=+—RAILFE

26.DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, deposits with banks and cash and cash
equivalents comprise of the followings:

Deposits with banks RITER
Cash and cash equivalents R R & EEEE

26. RITERRBEERASFERAE ()
REBEMF  RTFRRRERASEEERE

BT &I
The Group The Company
*%H . /N
2014 2013 2014 2013
ZE—mE —2-= —e—mE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FERT THET FTET TET
10,905 10,891 10,905 10,891
15,170 11,018 111 114
26,075 21,909 11,016 11,005

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following currencies:

RMB A%“ﬁ’v‘

HK$ BT
usD EY

RERRELEREBNUATIEREE

The Group The Company
*%H . /N

2014 2013 2014 2013

—e—mE —2-= —e—mE —Z2-=
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FERT TET FTRET FTET
4,771 10,721 - -
8,850 297 111 114
1,549 - - -
15,170 11,018 111 114

The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB out of
the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions imposed by
the government of the PRC.

Cash and cash equivalents carry interest at market rates which range from
1% to 2% per annum.

27.TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade payables by age based on the

invoice date.

0 to 30 days 0%30H

31 to 60 days 31HZE60H
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H
91 to 180 days 91HZ=180H
Over 180 days #iB180H
Total st

UIARBEBECRERREEEBEELFHEA
BFPEBFAER ZIIEESH o

RERBREEEREEDSNRFE N FEF
1%Z2% °

27. B HEMRIR
DT RERRAME S BT RE S o

The Group
*5H

2014 2013

—E—mF —FE—=
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THET FTER
110 -
- 11,102
- 312
- 8,608
110 20,022

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 180 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

BEETEmZFPHEEHRARIB0H - AEEE
BEHBEREEBER - URRREEMSRE
REERBERAZ( -
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28. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accrued liabilities Ritaf
Other payables = AN SE]

28. REtARRHEfMMEMKRIF

The Group The Company
*5%HE . 3/

2014 2013 2014 2013
ZE—mE —E-= —Z—mEF —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$' 000

FERT TET FRT FTET

172,433 174,207 160,200 160,903

2,045 31,984 901 11,206

174,478 206,191 161,101 172,109

Included in accrued liabilities of HK$158,600,000 (2013:
HK$158,600,000) was consideration payables for acquisition of Wealth
Gain Global Investment Limited (“Wealth Gain”). On 15 December 2009,
the Company issued legal proceedings against Mr. Hung in the High Court in
connection with the acquisition of Wealth Gain and also filed a statement of
claim against Mr. Hung for, inter alia, the rescission of the Agreement on 1
February 2010. Details please refer to Note 41.

29. AMOUNT(S) DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER(S)

Amount due to Hung Chen, Richael FEA R ([ EED

(“Mr. Hung”) (Nofe i| SOE (B 42i)
Amount due to ACE Channel FE{FACE Channel Limited
Limited (Note i) 08 (i 3ii)

ZFt8EH 158,600,000 T (=& —=
£ : 158,600,000 T) AU BERRRRESE
RAR(TERD 2EARE - RZZBZAF =
AtaE AL BESSERERLERMER
BF AREHEUEBER-F STFR-E-F
FZA-HEARERHRRFMEN (P

) BSEA R - IER R M4 -
29. B BREREA
The Group and the Company
FEERFLT

2014 2013

—E—mF —E-=ZF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET THET

17,118 16,238

- 6,977

17,118 23,215

Notes:

(i) The principal amount and interests and detail terms of amount due to Mr.
Hung are summarised as follows:

Bt -

(i) FEAREEZREZASRAEURF AR

BT -

1) HK$3,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 3 December 2009;

2) HK$8,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 8 March 2010; and

3) HK$1,600,000 advance is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

(i)  On 15 August 2011, the Company signed a shareholder’s loan facility
agreement of HK$20,000,000 with ACE Channel Limited, beneficially
owned by Mr. Gao Feng, a director of the Company, is unsecured,
bearing interest at a which the HSBC prime rate plus 1% (i.e. 6%) per
annum and due on 14 August 2012. On 12 September 2012, the
agreement has been extended for one year and due on 14 August 2013.
The shareholder’s loan was fully repaid during the year ended 31 March
2014.
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(ii)

1)

3,000,000 T ERBEERR  KEE
FREIWIHE R=BBhE+=-A=
HEIH

2) 8,000,000 TE MR A MK ZETE
FEREE%FE - R=ZE—ZFF=AN\R
E=B:: N

3) 1,600,000 TE2RAEEKA RER

BEREE -

RZZE——FENA+EHHB KA FHEACE
Channel Limited (A AR EESEREEBERE
BHADQT)%:720,000,0008 T2 RREFKEE
B ZREAREKR REFNRELRT
BREBRRMEM % (6% TR RR=FT—=
FNE+THBEEH R-ZFE——-—FhA+=

=i

ZHRCEER—F YR =—T—=F)N\
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30.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES O.fTEEMAR
The Group and the Company EEERFLT
Conversion
Acquisition option of
contingent convertible
consideration notes Total
U f CIE: Y28
ZHRKE Z BRI @t
(Note i) (Note ii)
(Ht&ti) (Ktazii)
At 1 April 2012 R-ZE——-FWAB—H 4,159 - 4,159
Issuance of convertible notes (Note 33) BT R IR (H3£33) - 3,583 3,583
Fair value changes ATEEZH (4,159) (563) (4,722)
Derecognition due to early redemption H 1R BB E mEUHER - (1,317) (1,317)
At 31 March 2013 R-ZZE—=F=A=+—H
and 1 April 2013 EZZE—-—=5mMAB—H - 1,703 1,703
Fair value changes AT EESH - 1,806 1,806
Derecognition of convertible notes BUBRE AR R EE
(Note 33) (B13£33) - (3,971) (3,971)
Issuance of convertible notes (Note 33) BATARR RIE (HEZ33) - 4,123 4,123
Conversion of convertible notes (Note 33) TR ZIE B (A2 33) - (3,661) (3,661)
At 31 March 2014 R-E—ME=ZA=+—H - - =
Notes: Wt

(i)

(ii)

The amount represented the cash bonus additionally granted to the
vendor of Wealthy Wing by the Group as the contingent consideration
of acquisition of subsidiaries. For details, please refer to Note 41(b). The
fair value is measured using the binomial option pricing model at initial
recognition and at the end of each reporting period.

On 18 June 2012, the Company entered into a convertible note
(“Convertible Notes 2012") subscription agreement (the “Subscription
Agreement”) with an independent subscriber (the “Subscriber”) pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the
Subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe for Convertible Notes
2012, which can be convertible at the option of the note holder into the
Company’s ordinary shares of HK$0.01 at a conversion price of HK$0.2
each up to the second anniversary of the issue date of the Convertible
Notes 2012.

Where the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
quoted on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the period
commencing from the date of issue of the Convertible Notes 2012 and
ending on the 180th day thereafter (both days inclusive) (the “180 Days’
ACP”) falls below the conversion price, the conversion price shall be
adjusted to an amount equal to the higher of (i) the 180 Days’ ACP or
(i) the then par value of the shares with effect from 4:30p.m. on the day
falling the 180th day affer the date of issue of the Convertible Notes
2012.

As such, the adjustment on conversion price will give rise to the settlement
by the exchange of a non-fixed amount of cash for a non-fixed number
of shares of the Company. The conversion option is therefore accounted
for as a derivative financial liability on the commitment date and
subsequently measured at fair value. The fair value is measured using
the binomial option pricing model at initial recognition and at the end of
each reporting period.

(ii)

RZREEASEENMNMTEXEIZREA
A ERRENBARDZRARE BEF
15 BE2REKE41(b) e AFERDSEIRR
EEBEHRKA-BABEEERAE -

73’\\‘_—\,—_5/\}%-1')\5 AR EE— %Zﬁi
RBA(RBADIZATRREE (=
fﬁ—J?ﬁ’HﬁmTFJ) E%Tﬁ%%(?“%’rﬁ%nij)
It ARFEBRERZRT MR ﬂ%AEﬁ
REBERBE-_ZT-—_FTRREE  E7H
EERAEARENUBARESROBTREAR
AREBROOIBIZEER HEE-T—=
FHRREBRTAHBMAF 2HL -

ZHXMEERERMBEE2ARGBR=Z
——EABRREBRITAYEREHZEI80R
IR (EEERmA) Az PR HE (180
AW HE]D REERARRE  BRREEH
—E-—FUHEREBRTHHEEIB0RE
ATHFOE=+tAE BAEZRERUATERS
EMSH : (i)1808 FH W E=R(ii) R 7 E B
ZHEfE -

Rt RREAESEREAREESE
ReXRAETHE 2 A ARDETLEE o
Ht - SRR RS A A BRI S ME
& LNHERATESE - APERDSHE
BRASEREHARA AR METEER
e
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31.BORROWINGS 31. &8
The Group The Company
FKE 3|
Original
Notes  currency 2014 2013 2014 2013
g RE% ~E-mE —E-= —Z-mE —E-=
HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
FTHET THET FT#ERT TERT
Current liabilities B AR
-~ Bank borrowings —RITEE
- secured -BE#A (i) RMB - 14,682 - -
- Other borrowings -Hittf5E ARH
- unsecured — K (ii) HK$ - 2,600 - 2,600
BT
Total borrowings BEEHE - 17,282 - 2,600
Notes: o

(i) As at 31 March 2013, bank borrowings of HK$14,682,000 are
repayable within one year, bear fixed interest rate at 9.6% per annum
and secured by the properties owned by a non-controlling shareholder
of Derong. The loan has been repaid during the year ended 31 March
2014.

(i) As at 31 March 2013, the unsecured other borrowings bear interest at
2.50% per month and repayable on 19 April 2013. The loan has already
been repaid subsequently on 21 June 2013.

32. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

As at 31 March 2014, the total future minimum lease payments under
finance leases and their present value were as follows:

() RZEB-—=%=A=+—-—H0 RITHEE
14,682,000 T ER —FREE KEF
9.6% 2 BEM R B » W LNERIEIERREFT
BAZYEEER ZERRBE-Z—NF
ZA=+-HLFECEHEE-

(i) R=ZB—=F=ZA=+-—80 > S&EKHLMmE
BERSA250% 8 UAR-E—=FMNA
THEEE ZEERCHEER-Z—Z=F
RAZt+—HEEZ-

2. MEHENRE
R-Z-ME=A=+—H0 REBERIEN
ZAKBEESRHEZREMT :

The Group
*T%ME
2014 2013
—Z—mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$" 000
THET FET
Total minimum lease payments REBEEFIALHE
— Due within one year ——FRIH - 5,873
— Due in the second year —EZF 3B - 767
- 6,640
Less: future finance charges on W RMEHECRRBEER
finance leases - (682)
Present value of lease obligations HABE2RE - 5,958
Present value of finance lease liabilities MEHEREEZRE
— Due within one year ——F R EH - 5,235
— Due in the second year —EZF 3 - 723
= 5,058
Less: Current portion due within one W EFARBEE - FREH
year included under current ZRE M
liabilities - (5,235)
Non-current portion included under FTAFERBEBEZIREEH
non-current liabilities - 723
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32.OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Group leases the following

assets and classified as finance leases:

(1)

(2)

A motor vehicle having remaining lease terms of 12 months. The

interest rate is 1.7% per annum.

A set of plant and machinery having remaining lease terms of 5

quarters. The interest rate is 15% per annum. The guarantees are

provided and equity is pledged for the finance lease arrangement:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company will provide a guarantee in favour of the lessor
for the lease payment, handling fee or other payables by
MCT(B));

The entire registered capital of MCT(BJ) will be pledged in
favour of the lessor by Multi Century Technology Development
Limited;

Mr. Gao Feng, the Vice-Chairman of the Company, will provide
a personal guarantee in favour of the lessor; and

During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Group had
returned the plant and machinery to the supplier and terminated
the finance leases. The supplier will return the cost of the plant

and machinery of approximately HK$2,009,000 to the Group.

2. MEHEWMRE (R
BEZZE-=ZF=ZA=+t—-HLFE x&EHA
ETHEEY D EARMERE :

(1)

(2)

BTHEHHE+ZEAZ WA= -FRESF
1.7% °

BRTHBAEZE 2 —ARERER - FIX
AEFI15% HBEREZHREMANTER
RAE R

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RAREMALEML () BN 2
ENR FEELHMENFIBBAZ
HEANRAHER

AENRBERAERQIASEMAILCLE
ft (ER) 22 FEMEATFZEAA

AATDEEEBEEEBAZEEA
RUBARE: R

RBEE-Z-WNF=ZA=+—-HL
FE - AKECAOMHERRE KR
RRE LRIERERE - HEDHS
MAEERERBERRBZIRAELN
2,009,000 7t °
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 33. Al B R 4%
The carrying values of the liability component of the convertible notes are ARRZEEEDDIIRAENT
as follows:
Convertible Convertible
Notes Notes
2008 2012
—EENE —E-ZF Total
AR AR &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THERT THET
Current Non-current
e FRE
(Note (i) (Note (ii))
(HtEt(i) (Ki#tii)
Liability component ARBH
At 1 April 2012 RZE-ZHWAB—H 157,014 - 157,014
Fair value of convertible notes issued ERTURREEZAFE - 11,417 11,417
Imputed interest expense charged (Note 9) ST M EMX (HF9) 16,486 2,171 18,657
Interest expense payable ERRMERX - (1,184) (1,184)
Redemption of convertible notes BEARREE - (4,311) (4,311)
At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013 W-ZE-Z5=ZA=t—H
kR=—Z2-=5IMA—H 173,500 8,093 181,593
Imputed interest expense charged (Note 9) 2R B (M7Z9) - 903 903
Interest expense payable BERERX - (460) (460)
Derecognition of convertible notes BUERRTRRERE - (8,536) (8,536)
Fair value of convertible notes issued ERTIULEREEZATE - 8,415 8,415
Conversion of convertible notes TRREEBRR - (8,415) (8,415)
At 31 March 2014 R-E—WME=R=+—H 173,500 - 173,500
Notes: MEsE :

(i) On 31 March 2008, the Company issued HK$345,000,000 zero coupon
convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes 2008”) which as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Wealth Gain and its subsidiary (the
“Wealth Gain Group”). Aggregate amount of HK$171,500,000 was
converted into the ordinary shares of the Company in prior years. The
remaining balance of HK$173,500,000 was matured on 30 March
2013, and therefore, the balance was classified as current liabilities.
Convertible Notes 2008 matured on 30 March 2013 and the Company
did not request the holders for mandatory conversion, therefore the
convertible note equity reserve was released to accumulated losses.
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345,000,000 t 2 ZEE A BRBRERE (=
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171,500,000 T IR EA FEBRAERAF
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33.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

The terms of the Convertible Notes 2008 are as follows:

a.  convertible at the option of the note holders into fully paid ordinary
shares on or after 31 March 2008 and up to and including 30
March 2013 at a conversion price of HK$0.5 per share;

b.  redeemable at the option of the Company at 100% of their principal
amount at any time and from time to time, by written to notice to
redeem the whole or part of the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible notes; and

c.  convertible at the option of the Company to request the note
holders for mandatory conversion of the prescribed amount of the
convertible notes on or after the fifth anniversary of the issue date.

The Convertible Notes 2008 do not bear interest on the principal amount
of the notes outstanding. The Convertible Notes 2008 will be redeemed
on maturity at a value equal to the aggregate of its principal amount
outstanding.

The Convertible Notes 2008 are denominated in HK$ which is the same
as the functional currency of the note issuing entity. As such, the exercise
of the conversion option will give rise to the settlement by the exchange of
a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of shares of the Company. The
conversion option is therefore accounted for as an equity instrument and
is determined after deducting the liability component and the derivative
component from the total proceeds.

The embedded derivatives relating to the Company’s early redemption
option in Note (b) above which are not closely related to the host contract
shall be separately measured and included together with the liabilities
component as a financial liability. The fair value of the derivative
component is determined based on the valuation using binomial option
pricing model. The fair value of the liabilities component is determined
based on the valuation performed by an independent valuer, Savills
Valuation and Professional Services Limited, using discounted cash flow
method. The effective interest rate of the host contract is determined to
be 10.5%. The residual amount is assigned as the equity component for
the conversion option and was included in the convertible notes equity
reserve.

The liability component is carried as a current liability on the amortised
cost basis until extinguished or conversion or redemption. The derivative
component of the Convertible Notes 2008 is subsequently measured
at fair value with changes recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. The value of the equity component is not
remeasured in subsequent years.

On 22 January 2010, the High Court granted an ex parte Injunction
Order against Mr. Hung, the convertible Notes 2008 holder. The
Injunction Order provides, among other things, that unless with the
approval of the High Court, Mr. Hung must not, either by himself, his
servants or agents or otherwise howsoever in any way dispose of or
deal with or diminish the value of the Convertible Notes 2008 issued by
the Company to Mr. Hung. Detail please refer to the Note 41(b) for the
litigation.

33. Al Bk R i (48)

“EENFHURREBRZGRAOT

a. EBEBEAUREBR-_ZTTNEZ=ZA
=+ -BREEE=—ZT-—=F=ZA=+
B (B8fF%ZB)BEROSBITZRKRER
TRBREEERABEIEER

b. ZAAFUEREREAKERFABEEAS
HZ100%ETEE - FXAARLERRE
AR 2 FP o ERAD AR R R B 2 R ME
BRESHE R

c. ALRTAUERERBITHHENSRDAF
FEHABRREFEARTERRAES
BeUBRREE-

“EENFURREBIFRAEREZAESH
PR ZEZENFURRRES RN MR
EREREEFASHRBECEEMER -

“EENFURRRBELUBUAE - TSR
TRECEEBNDIRER - Alt - BEREZT
EHEHUBE TSR REBLNEEHE 2
ARAERM - MREALZESTAEZAIRXA
IR XRAABHREAEREEEBORITET
BRMERETE -

B EXHEb) 2ARREEEZBRARITE
TR HEIANIERYER EIMTE
WU BEEBE2 A AEGND - STETA
ZAFERN-BEANEEERNET 2GE
REEMEE - BEBH A FERREB L
HEME - AFPRERGEREXBRAERA
AUMRERERF FETZAENEE - £6
HWBBRNEDEER10.5% FpSHEDE
ABREZEHEIG  WEFTFATRREERE
i -

BEBONRBERAEEINERDEEGE B
EFEEFIBRRFAEERLE - —FBNFHRRK
REZITETARDERRATENE 28
RESEHESRRER - BEBH2EETS
RERFEEHTE -

R-E—ZTF—A-+-H aEikREH_—_=
T N\FEUBRBREE2FE AR CEEMBERE
BHS  HESHATE (HRERE)  RIEESS
LR E  BERLETERE  EBHES
BAZREHLZTUFEMARNEEREE A
AFBARERTZ_EZN\EAEREE
REHEBEERD - BREFRRZFBEFSHEME
41(b) °

Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014 128



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% ¥R AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2014 EHz—-%—

HE=A=+—HLFE

33.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

(ii)

On 6 July 2012, the Company issued Convertible Notes 2012 at a
principal amount of HK$15,000,000 for cash to Growing Around
Holdings Limited (“GAHL"), an independent third party. The Convertible
Notes 2012 bear an interest of 12% per annum payable in cash semi-
annually.

The terms of the Convertible Notes 2012 are as follows:

a.  convertible at the option of the note holders into fully paid ordinary
shares on up to second anniversary of the issue date at a conversion
price of HK$0.2 per share;

b.  where the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
quoted on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the
180 Days’ ACP falls below the conversion price, the conversion
price shall adjusted to an amount equal to the higher of (i) the 180
Days’ ACP or (i) the then par value of the shares with effect from
4:30p.m. on the day falling the 180th day after the date of issue of
the Convertible Notes 2012;

c. redeemable at the option of the note holder at 100% of the
principal amount at any time and from time to time, by written to
notice to redeem the whole of the convertible notes; and

d.  unless previously converted or purchased or redeemed, any
outstanding convertible notes shall be redeemed on the maturity
date at the redemption amount which is 100% of the principal
amount of the convertible notes by the Company.

Since the 180 Days’ ACP fell below the conversion price of HK$0.20,
the principal amount of HK$5,325,000 (the “Adjustment’) was early
redeemed during the year ended 31 March 2013.

On 18 July 2013, GAHL transferred the Convertible Notes 2012 and all
rights in respect thereof to Mr. Lin Long (the “Subscriber”) pursuant to the
captioned terms and conditions therein. GAHL did not convert any part of
the Convertible Note 2012 prior to the said transfer. As at 10 July 2013,
the interest payable amounts to HK$2,007,360 (the “Payable Interest”)
have not been settled by the Company. As such, the Adjustment and the
Payable Interest prior to the transfer was HK$7,332,360.

On 25 July 2013, the Company and the Subscriber entered into the
2nd supplemental agreement (the “2nd Supplemental Agreement’) in
respect of proposed amendments to the terms and conditions of the
Convertible Notes 2012. Pursuant to the 2nd Supplemental Agreement,
the Convertible Notes 2012 has been amended as follow:

a. the Convertible Notes 2012 shall bear an interest at 6% per annum;
b. the Company shall settle the Adjustment and the Payable Interest
by way of issue and allotment of 56,840,000 ordinary shares at
HK$0.129 per share (the “Replacement Shares”) to the Subscriber

in lieu of payment in cash; and

c.  the conversion price be adjusted to HK$0.129.

129 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014

33. Al Ax R i (48)

(ii)

RZE-—ZFLtARHE ARAABIE=FH
Growing Around Holdings Limited ((GAHL)
BITARSEE15,000,0008 T2 —F——F0
BRREBUBDRE - —E-—FABRKREE
BREFMNRI2EANE  EE¥EUREXM -

“E-CHEAURRRBZGROT

a. EBEAATEERITRREERTA
Mo BAFARERO2ETZRRE
BUBRREEERBBREER

b, EHIXAEARERMISOBFHKRHE
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BRE BREAH-FT--"FAUHRKR
ZERTHRHESE ISOEEEEITfFEﬁ
=toR ARZHERUTERSEN
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33.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)

Following the issue and allotment of the Replacement Shares, the principal
amount of Convertible Notes 2012 is reduced by the amount of the
Adjustment from HK$15,000,000 to HK$9,675,000. The note holder is
entitled to exercise 75,000,000 ordinary shares at HK$0.129 per share
(the “New Conversion Shares”).

An extraordinary meeting held on 16 August 2013, it has been approved
the changes of terms and condition as well as the allotment and issve of
the Replacement Shares and New Conversion Shares. The listing approval
was obtained on 19 August 2013. The Subscriber of the Convertible
Notes 2012 tendered to the Company a conversion notice to exercise
all the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Notes 2012. The
Company has issued and allotted 56,840,000 Replacement Shares and
75,000,000 New Conversion Shares to the Subscriber on 23 August
2013.

The Convertible Notes 2012 exhibits characteristics of an embedded
derivatives and is separated from the liability component. On initial
recognition, the embedded derivative component of the Convertible
Notes 2012 was measured at fair value and presented as derivative
financial liabilities. Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the embedded derivatives component is recognised as
liability component. At each reporting date, the embedded derivative
component is remeasured and the change in fair value of that component
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. The fair value of the embedded derivatives have
been determined by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuer.

Upon changes of terms and conditions of Convertible Notes 2012
pursuant to the 2nd Supplemental Agreement (i.e. 19 August 2013),
the original terms and conditions of Convertible Notes 2012 and the
respective derivative financial liabilities were derecognised. The new fair
value of Convertible Notes 2012 and derivative financial liabilities were
immediately recognised in accordance with the revised terms.

For further details, please refer to the circular dated 1 August 2013.

33. Al Ax R i (48)
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34.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by the
Group and the Company and movements thereon:

4. RERHARKR
AT AAEERALDER 2+ EEELIES K
RAEPED :

The Group and
the Company
FRERFLTE

Convertible

notes

A% B R i

HK$" 000

FERT

At 1 April 2012 R-ZZE——-FWMA—H 2,720
Credit to consolidated statement of comprehensive FARAFTAGEEZHEBRE

income for the year (2,459)

At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013 R-ZE—=F=A=+—HKR=-Z—=5NA—H 261
Credit to consolidated statement of comprehensive FAFAGRES2HEHBER

income for the year (261)

At 31 March 2014

R-Z—NE=A=+—H -

At 31 March 2014, the Group had unused estimated tax losses of
approximately HK$151,987,003 (2013: HK$141,719,000) available for
offset against future profits. Tax losses of approximately HK$16,487,000
(2013: HK$23,195,000) will expire after five years from the year
of assessment they relate to while tax losses of approximately
HK$135,500,000 (2013: HK$118,524,000) can be carried forward
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

At 31 March 2014, the Company had unused estimated tax losses of
approximately HK$83,956,000 (2013: HK$72,021,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
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35.PROMISSORY NOTE - THE GROUP AND THE

COMPANY

On 21 February 2014, the Company issued a two-year non-interest
bearing promissory note in the principal amount of HK$20,295,000 (“the
Promissory Note”) as part of the consideration adjustment under the Fifth
Supplemental Agreement (Note 22). The fair value of the Promissory Note
at the date of issue was estimated to be HK$11,208,000 based on the
effective interest rate of 34.6% per annum.

Movements of the Promissory Note during the year are as follows:

At 1 April REA—A
Fair value of promissory note issued
Imputed interest expenses charged (Note 9)

At 31 March R=ZA=+—H

BRTALREBEZAFE
2 HIRREE R 25 X (FFFED)

5. XRFE FKEREFLF

REZZB-OFZAZ+—-H - AQF#TEE
$820,295,000%8 T 2 M F M BB &R R iE (7R
AEBD FAEIOBRBETARAEREZ
—E2 (MaE22) - RIEFFI4.6% 2 ERFI R
FECOAREBERBTEHAZAFEGTER
11,208,000% 7t °

AARBRAFEZEZBUT !

2014 2013
—E—mE —E-Z=F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FET FERT

11,208 -

403 -

11,611 -

The Promissory Note is subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method. An imputed interest expenses of approximately
HK$403,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2014.

As at 31 March 2014, the fair value of the Promissory Note was
approximately HK$11,514,000 (2013: Nil).

The fair value of the promissory note at the date of issuance and at the
reporting date are determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the valuation performed by APAC Asset Valuation and
Consulting Limited, an independent firm of professional valuer using
discounted cash flow approach.

AARBEHRRAERNREZRBHERATE -
HEHEFEMZHN403,0008 tERBE=-F— N
FZR=t-HLEFEZBRPER -

RIE—NF=A=+—HB AALEBEZAFE
#XHE11,514,0008 T (ZF—=45F : &) o

AARBERBETHHRRRE AN ZAFEDHEAR
RAEEZTHEUEEMEEMITEREETER
BEEARABMET ZAERBRRREESRES
EHEE e
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36.SHARE CAPITAL 36.&F
The Group and the Company
FEERFLT
Number of shares Amount
BB E &
2014 2013 2014 2013
—E-mE —T-=f ZZ-mME C"—B-=F
000 000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
T TR TET TET
Authorised: HE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 SREE0.018 T
each ZEBR 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000 60,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At beginning of the year RER 2,062,353 1,636,520 20,623 16,365
Placing of shares (Note (i)) BERS (A1) 698,470 174,000 6,985 1,740
Consideration shares (Note (ii] and (iii)) RERA (B 2ii| R (i) 358,899 251,833 3,589 2,518
Replacement shares (Noes (iv)) BRBRM (A i) 56,840 - 568 -
Conversion of convertible ARREBRR (HEv)
notes (Note (iv)) 75,000 - 750 -
At end of the year REL 3,251,562 2,062,353 32,515 20,623
Notes: M -

() On 25 October 2012, the Company through a placing agent, placed
174,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at the placing price of HK$0.115
for a total consideration, before expenses, of HK$20,010,000. The
proceed was used for general working capital of the Group.

On 21 June 2013, the Company through a placing agent, placed
412,470,000 shares of par value HK$0.01 each at a placing price of
HK$0.08 for a total consideration, before expenses, of HK$32,998,000.
The proceeds is utilised by the Group as its general working capital and
to finance the future/acquisition when investment opportunities arise.

On 6 December 2013, the Company placed to a subscriber of
286,000,000 shares of par value HK$0.01 each at a placing
price of HK$0.115 for a total consideration, before expenses, of
HK$32,890,000. The proceeds for general working capital purposes
and/or financing any potential investment shall such opportunity arises in
the future.
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36.SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

On 4 October 2013, the Company through a wholly-owned subsidiary
acquired 30% of the entire issued share capital of Global Mining
Engineer Inc. (“Global Mining”). The Company issued 175,182,000
consideration shares (the “GM Consideration Shares”) as consideration
for the acquisition of Global Mining. The fair value of the GM
Consideration Shares, determined based on the closing market price of
the Company on the acquisition date of HK$0.147 per share, amounted
to approximately HK$25,752,000. The issue of the GM Consideration
Shares has resulted in the increase in share capital and share premium
account of the Company by HK$1,752,000 and HK$24,000,000
respectively.

On 31 August 2012, the Company completed the subscription of 70.97%
equity interest of Zhan Sheng Group. The Company issued 251,833,333
consideration shares (the “Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares”) as part
of the consideration for the acquisition of Zhan Sheng. The fair value of
the Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares, determined based on the closing
market price of the Company on the acquisition date of HK$0.199 per
share, amounted to approximately HK$50,115,000. The issue of the
Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares has resulted in the increase in share
capital and share premium account of the Company by HK$2,518,000
and HK$47,597,000 respectively.

On 11 December 2013, the Company signed the fifth supplemental
agreement (the “the Fifth Supplemental Agreement”) for the amendment
of certain terms and condition in relation to the acquisition of Zhan
Sheng Group. The Company issued 183,716,667 as new consideration
shares (“New Zhan Sheng Consideration Shares”) on 21 February 2014
under the Fifth Supplemental Agreement. The fair value of the New Zhan
Sheng Consideration Shares, determined based on the closing market
price of the Company on the acquisition date of HK$0.182 per share,
amounted to approximately HK$33,436,000. The issue of the New Zhan
Sheng Consideration Shares has resulted in the increase in share capital
and share premium account of the Company by HK$1,837,000 and
HK$31,599,000 respectively.

On 23 August 2013, the note holder converted all the conversion
rights attaching to the Convertible Notes 2012, The Company issued
and allotted 56,840,000 Replacement Shares and 75,000,000 New
Conversion Shares at the conversion price of HK$0.129 per share. As
a result of the conversion, share capital and share premium increased
by HK$568,000 and HK$6,764,000 for Replacement Shares and
HK$750,000 and HK$11,326,000 for New Conversion Shares
respectively.

36. 8 & (&)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

RZZB-Z51+ANE AR AEBZEMN
BLARANBRERBEXIRAERARA ([RR
BE) 2MEBITRAZ30% - AR FET
175,182,000 X B 13 (GMIE R £ 1) 1E
A W BEGlobal Miningz #8 X & - GMRKE
BRO2AFERERRIRDAKEER 2
W EER0.147B TEE) £525,752,000
BT BIICGMRERNCERA LT ZR
AR R MIEERD BIE 1,752,000 T K
24,000,000/ 7T °

AZE-—ZFENRB=tT-HB FAQARTK
RBRAKEZ70.97%RE - A DA HT
251,833,333 E RN [RERERSD D
ERABBRE <HBONE RERERNZL
FEMBBERAATARDRUBEH zBHES
BRO.199B THEE) K550,115,00058 7T © 2
TRERERODEEHAX AR ZBREARRD G
B ik 2 518 02,518,000 7T & 47,597,000
BT e

REZZE-=5+ZA+—-B FRRAHTER
nExHE (FLOBEHRE]  UERTA
BUBRSEE2E THRARMKSE - KON
—E-EOFEZACZH-ARBETOHRGER
B17183,716,667RIMRERN (THRANKE
B - HRERERGD 2AFE(REFR
ARNDAUEBRBZKWTEER0. 1828 THE
TE)#%333,436,00058 T - BHITHREINER
NEBHA QLT 2 RAR R EERD BIE N
1,837,000/ T &% 31,599,000 T °

R-ZE—=FENA=-+=H EBEZFEHAE
BRCE-_FREREEMMT 22 BRRK
> ADFBITRE 56,840,000 & K &
3 % 75,000,000 2R IRH > BRRELS
f&0.129% T - BZBR  RARRM EZER
ERIRH 2 B N568,0005 T K% 6,764,000
& T Rk B R IR AR 40 2 B3 750,000 T &
11,326,000/ Jt °
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37.RESERVES 37. 0w

(a) The Group (a) &KE
Exchange reserve EZFE
Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets FEBAEEENEBEEFEAHIRE
of the Group’s foreign operations from their functional currencies ERREEAEBENEH (BT 2B
to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) are REFEERAEGEZEWREERL RN
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated ELRE ZERERRBRITZELEZER
in the exchange reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in EHEBNERBEHR VP ESIER -

the exchange reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the foreign operation.

(b) The Company (b) 2%
The detail movement of reserves of the Company is as follows: ARABRBENFALHMOT ¢

Convertible  Shares held

Share notes for share Share
premium  Contributed Accumulated equity award options Warrant
account surplus losses reserve scheme reserve reserve Total
THERE BAEMHY L1 Rhia
R ARE HARR AR (1] FiEke il (1] &8

HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
TiEn TEn TiEn TiEn Tén TiEn Tin Thn

[Nofe i] [Nofe i) [Note iii) [Note iv) [Note v)
(i) (i) (i) (fiétiv) (fztv)

A1 April 2012 RZE-ZEmA-A 593,700 7,076 (880,644) 30,568 4,986) 8,185 2,164 (243,937)
Loss for the year EnER - - (74,594) - - - - (74,594)
Share opfions granted ERLBRE - - - - - 3,088 - 3,088
Share options lapsed BANERE - - 89 - - (89) - -
Release upon maturity of TARZEIBRER

convertible notes - - 30,568 30,568) - - - -
Placing of shares BERB 18,270 2 5 s - - - 18,270
Consideration shares RERH 47,597 = S = S - - 47,597
Share issuing expenses ROBARE [216) - - - - - - 216)
At 31 March 2013 and R-F-Z£=fA=t-H

1 Aprl 2013 B-2-=£RE-A 639,351 7076 (924581) Y R IALY 2064 [(4979)
Loss for the year EnER - - (82,336 - - - - (82,336)
Conversion of convertible notes TRREEAR 11,326 - - - - - = 11,326
Replacement shares ERRA 6,764 - - - - - - 6,764
Placing of shares RERR 58,903 - - - - - = 58,903
Consideration shares RERSD 55,599 - - - - - = 55,599
Share issuing expenses R &AHX (367) - - - - - - 367)
At 31 March 2014 RZZ-MEZR=+-H 791,576 7,076 (1,006,917 - (4,986) 11,184 2,164 (199,903)
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37. f#fm (#8)

37.RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation during the year ended 31 March 2002,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore and the capitalisation of the 30,000,000 shares allotted
and issued nil paid. Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances. Details of distributable reserve are set out in page
50 of the consolidated financial statements.

Convertible notes equity reserve

The convertible notes equity reserve represents the equity component
(conversion rights) of the HK$345,000,000 zero coupon convertible
notes (i.e. the Convertible Notes 2008) issued on 31 March 2008
(Note 33).

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Convertible Notes
2008 was matured and the balance of convertible notes equity
reserve was fransferred to the accumulated losses.

Shares held for share award scheme

The shares held for share award scheme is the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs for purchase
of shares under the Share Award Scheme, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 3(p).

Share options reserve

The share options reserve relates to share options granted
to employees under the employee share option plan. Further
information about share-based payments to employees is set out in

Note 38.
Warrant reserve

On 28 September 2011, the Company, through a placing agent,
issued 230,000,000 unlisted warrants at an issue price of HK$0.01
per warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe
for one ordinary share of HK$0.01 each at a subscription price of
HK$0.39 per share, payable in cash and subject to adjustment,
from the date of issue (i.e. 28 September 2011) of the warrants to
the expiry (i.e. 27 September 2014), which is 36 months. The total
cash consideration, before related expenses, of HK$2,300,000.

As at 31 March 2014, all warrants are remained outstanding.

(b) & 47 (#)
Hrat -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

BARBER

AATZHBABBRERERBE=-ZZ
—HF=ZA=+T-BLEERETZEE
BEAMBAZHBARRGZATE &
HEABEZEWBLARRMOMETZ
ARABRMOEE 2 EERE RN L FTEL 3
K 817:230,000,0008% 7 #4 A% 7 AR 15 ©
RENSHEARE(ZEE—FER
BT » RO TEETHERUBAR
BIERNZRERRRELHDIK - NDF
ALY IRFEE 2 FBERERGEMHRE
#508 -

BB EEEREE

TRREEERFEER -2 NE=A
=+ — B #172345,000,000%& Tt E 2
TRRERRE (MW -_Z2ZENFARRRE)
Z D (RIRHE) (IEE33) »

REBE-Z-—=F=ZA=+—HLFE
—ER)N\FURKREEIY AUERRK
REERRECHEDEREREE -

B 40 22 b=t &I T I AR 4

RIS (p) Tl 2 E5TBUR - R B
SEFTEFRO M 2RE  8FER
BRORBIIBERG 2EMNEERE
IEIBERA -

BRERE

BREFEERBEEESBRESERT
BEEZBREERE FHHESHFHZ
DTSR ZIE — BB HHIEESS -

AR

RZE——FAA=Z+NH KXQAAE
BEERERENARER00IBITZ
2% {7{E %£17230,000,0004 3 £ 1 52 %
EE - BORAREZRTFHIEEAER
ARRBREFZITER (=2 ——FHh
B=-+NH)BZEE®R2ZA (I=F—MN
FAA=ZT+tRH)(HAE36MER) ZRER
09T RBERB-—REREE
0.01BLT2EER  AURESEZN A
AEHAR - AR SKRE (RINBRERE
A2 Al 52,300,000/ T °

RZZB-WNFE=ZA=+—-HB FFERAR
BRDARITRE -
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38.SHARE OPTIONS 38. iR &

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any directors and employees of the
Company, including all executive directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 8 October 2010 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share option in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
would be determined by the directors.

The exercise price of the share options would be determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the
share options, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer, provided that the subscription
price shall not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.
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38.SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 38. MRk ()
Share-based payment transactions (continued) DERMEERZFARESH (E)
The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an BEFREECEREZLATFTERRA —EHEER
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a share option reserve o MERAENEBSHELM - ZLFE
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the Black- DREBEHALHRBREERBER ZBRRK
Scholes- Merton option pricing model, taking into account the terms and HERUEHREHEEEENGTE -
conditions upon which the options were granted.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at BRESEAEBRUERERERRAS LRE
shareholders’ meetings.
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2014 are as BE-Z-NE=A=1+-ALFEBRELS
follows: mr

Number of share options

Exercisable Exercisable
Category of Date of grant period price per share Outstanding Granted Lapsed  Outstanding at
Participants (Note (b)) (Note (a)) HKS ot 1 April 2013 during year during year 31 March 2014
R=B-Z% RZE-D%
thi]=E T BRITER mA-A ZAZ1-H
SAERH (M (b)) (Wi(a)) #T AT Fhit FREN ARTE
Directors
EE
Ms. Geng Ying 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36 13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
BEnt “E--FZft-8 -4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 7,622,000 - - 7,622,000
ZE-ZEt-ACtAR k)
20,622,000 - - 20,622,000
Mr. Gao Feng 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
BELE “E--E-ft-8 -4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 7,622,000 - S 7,622,000
ZR-ZEt-BINE 28
20,622,000 - - 20,622,000
Mr. Chiv Sui Keung 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
Fibdyna Z2--£281-§ -4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 7,622,000 = o 7,622,000
ZR-IZEt-BIAE 28 , ,
20,622,000 - - 20,622,000
Mr. Chen%Wing Keung, Raymond 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36 1,300,000 = = 1,300,000
By ZE--£Z81-8 £-4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 762,000 - - 762,000
ZE-ZEt-ACthA £28 7 N -
2,062,000 = s s 2,062,000
Mr. Lam Williamson 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 1,300,000 = = 1,300,000
heEEE “E--£Z81-1 £-4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 762,000 - - 762,000
ZE-ZE+-ACthA 28 . . AT
2,062,000 - I - 2,062,000
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen 29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 762,000 - - 762,000
hRLE =5-ZF4-F=1Af CETI.C Fa y
Subrofal 66,752,000 - - 66,752,000
gt
Employees of the Group
£k
In aggregate 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 17,100,000 - - 17,100,000
&3t “2--£Zf1-A £-4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 43,944,000 - - 43,944,000
“E-CET-ACthA £2H =
Sub-ofal 61,044,000 - - 61,044,000
it - - e I
Total 127,796,000 = = 127,796,000
it
Weighted average exercise
?Noie ) 0.222 - - 0.222

rice (in HK$
%Wf‘rﬁﬁ (BT) (Wi(c)
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38.SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)
Movement in share options during the year ended 31 March 2013 are as

HE=A=+—HLFE

38. f Ak (#8)

LERMSERZMARIS ()
BHE-Z-=F=-A=+t-RLFEBREZD

follows: W
Number of share options
BREZE
Exercisable Exercisable
Category of Date of grant period price per share Outstanding Granted Lapsed Oufstanding af
Parficipants [Note (b)) (Note (d)) HK§ at 1 April 2012 during year during year 31 March 2013
) ) RZB- —fﬁ RZB-Zf%
BB &8 BROEE mA- ) . £H£+—_E
SEEEH (izE(b]) (3 () B Fﬂﬁ*hfi ERRE EREH HRIE
Directors
Ms. Geng Ying 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36 13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
BErt “E2--E-f1-H g4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 - 7,622,000 - 7,622,000
ZE-ZE+-ACTAR £28
13,000,000 7,622,000 - 20,622,000
Mr. Goo Feng 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
BiLE ZE--EZft-f -
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 - 7,622,000 - 7,622,000
ZE-ZE+-ACTAR E-H
13,000,000 7,622,000 - 20,622,000
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 13,000,000 - - 13,000,000
HRRLE —E--E-ft-8 -9
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 - 7,622,000 - 7,622,000
ZE-ZEt-BIAE 228
13,000,000 7,622,000 - 20,622,000
Mr. Chening Keung, Raymond 11 February 2011 Period | 0.36 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000
Xk “Z--EZft-R -9
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 - 762,000 - 762,000
ZE-ZEt-AIAB 5
1,300,000 762,000 - 2,062,000
Mr. Lam Williamson 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 1,300,000 - - 1,300,000
H285E “E2--E-f1-H £-4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 = 762,000 - 762,000
ZE-ZE+-ACtnA g8
1,300,000 762,000 - 2,062,000
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen 29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 - 762,000 - 762,000
ENELE ZE-CEt-ACtAA £-8 7
Sub-tjot%I 41,600,000 25,152,000 = 66,752,000
Employees of the Group
KEHRA
In aggregate 11 February 2011 Period 1 0.36 17,100,000 - - 17,100,000
&5 “E--E-f1-H F-4
29 November 2012 Period 2 0.105 S 46,006,000 2,062,000) 43,944,000
ZE-ZE+-ACtAR i - 7 I 7
Sub-tft$ 17,100,000 46,006,000 2,062,000) 61,044,000
T/gt%! 58,700,000 71,158,000 2,062,000) 127,796,000
GH
Weighted average exercise
price [in HK$) (Note (c| 0.36 0.105 0.105 0.222

ﬂﬂ?ﬂi"}ﬂ{i{“ (B7m)( ;E(c)
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38.SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)
Notes:

(a)  Period 1 11 February 2011 to 10 February 2016

Period 2 29 November 2012 to 28 November 2017

(b)  The vesting date of the share options for Period 1 to 2 is the date of grant.

(c) The exercise prices of the outstanding share options as at 31 March 2014
range from HK$0.105 to HK$0.36 (2013: from HK$0.105 to HK$0.36)
per share and their weighted average remaining contractual life as at 31
March 2014 is 2.84 years (2013: 3.84 years).

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company granted
71,158,000 share options to the directors and employees and the fair
value of the share options granted is HK$0.0434 each. The variables and
assumptions used in computing the fair value of share options are based
on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions. The fair value of the share
options granted during the year ended 31 March 2013 was determined by
an independent valuer, Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited,
using the Binomial option pricing model (the “Model”). Details of the inputs
to the Model are as follows:

Grant date share price R HEROER
Exercise price TEE

Expected volatility TAHIR IR
Expected life of the options BB 1
Dividend yield i =

Risk-free interest rate R =

The Group recognised the total expenses of approximately HK$3,088,000
during the year ended 31 March 2013 in relation to share options granted
by the Company.

38. f Ak (#8)

LEMGABERZMRRIS ()

o) #—8 =—ET-——F-/F+-HZ
—Z-XxE=-A+A

¥l —ZE-ZF+—-A=+hZE

—E—tH+—-A=+NRH

(b) F-HEF_HBEREFBEAMARLAH-

) REZ-—NF=ZA=+—HERTEBREZ
THEENFRER0.1058TE0.36E T (=
Z—=F:H0.1058TE0.36BTT) URER
TE-MEZAZ+-BZMEFHEBRTEN
HB2.84F (ZF—=F 1 3.84%F) o

REBE-Z-=5=ZA=+t—-RLFER F2
AIMESRESRL71,158,00017 8B AR & LK Fi
RHZBREZATERE(0.04348 T - &
ZEERELATEZEZERBRNDERESZR
EEE - BREZEERZEE TEERRZTE
SBIMBHRTE RBE-Z-—=F=ZA=1—
AEFERRHZEBREZAFEDIABLGE
- ATFPRESLCEREXERERITER
—EAEEERN (ZEX]) BT - ZEXZ
BWABEERBENOT

29 November 2012
—Z2——_f+—A=-+hH

HK$0.103%& T
HK$0.105% 7T
50%

4.7 yearst
0%

0.25%

AEBRBE-_E—=H=A=+—HLHF

EABRAERAAQCARHBEREZAIHY
3,088,000 7T °
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39.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 39.8¥BITHR
The Group The Company
*TKE . 3/
2014 2013 2014 2013
—Z—mE —E-=F —E—mE —E-=F
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHT FET FHET FHET
Categories of financial eI AER
instruments
Financial assets SMEE
- Loans and receivables -~ HRRERRE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U Bt BB A B FRIE - - 51,934 31,965
Trade receivables B 5 EUWBRR 1,321 21,381 - -
Other receivables H i W FRIE 88,098 47,775 71,311 10,390
Deposits with banks BITER 10,905 10,891 10,905 10,891
Cash and bank balances RekBEEE 15,170 11,023 111 114
115,494 91,070 134,261 53,360
- Available-for-sale -AftHESMEE
financial assets 1 1 1 1
- Derivative - fTEeMEE
financial assets 17,940 33,184 17,940 33,184
133,435 124,255 152,202 86,545
Financial liabilities eMAR
- Financial liabilities - RESBRFCEMAR
at amortised cost
Trade payables B EMAERM 110 20,022 - -
Accrued liabilities and 2B BEREMENRIE
other payables 172,095 201,857 159,500 169,805
Amount(s) due to B R R IE
a shareholder(s) 17,118 23,215 17,118 23,215
Borrowings & - 17,282 - 2,600
Obligations under finance MEBRYEE
leases - 5,958 - =
Convertible notes R ERE 173,500 181,593 173,500 181,593
Promissory note A EE 11,611 = 11,611 =
374,434 449,927 361,729 377,213
- Derivative - fTEEMAR
financial liabilities - 1,703 - 1,703
374,434 451,630 361,729 378,916
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40.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 21 March 2014, the Company entered into a disposal agreement (the
“Disposal Agreement”) with Mr. Zheng Xuefeng (“Mr. Zheng”) whereby
the Company agreed fo sell and Mr. Zheng agreed to purchase from the
Company of the entire issued share capital of Wealthy Wing Limited (the
“Sale Share”) at the consideration of HK$9,000,000. The disposal was
completed on 31 March 2014. The Company through its subsidiary, has
received the first instalment of the consideration of HK$1,000,000. The
Group ceased to have any interest in the Wealthy Wing Group and the
financial results of the Wealthy Wing Group were no longer consolidated
into the financial statements of the Group from 31 March 2014 onwards.

In accordance with the terms of the Disposal Agreement, Mr. Zheng as
charger executed a share charge dated 31 March 2014 (the “Share
Charge”) in favor of the Company as charge whereby Mr. Zheng charged
the Sale Share to the Company as security for his payment obligations in
respect of balance of the consideration in the amount of HK$8,000,000
under the Disposal Agreement. Pursuant to the Disposal Agreement, Mr.
Zheng is required to seftle the balance in full within six months after the
completion date (i.e. 30 September 2014). The Share Charge will be
released within five business days upon full settlement of the balance by
Mr. Zheng.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of subsidiaries are as follows:

40. HEME 25

REZB-OF=ZAZ-+—-H AQFHKIIE
T (TEEEDFTLHEWSE ([HEWRED -
Bt AARAREEHERBLERZIAARQH
BEEKARXAZEHEHITRA(HFER
1) - SHEEE%R9,000,000/8 T - HESZHER
—E-NME=ZA=F+—-HREK AN FEBHEMK
B~ B E W B 4 & B8 2 5 — #f9X1,000,000
B AEER-_Z-—NF=ZA=1+-HRHET
BEAEXKEE2AMERZ MAKZE  BX
EZEX&%%EWT\%E&?%EUAZIS%ZEMB%
wER -

RIBHEHB MR - BEE (EREMA) BT
—HHRA-E-—NF=A=+-HZRHER
Xt (TRADEIRD  BUAQT (ERHEFAN)
REBA - BIL > BEFESERDERTALD
A FAHAREREHEH RN HEHENER
#88,000,000/8 STHI R - RIBHEWE - B
SAAZRAMEA NERZA (=T —DMF
NAZTHA 2N HE - ROEFAESE
%%Eé?ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁZEﬁﬁﬁ@%%HZW

HEWBLAR 2 HERENT ¢

HK$’000
FET
Net liabilities disposed of: FHERETFE:
Property, plant and equipment M- BERRE 21
Trade receivables B3 REWER 9,835
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE - BAREREBERRE 32,400
Cash and cash equivalents RErRELEEER 10,536
Trade payables B 5 EMERM (8,743)
Accrued liabilities and other payables EfeBEREMBESRE (40,611)
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FE W (2] 24 B /B 0 B 2 FRIE 733
Amount due from a holding company FEW IR A B 2 FR (5,679)
(1,508)
Non-controlling interests FERER (189)
Release of goodwill (Note 20) % R 2 (FEE20) 23,905
Release of exchange reserve fERREE RS (56)
21,752
Loss on disposal HEZER (12,752)
9,000
Satisfied by: XEFR:
Cash HE 1,000
Consideration receivables WA E 8,000
9,000
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRER L FHE
Cash consideration HERE 1,000
Cash and bank balances REeRWVITHER (10,53¢)
Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRBReSHEBEA 2RSSR FHE (9,536)

For the period from 1 April 2013 to the date of disposal, turnover of R=Z-—=NA-AZHEAMHE EXER
HK$Nil and loss of approximately HK$4,268,000 contributed by Wealthy 'gaﬁﬁﬁﬁkzﬁé%ﬁ%;ﬁnﬁgﬁm,zé&ooq;ﬁ
Wing Limited was recognised in the Group's loss for the year ended 31 TERBE-ZE-—NE=ZA=+—-HLEFEZEFIE

March 2014. W o
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-T—WF=A=+—HIL5E

41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41.:FRARBRAR

The Group and the Company FTRERETLF

(a) Claim made by the Company against Hung (a) AT M EEEHZBER ([ZHF
(the “Action”) )
As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 16 December BMAATBHORNA=SEAE+=A
2009 and 8 January 2010, the Company has commenced TAREBR=ZZF-ZEF-ANBZAMAE
proceedings against Mr. Hung at the High Court with regards to B oAQAERSEEREEEERBEERE
a breach of contract by Mr. Hung, in connection with a sale and BF AREBEHLEEREN MEBES
purchase agreement dated 25 September 2007 made between the HNARKRBRE®REER-_ZTZELFNA
Company and Mr. Hung (the “Agreement”). The Company sought “+HRAFYIZEEGR (ZHE&ED - &
advice from its legal advisers and formed the view that Mr. Hung NRABREZEERZER  FRAMEER
had failed to perform one or more of the terms of the Agreement and BEEITRME L — RN ES RN - YRAM
is of the view that Mr. Hung is in breach of numerous representations FHEERBEZHZFELEZZERERR
and warranties under the Agreement. The Company claims against FoARRNAMBLEERE (HFERE) XA
Mr. Hung, among other things, for all payments made by the AREZHBREC AR EEINZ —IRE
Company to Mr. Hung under the Agreement and/or damages arising R/ BREEZHREHERMEEZEE -

from the breach of the Agreement.

On 1 February 2010, the Company filed a statement of claim at RZZ—ZE-_R—H AQABE—7Hi
the High Court against Mr. Hung, Mega Wealth and Webright %4 - Mega WealthF Webright (#: 78
(together referred to as the “Defendants”) in connection with the [ZEWEDMNRRRAEEIRSE LR E
Agreement, for, inter alia, rescission of the Agreement. Particulars of R RREHEHPEE) BEZHE - BB
the Statement of Claim are summarised as follows: RERMEFBEHMOT :
(1) The Company claims against Mr. Hung for: (1) ADREBEERRUT RIE:
(i)  rescission of the Agreement; (i) WEZHE
(i) the 76,640,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) at an (i) EEBROSBTZRBITERTZ
issue price of HK$0.5 per share; 76,640,0008% 74 2~ 7 Bt 17 ([ 3%
71
(iii) the convertible note, issued to Mr. Hung pursuant to the (i) REBZWHEORLERTEALHE
Agreement, in the principal amount of HK$173,500,000 £173,500,000/8 T 2 AT IR E
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a B(UERRZEE]  HukSR
conversion price of HK$0.5 per share (the “Convertible 05T EREEBRAARDT
Note”); ZBER
(iv) further or alternatively, all payments made by the (iv) CE—SHERBER) RAT @M
Company to Mr. Hung and/or damages arising from the EXFZHRERER,REE
breach of the Agreement; REZBaEmEE2EERE .,
(v) a declaration that Mr. Hung holds the 70,000,000 Shares (v) ERHELEDUGEFEEIRED
and the Convertible Note and their traceable equivalent T HF70,000,0000% 48 2 7 B
on trust for the Company and that all necessary tracing HRUBKREEURETERSE
orders accounts and inquiries be taken as to what had B WA EMRA R TERE
happened to the said Shares and Convertible Note and to B TERWM—YIFTER D
ascertain the traceable equivalent thereof; L MERBAE UREHAAE
HEE
(vi) an order for payment after having the above accounts and (vi) PAEH LR AERESH
inquiries; £
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41 . R RERRAR ()

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)

(a) Claim made by the Company against Hun
(the ”Action”)%continueg) y a9 g

FRERELF ()
(a) ZLAFMHAEEEBZRR ([XHF
1) (48)

(vii) payment of the legal costs incurred by the Company
arising from the investigation and report arising from the
matters in connection with the Agreement; and

(viii) payment of the costs incurred by the Company for
the preparation and execution of the Agreement and
supplemental agreements.

(2) The Company also claims against Mega Wealth, inter alia, for
the 100,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Mega Wealth at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share.

(3) The Company also claims against Webright, inter alia, for
the 98,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Webright at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share.

On 14 November 2011, the Company filed an amended Statement
of Claim to the Court, the Defendants filed amended defence on 16
January 2012. Subsequently, the Company filed amended reply to
Defendants’ defence on 13 April 2012. The pleading stage of the
proceedings is now closed. Now, the Company is preparing the
lists of documents to be exchanged with Defendants, after which the
parties would have to exchange witness statements.

On 21 August 2013, the Company received a summons from Mr.
Hung, seeking leave from the High Court to re-amend Mr. Hung's
defence and to add a counterclaim against the Company in the
Action. The counter-claim of Mr. Hung to be added is for (i) payment
of the unpaid cash consideration under the Agreement in the amount
of HK$158,600,000 plus interest and the outstanding balance of
HK$173,500,000 of the convertible note issued pursuant to the
Agreement plus interest, both being part of the consideration under
the Agreement; and (ii) repayment of certain loans and advances in
the amount of HK$12,600,000 made by Mr. Hung to the Company

together with interest.

The Company maintains the view that Mr. Hung was in breach of
the Agreement and is claiming Mr. Hung for, among other reliefs,
rescission of the Agreement and/or damages for loss suffered.
Accordingly, the Company is of the view that Mr. Hung’s counter-
claim for consideration under the Agreement is without ground. As
to the loans and advances claimed, HK$3,000,000 originated from
the cash consideration paid under the Agreement and for the same
reason mentioned the Company is of the view that Mr. Hung’s claim
is without ground. As to the remaining HK$9,600,000 claimed, the
Company is of the view that its claim in the Action shall extinguish
Mr. Hung’s counterclaim and has already provided sufficient security
for such amount presented by Mr. Hung against the Company.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
no judgment has been made by the High Court. The Board of
the Company, based on legal advices, the Company has a good
arguable case against the Defendants to have the Agreement
rescinded. The Board of the Company will follow closely on the
development of the above matters and inform the shareholders of the
Company on a timely basis.

(viij) EEFARATRZHEEESEM
ETHAERBEMBRZEE
BA R

(vii) INARREBRIATZBER
HWRBEMAINER -

(2) A&RAFITFEMega WealthBRZR (HH
BRE) TLEREFERERTED
REBROSB T2 BITEMMSEER
7> MEZERE FMega Wealthz
100,000,0008% iz 13 °

(3) AT TFEWebrightB B (HHPEHE)
AR EECEREETEMRER
0.5z BITERMAEERT MHA
B BB TWebrightz98,000,0008
B e

RZZ2——F+—-A+THA - A2F@ER
RBRXEBIZHERLE  HER=-F—=
F-AtAARXEBINE - BER A2
ARZZE-—FHA+ZHRIWERR
BRI EE - FAZHFHEMRBRRCE
R B - ARBEEFBEWEIAAIE
B fElhzg EHKARBEARLE -

RZZB-—=ZFNA=+—0  XOFREH
TEMBENER  ESRSSERME
BRETAREZERURERERTH
RIMASHEARAT ZRAR - HELEEM
ARCRHER: (|XYZBEIAZNES
8 % #158,600,0005% T il il 8. & R &
B EBAT 2 TR IRRE Y R EE AR
173,500,0007% 7T tnFl & (W& 19 5 2 thh &
ZREN—MD) ; R(i|EERTERET
AAB2ETERRERAH12,600,000
BT BMAE

ARARMARES - HELEERZHE - LIE
EEHELERRBHEZBER 52
BARZIEBERE  URHHE- FHit &
NEARR  AEERAEZBRZRENR
RRIEEE - BEMHRZERR B
3,000,00038 7T J3 iR B 1R I5 2 7 s FE Y 2 B
ERE MERRZARER @ AOFR
B RRECRRIWEIBIE o EROREERT
Rz HER9,600,000/8T ' AARRE
HRZERTHP 2R RBEREREE
HARBRHBZREAR WS ERBHERIE
REEHHIERR -

BEMREZEFEUBBRERAMLE  55%
BRIRAEHFR » RIBEEER » AQFE
EERARLVAYHZEREZBRES
LAEZ BB - AR REESREIEE
EREEENHR  ARBASAQER
o
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-T—WF=A=+—HIL5E

41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(b) Injunction Order Against Hung
On 22 January 2010, the High Court granted an ex parte Injunction
Order against the Defendants. The Injunction Order provides, among
other things, that: unless with the approval of the High Court, Mr.
Hung must not, either by himself, his servants or agents or otherwise
howsoever in any way dispose of or deal with or diminish the value
of any of the following assets:

(i)  the 76,640,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung at an issue price of
HK$0.5 per Share;

(i) the Convertible Note issued by the Company to Mr. Hung;

(iii) the 100,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Mega Wealth at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share;

(iv) the 98,000,000 of the Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon
exercise of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which
were passed to Webright at an issue price of HK$0.5 per
Share;

All being part of the considerations given to Mr. Hung by the
Company in respect of the Agreement.

On 29 January 2010, at the return date hearing in relation to
the Injunction Order, it was ordered, inter alia, that the Injunction
Order will continue subject to a fortification in the amount of
HK$10,000,000 being paid by the Company to the Registrar
of the High Court on or before 12 February 2010, failing which
the Injunction Order shall be discharged. The Company paid
HK$10,000,000 into the High Court on 10 February 2010 in
compliance with the Injunction Order. Following a hearing held at
the High Court on 18 March 2010, the High Court delivered its
decision on 30 March 2010 to discharge and at the same time re-
grant the Injunction Order obtained by the Company on 22 January
2010 against the Defendants. Furthermore, the Court made a cost
order nisi that the Company should pay the Defendants’ costs
related to the discharge of the Injunction Order, which the Court has
assessed fo be fourfifths of the costs of the hearing. On 13 April
2010, the Defendants took out two summonses respectively for (i) an
application for an order to vary the costs order nisi made in the said
decision delivered on 30 March 2010, and (ii) an application for
an order to have leave to appeal the said decision delivered on 30
March 2010, that the decision to re-grant the Injunction Order was
wrong. On 14 May 2010, the Company and Mr. Hung, through their
lawyers, entered into a consent summons whereby the hearing of the
two summonses returnable on 26 May 2010 was adjourned without
a further date of hearing, with liberty to restore.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41 . R REAR AR (])

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)
(b) Injunction Order Against Hung (continued)

FRERFELF ()
(b) St EEZRFS ()

On 3 September 2010, Mr. Hung through his solicitors applied
by way of a Summons to vary the Injunction Order granted by
the Honourable Mr. Justice Chung dated 30 March 2010 (the
“Application”) and the hearing was scheduled to be heard on 20
September 2010. The Court dismissed Mr. Hung’s Application by
way of summons, for an order to vary the Injunction Order made
against the Defendants. The Court ordered costs of the summons be
paid by the Defendants to the Company in any event.

On 22 September 2010, the Court of Appeal granted the Defendants
leave to appeal to the Court of Appeal and heard the Defendants’
appeal on 27 September 2010. The judgment was handed down
on 6 October 2010. The Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal of
the Defendants and the Injunction Order against the Defendants
remained unchanged. The Court of Appeal also ordered the costs
of the Appeal to be paid by the Defendants to the Company, to
be taxed if noted agreed, save that the costs of preparing the
Company’s own “core bundles” be deducted.

Mr. Hung put the Company on notice on 6 October 2011 that he
would take out an application by way of an inter parte summons,
for variation of the ex parte Order granted by the Honourable Mr.
Justice Yam on 22 January 2010, which was discharged and re-
granted by the Honourable Mr. Justice Chung on 30 March 2010
(the “Order”) Pursuant to the summons, Mr. Hung together with Mega
Wealth and Webright are seeking for an order that:

(1) the Order be varied by:

(i) that the Mr. Hung be permitted to exercise the right to
convert a portion of the Convertible Note in the principal
amount of HK$123,204,095 into 246,408,190 ordinary
shares of the Company at a conversion price of HK$0.5
per share and that the Mr. Hung be registered forthwith
as the shareholder of such converted and allotted

246,408,190 shares;
(i) amending Paragraph 1(a) in the following manner:

“The 323,048,190 of the Company’s shares issued to the
Mr. Hung at issue price of HK$0.5 per share;”

(iii) amending Paragraph 1(b) in the following manner:

“The non-interest bearing convertible redeemable note
issued by the Company to the Mr. Hung (“Convertible
Note”) in the principal amount of HK$50,295,905
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.5 per share;”

REZZ-ZFAAZH  HELEBHAEM
UEBRAFAREERHELZENR -2 —2F
ZR=THEMZEHNS (HRED  AE
ER-ZE-ZFAA T HETERIRA -
ERBEALEEBBERTERFHZE
WEZEH S 2HRE  ERBESTRERN
i ERNAREHZEREREARBAIA -

LHFEER-ZE-FFAA-+TZAHLE
ZERETE LFEERE EHFAINR-Z
—EEARCSTLHYREREZLRR
REM - HARECR-Z-Z2FT+AAAEE
fiie LR EEREZEREZ LFRF M
HZEWERM LG CRESTE - LR
FETESHZEREAXRAAXNER
ZLRAE  MidRERLER -—BERE
BAFFTE A RRARERBEF Z[ETEX
kMo Bz BERATEER -

HEERZZ-——F+ANBARQTR
LB EREEBRAEREZANRER
FBOUEREHREEER=Z-ZF—A
TtHoHESZESHGS YERZF—
EFE -+ RHERBEEREREN
Be [ZH<])  REZER  HAEEER
Mega WealthkWebrightES K —1E@H % ©
Bl

(1) ZHSEUTHIIER :

(i) HEEBETERER  UEAX
©%0123,204,095% Tt 2 & 5
AR RERSR0.5B T 2R
IR B 5 ¥ 5246,408,190/ &
AlzEBER - M A3k 4 KA
WELTARERABRERZ
246,408,190 IR 7 2 IR 3R 5

(i) BUATHRETE (o) :

[RERO.5BIT2BHTEMME
4 5%472323,048, 190 A& 2
R

(i) BRUTHXIBETE (b)RR :

[RATEEEERBITEASE
50,295,905 T 2 T &t B 7] #2
BAERZEE ((AJRRERE]) T
BEROSETZBRER RS
NEIZEBK ;]
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE
41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)

(b) Injunction Order Against Hung (continued)

(iv)] adding Paragraph 6:
“save and except what is permitted under Paragraph 7;”

(v) adding to Paragraph 7:
“save and except exercising voting rights of the Shares,
either by himself or by the Mr. Hung via proxy or any
other agent, at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company which was fixed to be held at Room 2502,
25/F, 9 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong on
Friday, 14 October 2011 at 2.30 p.m. pursuant to the
Company’s circular dated 28 September 2011 or at such

other adjourned dates and places for that extraordinary
general meeting;”

(vi) alternatively, any Order that the Honourable Court deems

fit.
(2) the time for service of this summons be abridged; and

(3) costs of and occasioned by this application be to provide for.
The Court on 13 October 2011 made the following Order that:

1.  the Summons be dismissed; and

2.  the costs of the Summons be paid to the Company by Mr. Hung,

Mega Wealth and Webright with two certificates to counsels.

The court case is still ongoing and the Company will make further
announcements as and when appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 #HZ-—Z-NF=A=1+—HI5F%

41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41 . R RERRAR ()

(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)
(c¢) Withdrawal the Winding-up Petition

FRERELF ()
(c) WWBREHR

Mr. Hung served the statutory demands on the Company in respect
of a total outstanding Alleged Indebtedness of HK$41,722,630
(the “Statutory Demands”). A winding-up petition (the “Winding-
up Petition”) was presented to the High Court and served on the
Company by Mr. Hung on 28 January 2010 in connection with the
Alleged Indebtedness. The Company intends to oppose the Winding-
up Petition and has appointed legal advisers to handle the matter.
The first hearing of the Winding-up Petition was held on 7 April
2010. At the second hearing held in the High Court on 12 April
2010, upon hearing submissions by the parties, the Companies
Judge made an order that, among other things, the Winding-
up Petition be adjourned to the second Monday after the date of
handing down of judgment in connection with the Statement of Claim
by which the Company has made a claim against Mr. Hung. On 24
August 2010, the Court made an order by consent of both parties
to grant leave to the Petitioner to amend the Winding-up Petition
and costs of and occasioned by the amendment of the Winding-
up Petition be paid by the Petitioner to the Company in any event.
The Petitioner amended the Winding-up Petition, including, among
others, a reduction of the Alleged Indebtedness to HK$9,600,000.
The Board of the Company considers that the issue of the Statutory
Demands is, of itself, unlikely to have a negative impact on the
Group's financial condition. In addition, the Company may seek to
set-off against the Alleged Indebtedness claims which the Company is
asserting against Mr. Hung under the Statement of Claim.

On 18 February 2014, the Company has reached an agreement
with Mr. Hung for the dismissal of the Winding-up Petition. Solicitors
for both parties have signed a Consent Summons jointly applying
to the Court for an Order that the Winding-up Petition be dismissed
upon the Company undertaking to the Court that it shall not in
any way dispose of or deal with the sum of HK$10,658,922.00
deposited (and interest accrued) in the designated interest-bearing
account in accordance with a previous undertaking given by the
Company to the Court until after determination of the proceedings
of HCA2477/2009 or until such other time as may be agreed in
writing between the Company and Hung, with no order as to the
costs of the Winding-up Petition between the Company and Hung.

On 19 February 2014, Mr. Hung was declared bankrupt by the
High Court upon the petition by Toeca National Resources B.V.,
a substantial shareholder of the Company, based on a judgement
debt in the proceeding of HCA1683/2009 of which Mr. Hung was
ordered to pay HK$116,820,000 with interest and costs.

On 24 February 2014, the Court approved the joint application
of the Company and Hung to dismiss the Winding-up Petition. The
Court further ordered that Hung shall pay the official receiver a
sum of HK$5,300 as the official receiver’s costs (exclusive of costs
previously awarded).

On 28 March 2014, the Company received a court order for the
dismissal of the Winding-up Petition.
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(d) Withdrawal the Appointment of Provisional
Liquidators

On 28 January 2010, by a letter to the High Court, Mr. Hung's
solicitors applied for an early date for a first hearing of the
application for appointment of provisional liquidators to the
Company by Mr. Hung (the “Application”). A hearing in respect of
the Application took place on 2 February 2010, at which a date was
set down for a further hearing on 5 May 2010. The Company and
Mr. Hung, through their lawyers, entered into a consent summons
whereby the hearing scheduled on 5 May 2010 for the Application
was adjourned without a further date of hearing, with liberty to
restore. The Court made an order by consent on 26 April 2010 in
this regard. Notwithstanding this, the Company received a letter
from Mr. Hung’s lawyers dated 15 June 2010 in which, among other
things, Mr. Hung requested to set down a date for the hearing of
the Application. The Application was scheduled to be heard on 9
November 2010. However, upon the joint application of Mr. Hung
(the “Petitioner”) and the Company by way of consent summons
dated 4 November 2010 and upon the Company undertaking to the
Court that:

(i  On 9 November 2010, deposit the sum of HK$10,658,922
into a designated interest-bearing bank account opened in the
name of Company (“Designated Account”) as security for the
petitioning debt claimed by the Petitioner in these proceeding
and will not use the monies as deposited in the Designated
Account until after determination of HCA2477 of 2009 or upon
such other condition as may be agreed between the Petitioner
and the Company in writing;

(ii) It shall within 3 working days of the written request of
the Petitioner provide the bank statements relating to the
Designated Account; and

(i) It shall secure and preserve all the shares and assets (if any) of
Wealth Gain and will not dispose of such shares and assets or
any part thereof unless with the Petitioner’s written consent or
until the determination of HCA2477 of 2009;

The High Court ordered, amongst other things, that, without
prejudice to the respective contentions advanced by Mr. Hung and
the Company, leave be granted to Mr. Hung to withdraw the PL
Application. Mr. Hung withdrew the PL Application on 5 November
2010. HK$10,658,922 was deposited into the HCCW Designated
Account on 9 November 2010. This payment was financed by the
Company’s internal funding.
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41 . R RERRAR ()

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued) FRERFLF (@)
(e) Labour Action (e) B&TH

On 5 January 2011, Mr. Hung filed a statement of claim against the
Company claiming a total sum of HK$3,407,962.74 plus interest,
being, inter alia, (i) arrears of wages (the “Wages Claim”) in the
amount of HK$1,668,000 and (ii) reimbursement of expenses
(the “Reimbursement Claim”) in the amount of HK$1,739,962.74,
allegedly incurred by Mr. Hung whilst he was in the employment of
the Company.

The Wages’ Claim was in relation to the same subject matter as was
previously resolved and seftled between the parties by Mr. Hung
accepting a total sum of HK$890,000 from the Company, pursuant
to the Order of the Labour Tribunal dated 25 May 2010.

The Company has been advised that re-litigating the Wages’ Claim
in the High Court, the subject matter of which has already been
resolved and settled, constitutes an abuse of process of the Court
and is therefore liable to be struck out under the relevant Rules of
Court. The Company will defend both the Wages' Claim and the
Reimbursement Claim as advised. The Company filed a defence and
counterclaim whereby the Company only agreed to pay a sum of
HK$74,221.20 out of Mr. Hung’s claim, and counterclaimed against
Mr. Hung for repayment of a sum of HK$67,569 being, inter aliq,
unauthorised payments incurred by Mr. Hung on the Company’s
behalf and the value of the Company assets held by Mr. Hung. Mr.
Hung has subsequently filed a reply and defence to counterclaim.
This case is now in the discovery stage on 28 June 2011, the
Company and Mr. Hung filed a joint application for on order by
consent that: (i) this action be stayed sine die with liberty to restore
by either party; (i) and costs reserved. No hearing date has been
scheduled for this case on 28 June 2011, the Company and Mr.
Hung filed a joint application for an order by consent that:

REZE——F—AHH HEEREAELH
B AR E RS H3,407,962.7438
T(BENE)ETRE  Eh8FERLLER
BREZEVRAQBBBEASIZZ(I)EBRTE
(TTE&E®RZE] 1,668,000 T & (i) 85 &
A#HEBREN1,739,962.748 T -
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ARBEEETERR (ARNERECH
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BERZERF SURBEBEERART
LLGIRR - AR EZERERHRIERRER
BERRETRF - AR HRABR KA
B E-AQAEREXNHRLEERRESR
274,221.2085T  YEEEERRREN
67,5698 EFBERAEERREQT
Frsl Bz RERENAFRURBRERFEAR
RAEEZEE RELHERRBBERT
REAREHAR - RERGNEREHR -
REFB-——FRAZ+NR  ROFEME
EHEFRFERBTHEHO®S - BIE (i)
RFRERMEE  MEFTRERD R
((I|FAERB - BEAARBRABH R
——FXAZTNE ARTERLEEHF
HEERBTEHGS » BUE:

Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014 150



Notes to the Financial Statements

B %5 R 3k B =

For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE

41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)
(e) Labour Action (continued)

(f)

(i) This action be stayed sine die with liberty to restore by either
party; and

(ii)  cost reserved.

Save and except for part of the Reimbursement Claim in the amount
of HK$74,221.20 as accepted by the Company, the Board of the
Company, based on legal advice, considers that the Company has a
good arguable defence to Mr. Hung’s claim, and consider that this
claim will not have any material impact on the Company.

Labour action between Mr. Hung Hoi Ming
Raymond and the Company and Sino Talent
Holdings Limited

On 2 July 2010, Mr. Hung Hoi Ming Raymond (the “Claimant”),
brought an action at the Labour Tribunal against the Company
and Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group for payment of a sum of approximately
HK$347,000, being the amount allegedly owed by the Group
on termination of his employment contract dated 10 December
2009. The Group have filed with the Labour Tribunal a defence
and counterclaim which the Group only agreed to pay a sum of
approximately HK$95,000 and counterclaimed against the Claimant
for repayment of a sum of approximately HK$128,000 being the
amount of education subsidy received by the Claimant and a sum of
an approximately HK$46,000 being compensation for unauthorized
absence from work and outstanding telephone bills. Pursuant to an
Order by the Labour Tribunal dated 27 July 2010, the case was
transferred to the District Court. At the directions hearing on 17
November 2010. The Court ordered that: (i) The Claimant do file
and serve the Statement of Claim on or before 22 December 2010;
(ii) The Sino Talent do file and serve the Defence and Counterclaim,
if any, on or before 26 January 2011; (iii) The Claimant do file
and serve the Reply and Defence to Counterclaim on or before 2
March 2011; and (iv) The costs of this directions hearing, assessed
summarily in the sum of HK$800 be costs in the cause. On 28
June 2011, the Company, Sino Talent and Claimant filed a joint
application for an order by consent that: (i) this action be stayed sine
die with liberty to restore by either party; and (ii) cost reserved. The
Board of the Company, based on legal advices, is of the view that
the Group have a good defence to the Claimant’s claim and a good
chance of success in respect of the respective counterclaims.
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42, COMMITMENTS 42, & i
The Group and the Company
FRERFLT
2014 2013
—E—mF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Authorised and contracted for capital contributions  EETKIEB A 8 2 A&
payable to a subsidiary REFTHHE 16,600 29,825
The Company did not have significant capital commitment at the end of RBERTHER  ADRAAEBERELRE (=ZF
the reporting period (2013: Nil). —=ZF8&) -
43. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 44 . EEHERIE
The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease AEMRECLHERHREETRAIEME -
arrangements. Leases for office properties are negotiated for terms WMAZMECHEREHBEL  FHE-—EW
ranging from one to two years. FRE -
At 31 March 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease payments RZZB-—NFE=ZR=+—0 REFAHELE
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office premises falling MY AEEAZUTERXTRRKEELE
due as follows: TR
The Group
*5%H
2014 2013
—E—mEF —E-Z=F
HK$’000 HK$" 000
TFHET FET
Within one year —FR 2,700 2,598
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E-EZELF (BEERWE) 2,330 =
5,030 2,598
The Company did not have significant operating lease arrangements at the RBEBEAD AATTEEACLHEERH
end of the reporting period (2013: Nil). (—B—=4 : §) o
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For the year ended 31 March 2014 HE-Z-—ME=A=+—HItEE
44, MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In additions to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, during the year ended 31 March
2014, the Group had entered into the following material related party
transactions:

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid
to the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statement is as follow:

Short term employee benefits EHESER
MPF contributions BESMHR
Share-based payment DR RER 2R

44 EXHAEBEALTRS

BRESGEEUBBREMBTFIREZXSIR
B RBE-ZE-—NF=ZA=Z1+—-HILFE
A AEEBTLUTERBEALRS !

FEEHEARZHE

TEEBASZHE (BREGEUBHRMEI0
FRBECENTFARRAESZRE)MT ¢

The Group
*5H

2014 2013

—E=—mE ==-=
HK$’000 HK$' 000
THET FET
7,795 8,319
75 72
- 1,348
7,870 9,739

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” in Note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Transactions carried out with related parties

YHRF-—BREAHEE
ZFERX

¥ 14 F — B R FRACE Channel
Limited 2 7 2583

Interest expense paid to a shareholder,
Mr. Hung Chen, Richael
Interest expense paid to a shareholder,

ACE Channel Limited

HWERBDEFEEIEIRA] (G M BRI

8 e
HREALTETZXD
The Group
AEME
2014 2013
—ZE—@mEF —E—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
992 880
- 325
992 1,205

The Group also entered into the following related party transactions:
As at 31 March 2013, a set of plant and machinery acquired by finance

lease arrangement is guaranteed by Mr. Gao Feng, the vice-chairman and
executive director of the Company.

153 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2014

REBTITETIHBEEALRS :

REZEB-—=F=A=+—H ' UREHRERHNK
B —ERBIRREARRAZEEZERAITE

BERBLERER-



Notes to the Financial Statements

Br IS R AR MY aE
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45.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in Note 41 Litigations and Contingent Liabilities above

and elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group

has the following events occurred subsequent to the end of the reporting

period:

(i)

(ii)

On 21 March 2014, the Company, Mr. Zheng and the placing
agent entered into the Tri-Party Agreement pursuant to which,
among others, the parties agreed that the placing agent shall place
270,000,000 unreleased consideration shares to not less than six
independent placees at the placing price of HK$0.188 per share
on a best effort basis. On 30 May 2014, the parties to the Tri-Party
Agreement entered into the second supplemental agreement to the
Tri-Party Agreement to extend the long-stop date from 31 May 2014
to 31 July 2014.

On 27 March 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Purchaser”), Mr. Hu Pigang and Bao Sheng Ventures Limited (the
“Vendors”) entered into the sale and purchase agreement whereby
the Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire from the Vendors of
9% and 1.5% respectively of total issued shares of and total voting
securities in Sino United Energy Investment Co., Ltd (“Sino United”) at
the consideration of HK$150,000,000, which will be satisfied as to
(a) HK$89,500,000 by the issue of an aggregate of 500,000,000
consideration shares at the issue price of HK$0.179 each by the
Company to the Vendors; and (b) HK$60,500,000 by the issue of
the promissory notes by the Purchaser to the Vendors.

Sino United is an investment holding company incorporated in the
BVI with limited liability and holds the entire issued share capital
of Zhong Lian International Mining Industry Investment Co., Ltd
(“Zhong Lian”), which in turns holds the entire issued share capital
of LOVONKO Co. Ltd (“LOVONKQO"). Zhong Lian and LOVONKO
are companies incorporated in Mongolia. Sino United and its
subsidiaries covers exploration, utilization and trading of mining
resources.

Upon the completion of the sale and purchase agreement, Sino
United will be held as to 10.5% by the Company via the Purchaser.

At the date of this report, the acquisition has not yet been completed.
For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 28 March, 11 & 30 April 2014.

45 . EERRER
BREXHMFA[FRARIAEBIRZESEEH
BHRR2HMBT AREEN  AEERREH
TEBRBETHEE:

(ii)

RZZB-NE=ZA=+—-—H A7 &
FERBRERBITL=Z1HE - Bt (A
B NS HTRERERESRENE
ELUBRABHBERD0.188EBTZEE
& » Bt 270,000,000 & 2 Bt 118 IR 1
FALRAEBBIARA - R-ZE—NFH
B=1H  ZAHBB2ETNAT L=
BZE_NERGE - UEREELR S
—TE-NFREAZt-HEEE-Z—NO
FLtA=+—-H-

R-ZZE-NF=ZA=+tH A28z2
EMEAR (TEF]D - HEK %% KBao
Sheng Ventures Limited (B A ) ST B
BEHE Bl BEFEKRGRED B @Z
L EHF WE#Sino United Energy Investment
Co., Ld([Sino United]) ZPE TR
RERZEBZFBHZ9%KR.5%  KEH
150,000,000 T » ZREHUTH S X
X4 1 HH(i)89,500,0005% T # L A 4
AEBRON79BRIZHITERNER#ITE
$£500,000,000 A ERBD 2 A XM R
(ii)60,500,0007% JT % LA B 75 1) B 75 8 17 A&
REBZzFAXM -

Sino United RN KEBELZBFHEEMR L2
BEREEREERDT - AFHZhong Lian
International Co., Ltd ([Zhong Lian]) 2 &
EBEEITRA - MZhong Lian FHEEX R
Z2E2HWEBITRA ° Zhong Lian R & X =G
RN HEMAIL 2 A F) © Sino United R E
MEBARSEEREYR EAREERES
R e

RE B ZETHKE » Sino Unitedi§HZAN A 7
BEBEFEE10.5%E5 °

RARSEH  WIBBREERTR - BEE
— B FZHARARBBRR-E-—NF
ZA=ZtNBE -mA+—-—HR=+BZ2
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45.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

(i) On 10 April 2014, the Company and Fortune Map Investments
Limited (“Fortune Map”) entered into the memorandum of
understanding (the “MOU") whereby the Company and the Vendor
agreed to negotiate in good faith to enter into the formal agreement
on the possible acquisition.

Under the MOU, the Company will acquire certain % of the issued
share capital of Wisdom Orchid Limited (the “Wisdom Orchid”)
from Fortune Map (“the Possible Acquisition”). Wisdom Orchid is
an investment holding company incorporated in the BVI. Fortune
Map also holds a Hong Kong Company, Wisdom Mega Inc Limited
(“Wisdom Mega”). It is proposed that Wisdom Orchid and Wisdom
Mega will undergo reorganisation involving (a) the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital Wisdom Mega by Wisdom Orchid;
and (b) the acquisition of the entire registered capital of Qinglong
Manchu Autonomous County Shuangxin Mining Co., Ltd (“SX
Mining”) by Wisdom Mega (“Target Group Reorganisation”).

SX Mining is a company established in the PRC and is principally
engaged in iron ore refining by way of magnetic separation process
in Qinhuangdao City, Hebei Province, the PRC.

Upon completion of the Target Group Reorganisation, the Possible
Acquisition will comprise Wisdom Orchid, Wisdom Mega and SX
Mining.

For more details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
10 April 2014.

46. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(1) During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary entered into a sale and
purchase agreement for the acquisition of 30% entire issued share
capital of Global Mining, which comprised consideration shares of
HK$25,752,000.

(2) Under the Fifth Supplemental Agreement, the Company issued new
consideration shares of HK$33,436,000 and promissory note of
HK$11,208,000 as amendment of part of consideration in Zhan
Sheng Group.

(3) During the year, the early redemption of Convertible Note 2012
with the accrued interest payable was settled by way of replacement

shares amounting to HK$7,332,000.

47.COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the
current year's presentation and account treatment.

48. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2014.
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